(iR

COFCO

BRZIR BRMB

CPMC HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEREREZERERAA

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)
(REBEBEMALZBRATR)

Stock code: 906

IRPIR - 906

2013

ANNUAL REPORT £E#%




{‘.‘;}i,"\ ‘:1'"} “:‘D‘Q ﬁ{:* a ﬁ_\. r‘ ?‘
h ¥ L ! e 5
e P o A - L T |
0o~ _,rc-.rﬁq}ﬁ oy 1\
!i’ L I*-.T r{:’ (} L » = .L". r:-:} >
22\ Y. 6 ef
) F £)
"&g rffﬁ
"0
XY
‘-.t;l‘_‘- ) gy,
F L“rl"'ﬂ \.:? W
Ao
4 eP¥ o e\
9y AP ; ‘4‘; ﬁ}i
’:. r .'.“.'r.-..- "(f
w i Ly
_‘h W ¥ -
e Ly,
e T
d 7.4 ys
F .':'I II (:"_;"j {.-Hi'.
5 & »1

I_|lision FRA=

STRIVE TO BECOME THE LEADER OF THE
INTEGRATED CONSUMER PRODUCTS
PACKAGING INDUSTRY

BIBAGREHERBERITEREE




YO e O

ﬁt H.d




Financial Highlights
HBRE

For the year ended 31 December
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Highlights in 2013

In February, the Group completed the acquisition of Victoria Industrial Limited and its subsidiaries that are
specialized in plastic packaging in Tianjin, Suzhou and Zhongshan, becoming the suppliers of brands
including P&G and Avon;

In July, the Group was awarded the title of “A-Class Social Responsibility Construction Enterprise” by the
municipal government of Hangzhou;

In August, the laboratory center of the Group passed the extension authorization assessment and
renewal of China National Accreditation Service for Conformity Assessment (CNAS) and was granted the
authorization of 77 test items;

In October, the Group was honored as the “Central Enterprise Advanced Group” jointly by Ministry
of Human Resources and Social Security of the People’s Republic of China and State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council;

In December, the CPMC Hangzhou company was recognized as the “Leading National Enterprise (Metal
Packaging Container Manufacturing Industry)” and “Technology Innovative Enterprise” for the year 2013.
Mr. Zhang Xin, an Executive Director and the General Manager of the Group, was elected as the “Leader
of the Industry” again;

Gas chromatograph — Stage Mass Spectrometry Central Enterprise Advanced Group

Certificate of Honor of Leading Enterprise Trophy of Technology Innovative Trophy of Leader
Enterprise
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Highlights in 2013

CONTENTS e  The newly completed projects increased the production capacity of the Group: In March, the CPMC Tianjin
EE! company finished its installation of steel barrel production lines which increased the capability of supply
to clients in the northern markets including Sinopec; in April, the CPMC Hangzhou company completed
its installation of the first high-speed one-piece aluminum can production line, trial production and clients’
verification were started afterwards and the certification of registration for drug packaging materials and
containers was received at the end of the year; in May, the second two-piece can production line of the
CPMC Hangzhou company completed its installation and trial run and commenced trial production; in July,
CPMC Zhenjiang Can End was relocated to its new factory successfully and the production capacity for
easy-open ends increased to 4.9 billion pieces;

e The newly completed projects improved the business layout of the Group: In January, the CPMC

CORPORATE Guangzhou company commenced the installation of its two-piece can production line (annual
production capacity of 800 million cans); in October, the CPMC Nanning company held the ceremony
on commencement of production of its two-piece can production line (annual production capacity of 600
million cans).
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Steel barrel production line in
Tianjin company

CHAIRMAN'S
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New factory in Zhenjiang Chairman Wang Jinchang, Managing Director Zhang Xin
and other management inspected and gave guidance for
Nanning Canmaking Project

4 CPMC Holdings Limited
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Chairman’s Letter

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of CPMC Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to
present the audited annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group” or “CPMC”) for
the year ended 31 December 2013 (the “Year”).

It is a challenging but fruitful year for our Group in year 2013. The Group followed the market trend and
development, kept abreast with the demand of consumers, strengthened the level of benchmarking
management, carried out technological innovation and implemented new projects. Our Group also optimized
the strategic planning of two-piece beverage aluminium cans, implemented one-piece aluminum cans
production and completed the plastic packaging acquisition project. These strategies maintain our leading
advantage in traditional business, elevate our position in aluminum packaging and plastic packaging industries
and increase the influence of our Group in these industries. In 2013, the Group recorded sales of approximately
RMB5.26 billion, an increase of 4.2% as compared to the previous year; profit attributable to shareholders of the
Company was approximately RMB386 million, representing year-on-year growth of 19.7%.

In 2013, the global economy recovered at a slow pace and the overall economic development of China
remained stable. Highly influenced by factors including the slackened domestic demand and the change in
mode of economic development, the Chinese government continued to implement aggressive fiscal policies
and solid monetary policies. Apart from this, the government implemented selective stimulation policies in time,
strengthened market effect as well as improving the demand and supply. Consequently, the domestic economy
remained steady and positive. According to the preliminary data of National Bureau of Statistics of the People’s
Republic of China, compared with year 2012, the GDP growth rate, the growth rate of per capita disposable
income of urban residents and the total retail sales of consumer goods recorded increments of 7.7%, 9.7% and
13.1% in 2013, respectively. Faced with the steady development of macro-economy and downstream industry,
the Group achieved steady and positive development in traditional businesses and rapid growth in newly-
developed businesses through the adjustment of capacity deployment, improvement of internal management,
promotion of technological research and development and implementation of cost-effective measures. These
also placed us in a favourable position to strive for excellence for our traditional businesses and grow our new
business continuously, improved the profitability of the Group and increased the social influence of the Group.

Corporate social responsibility is one of the major focuses of the Group. Accelerating the development of green
packaging products, effectively promoting energy conservation and emission reduction have also been an
important part of the Group’s work. During the year, the Group joined hands with Yingli Green Energy Holding
Co., Ltd., initiating the use of dispersed solar energy grid system and actively studied on the feasibility of the
extensive use of solar energy resources in the Group.

Looking forward, the global economy will recover gradually, the structure of the domestic economy will be
adjusted continuously, the economic reform will be deepened and the domestic economy will enter into
the phase of moderate growth. As a well-established enterprise with dreams and a sense of responsibility,
the Group will build upon our past experience and strive for a brighter prospect and development in the
forthcoming future. Meanwhile, we will also keep an eye on the market movement and continue to follow up
the requests of customers. While consolidating the dominating position of our traditional products, we will
actively develop new product varieties, enhance the quality of products, show high concern on customer
services, consolidate market position and gradually achieve the vision of becoming “the leader in the integrated
consumer goods packaging market”.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | wish to express our sincere appreciation to the management and all the staff of
the Group for their valuable service and contribution during the previous year. | would also like to express my
heartfelt gratitude to our customers, suppliers, business partners and shareholders for their continuous support
to the Group.

Wang Jinchang
Chairman
Hong Kong, 26 March 2014

CPMC Holdings Limited
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Managing Director’'s Report

| have the pleasure to report to the shareholders that the Group realized a turnover of approximately RMB5.26
billion for the year ended 31 December 2013, an increase of approximately 4.2% year-on-year. Profit
attributable to shareholders of the Company reached about RMB386 million, up around 19.7% as compared to
approximately RMB323 million of 2012. For the year ended 31 December 2013, basic earnings per share was
approximately RMBO0.39 (2012: approximately RMB0.37).

The board of directors recommends the payment of a final dividend of RMB0.035 (equivalent to approximately
HK4.4 cents) (2012: RMB0.029 (equivalent to HK3.5 cents)) per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December
2013, subject to the approval obtained at the annual general meeting to be held on 6 June 2014. The proposed
final dividend will be distributed on or after 11 July 2014 to the shareholders of the Company whose names
appear on the shareholders’ register on 18 June 2014.

In 2013, the Group continued to focus on the strategic objective of being “the leading manufacturer of
packaging products of integrated consumer goods in China”. The Group also actively responded to the shift
in packaging methods of major clients, timely adjusted the deployment of the production capacity of tinplate
packaging, effectively promoted the expansion and generation of aluminum packaging capacity as well as
smoothly completed the acquisition of plastic packaging business. While paying great heed on the growth of
results, the Group has put greater emphasis on the improvement of profitability.

In 2013, with respect to the tinplate packaging business, through adjusting the distribution of three-piece
beverage cans production lines, improving the management procedures for production, developing new growth
drivers and implementing cost-effective policies, the Group effectively increased the overall gross profit of
tinplate packaging products and rapidly increased the income of steel barrel business and printed and coated
tinplate businesses.

In 2013, the aluminum packaging industry continued to increase at a fast pace with an increase in sales income
of approximately 32.5% year-on-year. The second production line for two-piece aluminum cans for the CPMC
Hangzhou company started trial operation in late May and commenced production in September officially. With
the rapid increase in production capacity, the business layout of two-piece cans has been further improved.
The other four two-piece cans production lines in Hangzhou, Wuhan, Chengdu and Tianjin were operating in full
gear throughout the year in order to satisfy the demand of downstream customers and achieved annual sales
of approximately 3,479 million cans. Meanwhile, the Group was the first one to introduce the high-speed one-
piece cans production line and achieved mass production and delivery in 2013. During the year, the Group
also successively received the approval and certification from the China Food and Drug Administration (CFDA),
including the certification of registration for drug packaging materials and containers which equipped the Group
with the capability for serving customers of household chemical products, beers and carbonated beverages as
well as pharmaceutical products.

Plastic packaging business has been a focal point of development for the Group in recent years. Followed
by the completion of acquisition of Victoria Industrial and its subsidiaries, the Group actively promoted the
consolidation of the acquired businesses, fully explored the original business capacity, expanded its customer
base effectively and achieved exponential growth of plastic packaging businesses. This strengthened the
leading position for our Group in the markets of plastic packing of personal care and household chemical
products.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Managing Director’'s Report

In 2013, the Group continued to focus on product quality and production safety management and insisted
on starting from the screening of suppliers. The Group also strengthened the management on production
processes and follow-up monitoring, attached great importance on the management of contractors and
hazardous operations as well as focusing on the commencement of the safe production projects. Meanwhile,
the Group actively promoted technological R&D and innovation, continued to carry out the construction and
application of platform for technological R&D and achieved product and technique standardization for barrels
businesses. The Group also highly promoted the research and implementation of material saving technology,
UV printing technology, automation and waste heat utilization technology through which a cumulative economic
benefit of over approximately RMB65 million was achieved.

The Group has always taken the social responsibility seriously. While securing sound operation and steady
growth and development, we showed genuine care and concern to the physical and mental health of our staff,
created harmonious labor relation, dedicated in charitable work and reduced energy usage and emission of
pollutants effectively so as to create a corporate image which is responsible and full of accountability.

Looking forward, the gradual improvement in the external environment, the steady growth of China’s economy;,
the increasing level of urbanization and living standards of residents will accelerate the growth of the domestic
consumer goods industry and provide an emerging opportunity for the development of packaging industry.
Meanwhile, the higher level of consolidation and concentration of the markets of downstream customers will
impose higher requirement with respect to quality, safety and services on packaging enterprises. The Group
is enthusiastic about our future development and will promote the rapid development of new businesses, pay
great attention to the new growth point of traditional businesses, sharpen our differentiated competitive edge
and show full support to research and innovation so as to provide outstanding and reliable products and
services to clients and enhance shareholders’ value.

On behalf of the Board, | am hereby expressing my sincere gratitude to our clients, employees, shareholders,
suppliers and supporters from different sectors for their trust and continuous support.

Zhang Xin

Managing Director
Hong Kong, 26 March 2014
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Business Review

The Group specializes in the manufacture of packaging products, covering extensively the packaging market
segment for consumer goods such as food, beverages and household chemical products. The Group’s main
products include tinplate packaging, aluminum packaging and plastic packaging products. In addition, the
Group offers integrated packaging solutions including high technological packaging design, printing, logistics
and comprehensive customer services. As the largest enterprise of metal packaging manufacturing in China,
the Group endeavors to be “the leading manufacturer of packaging products of integrated consumer goods
in China”. As at 31 December 2013, the Group conducted its business through 22 operating subsidiaries,
which are distributed strategically in different regions in China, in order to provide services to its customers in a
proactive and efficient manner. The Group ranked first in many market sub-segments such as milk powder cans,
aerosol cans and twist caps, and has gained the favour and trust of many domestic and international renowned
clients. Through its efforts over the years, the Group has established a solid customer base.

@ Tianjin
Linyi
[ )
Zhenjiang
@@ Zhangjiagang
Wuxi )
Shashi Kunshan@® Shanghai
Chengd ashi
.g éjhongqing ® OWuhan  @Hangzhou
()
Nanning (%Jangzhou
[ )
Zhongshan

Tinplate Packaging

The Group uses tinplate as the main raw material for its tinplate packaging, the products of which include three-
piece beverage cans, food cans (including milk powder cans), aerosol cans, metal caps, printed and coated
tinplates, steel barrels and other metal packaging. The Group is in a leading position in several product sub-
segments in China, including ranking the first in market sub-segments such as milk powder cans, aerosol cans
and twist caps in China in terms of market share.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Management Discussion and Analysis

During the year, as a result of the drop in tinplate price, the selling price per unit of the Group’s tinplate
products was adjusted accordingly. In 2013, the sales income of tinplate packaging business of the Group was
approximately RMB2,910 million (2012: approximately RMB3,436 million), representing a decrease of 15.3% as
compared to 2012 and accounting for approximately 55.4% of the overall sales (2012: approximately 68.1%).
The gross profit margin of tinplate business for the year of 2013 was approximately 16.4% (2012: approximately
15.3%), representing an increase of approximately 1.1% as compared to 2012.

Three-piece beverage cans (“three-piece cans” hereinafter) are used widely for the packaging of protein drinks,
energy drinks, tea beverages, mixed congee, fruit and vegetable juice and coffee. To proactively accommodate
the packaging changes of its major client JDB, the Group has fully ceased the outsourced manufacturing
of three-piece cans. Meanwhile, the Group has made reasonable adjustments to its production capacity
arrangement, actively improved the quality of its services, greatly increased its team’'s marketing efforts, and
expanded its supply to other key clients, achieving a year-on-year growth of approximately 15% of sales income
from other clients for the year. The sales of three-piece cans for 2013 amounted to approximately 1,202 million
cans (2012: self-produced approximately 1,720 million cans), bringing in a sales income of approximately
RMB883 million. The Group’s major three-piece cans clients are JDB, Red Bull, Dali Group, Yangyuan, Lolo,
and Taigishipin, etc.

Food cans mainly consist of milk power cans and ordinary food cans. In 2013, the sales income of food cans
business declined slightly to approximately RMB370 million (2012: approximately RMB381 million), as the
growth of ordinary food can market had slowed down. With the introduction of relevant policies and regulations
in China, the PRC government and industrial associations will implement more stringent market regulation and
standardization progressively, resulting in a higher market concentration for milk powder in China and higher
safety and quality standards for milk powder packaging, altogether contributing to a more favorable ground for
the future development of the Company’s milk powder cans business. The Group is the largest manufacturer
of milk powder cans in China and its renowned milk powder cans clients include Mead Johnson, Wyeth,
Beingmate, Yili, Yashili Group, Unilever and Feihe Dairy, etc.

The Group is also one of the largest manufacturers of aerosol cans in China, which are primarily used in the
packaging of household chemical products (e.g. car accessories, air fresheners, personal care products
and pesticides) and other chemical products. The Company has paid close attention to the demand growth
in car maintenance products and industrial products, proactively engaged in raising the market supply,
exerted earnest efforts to cost control, and effectively improved gross profit level, delivering a sales income of
approximately RMB336 million for 2013 (2012: approximately RMB333 million). Renowned aerosol cans clients
include Shenzhen Caihong, SC Johnson, Zhongshan Lanju and Hebei Kangda, etc.

The Group produces steel barrels with a volume of 200 litres and above, which are mainly used for carrying
bulk edible oil, juice, fruit jam, industrial essence and fragrance and lubricants, etc. In 2013, the Group has
strengthened its organizational and structural adjustment, implemented flat management, continued to boost
production capacity generation and new client development, and further enlarged market share, delivering a
sales income of approximately RMB434 million (2012: approximately RMB383 million), representing an increase
of approximately 13.3% as compared to 2012. The renowned steel barrels clients of the Group are Sinopec,
Huntsman, PetroChina, COFCO Oil & Grain Industries, KCC and Kukdo Chemical, etc.

The Group’s sales income of metal caps in 2013 was approximately RMB559 million (2012: approximately
RMB586 million), which slightly decreased as compared to the same period of last year , while the sales income
of printed and coated tinplates in 2013 was approximately RMB157 million (2012: approximately RMB149
million), which increased by approximately 5.4% as compared to the same period of last year. The renowned
metal caps clients of the Group are HADAY, Huanlejia, Lao Gan Ma, China Resources Snow Beer, Anheuser-
Busch InBev and Tsingtao Brewery, etc, while the renowned printed and coated tinplates clients are Sinopec,
Supor, Panasonic (Shanghai) and Midea, etc.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Aluminum Packaging

The Group uses aluminum as the main raw material for its aluminum packaging products, which mainly consist
of two-piece beverage cans and one-piece cans. Aluminum packaging products business is characterized by
a high degree of automatic production, full product recyclability, etc., and has been one of the core business
developments of the Company in recent years.

During 2013, the Group committed itself to facilitating the expansion and the generation of its production
capacity. Despite the impact of various adverse factors such as the decrease in raw material price, the
aluminum packaging business maintained a positive growth, delivering a sales income of approximately
RMB1,789 million (2012: approximately RMB1,350 million), representing an increase of 32.5% as compared
to 2012, and accounting for approximately 34.0% of the overall sales. Gross profit margin in 2013 was
approximately 20.3% (2012: approximately 20.3%), which is similar to last year.

Two-piece beverage cans (“two-piece cans” hereinafter) products are primarily used for the packaging of beers,
carbonated drinks and tea beverages, etc. Ever since the listing of the Company, it has promptly seized the
market opportunities to swiftly promote the two-piece cans business. Currently, the Company owns 5 two-piece
cans production lines, and has become one of the leading two-piece cans manufacturers in China. The second
two-piece cans production line of the Group’s company in Hangzhou finished its integrated trial production in
late May 2013, and has commenced formal production in the second half of the year, significantly elevating our
status in the Eastern China market and ensuring the Group’s ability to better meet the escalating demand from
its clients. The Group has carried out extensive market research and actively engaged in public relations as it
strengthened its business ties with its key clients such as Coca-cola (China), China Resources Snow Beer, etc.,
delivering an increase of approximately 45.9% in two-piece cans sales in 2013, amounting to approximately
3,479 million cans (2012: approximately 2,384 million cans). During 2013, the Group has steadily advanced the
new two-piece cans production lines in two locations, namely Guangzhou and Nanning, which are expected to
commence formal production within 2014. The Group’s major two-piece cans clients are JDB, China Resources
Snow Beer, Coca-cola (China), Tsingtao Brewery Group and Anheuser-Busch InBey, etc.

One-piece cans products are primarily used for the packaging of household chemical products, beers
and carbonated drinks and medical products. In 2013, by following closely the market trends and seizing
development opportunities, the Group has taken the lead in introducing the first high speed one-piece
cans production line, and has achieved mass production and delivery within the year, bringing in a sales of
approximately 6.83 million cans for the year. The Group has passed the certification from China Food and Drug
Administration by the end of 2013 and obtained the registration certificates for the materials and containers
used for the packaging of pharmaceuticals. In 2014, high-speed one-piece cans production line will achieve a
better utilization of production capacity and a greater margin contribution. The Group’s major one-piece cans
clients are SMB Global, Victory Ascent Limited, Dong Yang Pharmaceuticals (R[5 %), etc.

Plastic Packaging

The Group’s plastic packaging products are mainly used for the packaging of personal care, food and beverage
and household chemical products. The Group actively facilitated merger and acquisition and business
integration, and completed the initial stage of the Victoria Plastic Project in early 2013. The Group also further
improved the production capacity arrangement of plastic products and achieved exponential growth, bringing
in a sales income of approximately RMB559 million for 2013 (2012: approximately RMB260 million), representing
an increase of 115.0% as compared to 2012, and accounting for 10.6% of the Group’s total income. In the
future, the Group will continue to increase its investment in the plastic packaging segment encompassing
household chemicals, food and beverage, etc., facilitate the incorporation between new production capacity
generation and business merger and acquisitions, and enlarge the proportion of plastic packaging in the
Company'’s business profile. The renowned plastic packaging clients of the Group are P&G, Blue Moon, Reckitt
Benckiser, Johnson & Johnson, Mengniu and Johnson, etc.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Management Discussion and Analysis

Financial Review

For the year ended 31 December 2013, sales income of the Group amounted to approximately RMB5,257
million (2012: approximately RMB5,046 million), representing an increase of approximately RMB211 million or
4.2%. The increase was primarily due to the remarkable growth of two-piece beverage aluminum cans and
plastic businesses. Gross profit margin reached approximately 17.9% in the year of 2013 (2012: approximately
16.7%), representing an increase of 1.2%, which was mainly due to the growth in gross profit of tinplate
packaging and plastic packaging businesses.

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the profit of the Group amounted to approximately RMB392 million
(2012: approximately RMB333 million), an increase of 17.7% as compared to the same period in the previous
year, mainly because the Group lowered the procurement costs and enhanced the production and operating
efficiency.

GROUP’S PROFIT

For the year ended 31 December 2013, profit before tax of the Group was approximately RMB500 million (2012:
approximately RMB438 million), an increase of approximately RMB62 million or 14.2% as compared to the same
period in the previous year.

Finance costs were approximately RMB43.5 million (2012: approximately RMB46.0 million), broadly in line with
the same period in the previous year.

Tax expense was approximately RMB108 million (2012: approximately RMB105 million), an increase of
approximately RMB3 million or 2.9% as compared to the same period in the previous year. The effective
income tax rate of the Group in 2013 was approximately 21.7% (2012: approximately 24.0%). The decrease in
effective income tax rate was mainly due to the entitlement of government’s preferential tax treatment of certain
subsidiaries.

Outlook in 2014

Looking forward to 2014, the steadily upward trend of China’s economy, the progressive establishment of a
consumption-driven economy, the steady growth of national economy, the continuous rise in household income
and China’s ever-prospering consumer goods market shall all prove to be conducive to the positive growth of
the Group’s business. The Group shall adhere to the strategic objective of becoming “the leading manufacturer
of packaging products of integrated consumer goods in China”, remain highly sensitive to the market trends,
fortify its leading position in the tinplate packaging segment, continue to promote the rapid development of
aluminum packaging and plastic packaging, and comprehensively satisfy the needs of its clients through a
diverse and reliable product portfolio, high quality services and differentiated advantage.

CASH FLOW, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING RATIO

The Group’s main sources of funding were cash generated from operating activities and bank loans.

31 December 2013 31 December 2012

RMB (million) RMB (million)
Net assets 3,970 3,652
Cash and cash equivalents 987 1ol
Total borrowings 2,092 2,421
Shareholders’ interests 3,870 3,550

Current ratio 1.0 .52
Gearing ratio* 28.6% 21.0%

* The gearing ratio is calculated as net borrowings divided by total equity attributable to shareholders of the Company, in
which the net borrowings are calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had net assets of approximately RMB3,970 million (31 December 2012:
approximately RMB3,652 million). Amount attributable to equity holders of the Company was approximately
RMB3,870 million, which has increased by 9.0% as compared to approximately RMB3,550 million as at 31
December 2012.

The current ratio and gearing ratio as at 31 December 2013 were approximately 1.0 and approximately
28.6% respectively (2012: approximately 1.52 and 21.0% respectively). The decrease in current ratio from
approximately 1.52 as at 31 December 2012 to approximately 1.0 as at 31 December 2013 was mainly due to
the long-term loan repayable within one year of approximately RMB817 million and the increase in payables for
acquisitions by approximately RMB86 million.The increase in gearing ratio from approximately 21.0% as at 31
December 2012 to approximately 28.6% as at 31 December 2013, was mainly due to the increase in capital for
investments and repayment of certain amounts of bank loans in 2012. Interest-bearing bank and other loans
decreased from approximately RMB2,421 million as at 31 December 2012 to approximately RMB2,092 million
as at 31 December 2013. The carrying amount of pledged assets of the Group for acquiring the bank loans and
facilities was in total approximately RMB25 million (2012: Nil).

In view of the Group’s current level of cash and bank balances, the normalized cash flow generated from
operating activities, the unutilized banking facilities available to the Group and a relatively low debt level, the
management of the Company believes that the Group’s financial resources are sufficient to fund its foreseeable
capital expenditures and debt repayment requirements.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2013, the Group’s capital expenditure was approximately RMB904 million, which was as
follows:

Percentage
RMB’ of capital
Million expenditure

Panyu two-piece beverage aluminum cans and other
equipment projects 387 42.8%
Hangzhou one-piece aluminum cans and two-piece beverage cans 99 11.0%
Infrastructure in Tianjin and manufacturing equipment projects 86 9.5%
Zhenjiang easy-open ends project 44 4.9%
Investment in plastic project 174 19.2%
Purchases of other equipment 114 12.6%
Total 904 100.0%

As at 31 December 2013, the capital expenditure of the Group relating to the acquisition of property, plant
and equipment, which has been contracted but not provided for, was approximately RMB173 million; the
commitments under foreign currency forward contracts was approximately RMB117 million; and the contingent
consideration payable of the acquisition was approximately RMB90 million.

As at 31 December 2013, other than operating lease commitments and save as mentioned above, the Group
had no other significant commitments and contingent liabilities.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group’s main operations are located in China. Other than some of the bank loans and bank deposits which
are denominated in U.S. dollars, most of the assets, incomes, payment and cash balances are denominated
in RMB. The directors of the Company consider that exchange rate fluctuation has no significant impact on the
Company’s results.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had 6,941 full-time employees (2012: 6,388), of which approximately 1,701
were engineers and technical staff or employees with higher education backgrounds. The table below shows
the number of employees of the Group by function as at 31 December 2013:

Percentage of

Function No. of employees total sum
Management and Administration 796 11.5%
Sales and Marketing 288 41%
Research and Development in Technology and Engineering 886 12.8%
Production and Quality Control 4,971 71.6%
Total 6,941 100.0%

As at 31 December 2013, the Group’s total staff cost was approximately RMB448 million (2012: approximately
RMB423 million). The Group determined the salary of the employees based on their performance, the standard
of salary in the respective regions, and the industry and market conditions. The benefits of the employees in the
PRC included pension fund, medical insurance, unemployment insurance, maternity insurance and job-related
injury insurance and housing fund contributions. In addition to the requirements of the PRC law, the Group has
made voluntary contributions to an annuity plan, which was implemented with effect from 1 January 2009, for
the benefit of the Group’s employees when they reach certain seniority. The benefits of the employees in Hong
Kong included mandatory provident fund, life insurance and medical insurance.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Shareholders

4 Board of Directors

Company
Secretary

v v v

Audit Nomination Remuneration
Committee Committee Committee
External
Auditor

The board of directors of the Company (“Directors” or the “Board”) are fully aware of the importance of
corporate ethics in running a successful company and believes that a good and solid corporate governance
framework has given the Company the edge in attracting and retaining talent, enhancing customers’ loyalty
and reinforcing relationships with suppliers, and retaining its position as a leading manufacturer of packaging
products for a comprehensive range of consumer goods. The Company had adopted all the code provisions
of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its
own code of corporate governance. The Directors consider that since the listing of the shares of the Company
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 16 November
2009, the Company has complied with the code provisions under the CG Code.

The Board will continue to review and monitor its current corporate practices and procedures of the Company
from time to time and will maintain and further enhance the standard of corporate governance practices of the
Company, in order to ensure that formal and transparent procedures are in place to protect and maximize the
interests of the current and potential shareholders, investors, employees, business partners and the community
as a whole.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors,
the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2013.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

The Board is responsible for leading and controlling the business operations of the Group. Decisions made
in the best interests of the shareholders and for maximizing the shareholders’ return. The Directors formulate
strategic directions, oversee the operations and monitor the financial and management performance of the
Group as a whole.

The Board currently comprise a combination of two executive Directors, four non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors as at the date of this report.

Executive Directors:
— Mr. Wang Jinchang (Chairman)
— Mr. Zhang Xin (Managing Director)

Non-executive Directors:

— Mr. Ning Gaoning

— Mr. Wan Zaotian (appointed on 26 July 2013)
— Mr. Zhou Zheng

— Mr. Hu Yonglei

Independent non-executive Directors:

— Mr. Shi Wanpeng (resigned on 17 March 2014)

— Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo

— Mr. Fu Tingmei

—Mr. Andrew Y. Yan (appointed on 17 March 2014)

The members of the Board are well-balanced in abilities with each Director having sound industry knowledge,
extensive corporate and strategic planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the business of the Group.

The biographical information of Directors is set out on pages 40 to 41 of this annual report.

The Company has appointed three independent non-executive Directors representing one-third of the Board.
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo, being one of the independent non-executive Directors, has professional qualifications
in accountancy. One of the important duties of the independent non-executive Directors is ensuring and
monitoring the basis for an effective corporate governance framework. Their participation provides adequate
checks and balances to safeguard the interests of the Group and its shareholders, including the review of
continuing connected transactions described in other sections of this annual report. The Board confirms that the
Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors a confirmation of independence
for the year ended 31 December 2013 pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers such Directors
to be independent.

Functions of the Board of Directors

The Board is responsible for overseeing the management of the Company’s business and affairs with the goal
of maximizing shareholders’ return. The Board has the following main duties:

e  determination of all the corporate matters;

e Dbe responsible for the management, direction and supervision of the business of the Group;

e Dbe responsible to ensure the effectiveness of the Group’s financial reporting and compliance;

e  formulating business strategies and business plans;
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Corporate Governance Report

e planning and overseeing mergers, acquisitions or divestments and other major capital expenditure
projects;

° internal control and risk management;
e evaluation of the performance of the Group and the senior management; and
o annual and interim financial results and shareholder communications.

The Board, led by the chairman of the Company (the “Chairman”), is responsible for the leadership and control
of the Company, formulation of overall strategies and policies, evaluation of the performance of the Group and
management, and approval of matters or transactions of a material nature or those requiring disclosure under
the Listing Rules.

The management, under the leadership of the managing director of the Company (the “Managing Director”), is
responsible for the business and day-to-day operations of the Group and implementation of the strategies and
policies set by the Board. The Managing Director is responsible for overseeing and monitoring the operations of
business units or functional divisions.

Delegation by the Board of Directors

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties and facilitate effective management, certain functions of the
Board have been delegated by the Board to the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and the senior management. On 23 October 2009, the Board approved the forming of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee upon the listing of the Company’s shares on
the Stock Exchange. The Board delegates the authority and responsibility of the daily operations, business
strategies and day-to-day management to the Managing Director and senior management. The final decision(s)
are still under the control of the Board unless otherwise provided for in the terms of reference of the three
committees.

Chairman and Managing Director

According to code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of Chairman and Managing Director are separated
and should not be performed by the same individual. In effect, Mr. Wang Jinchang was appointed in January
2011 as the Chairman who is responsible for the Group’s business strategic and effective operation of the
Board. Furthermore, the Chairman encourages and facilitates active contribution of Directors in Board activities
and constructive relations between executive and non-executive Directors. With the support of the executive
Directors and the senior management, Mr. Wang ensures the Directors receive adequate information, which is
complete and reliable, in a timely manner. The Managing Director, Mr. Zhang Xin, is primarily responsible for the
executive management of the Group’s daily operations and to ensure the Group’s business plans and strategies
are effectively implemented to achieve the goals of the Group.

Directors’ Appointments, Re-election and Removal

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the Company for an initial term
of three years from 23 October 2009. Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has signed a letter of appointment with the Company under which he agreed to act as non-executive
Director or independent non-executive Director for an initial term of three years. Each of these service
agreements and letters of appointment will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by either party by
serving not less than three months’ prior written notice or three months salary in lieu of such notice.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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The Articles of Association (the “Articles”) of the Company provide that any Director appointed by the Board,
either to fill a casual vacancy in the Board or as an addition to the existing Board, shall hold office only until
the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. Also under
the Company’s Articles, one-third of all Directors (whether executive or non-executive) is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at each annual general meeting provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years, and a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

Members of the Company may, at any general meeting convened and held in accordance with Company’s
Articles to remove a Director at any time before the expiration of his period of office notwithstanding anything to
the contrary in the Company’s Articles or in any agreement between the Company and such Director.

Board meetings and Board practices

Under code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code, the Board shall meet regularly and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. The Board has scheduled to meet at least four times a year in approximately
quarterly intervals in accordance with the Company’s Articles. The Board meets physically and regularly.
During the year ended 31 December 2013, 7 Board meetings were held. The Directors attended the meetings
in person or by telephone in accordance with the Company’s Articles. A summary of the Directors’ meeting
attendance is as follows:

Attendance/Total meetings

Executive Directors:
Mr. Wang Jinchang 6/7
Mr. Zhang Xin 6/7

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Ning Gaoning 6/7
Mr. Wan Zaotian* 2/3
Mr. Zhou Zheng 6/7
Mr. Hu Yonglei 6/7

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Shi Wanpeng* 77
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo 77
Mr. Fu Tingmei 77
Mr. Andrew Y. Yan” N/A

* Mr. Wan Zaotian has been appointed as a non-executive Director on 26 July 2013. Mr. Wan attended 2 out of 3 Board
meetings held during his tenure in the year ended 2013.

# Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, Mr. Shi Wanpeng resigned as an independent non-executive Director on

17 March 2014.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, Mr. Andrew Y. Yan was appointed as an independent non-executive

Director on 17 March 2014.

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2013, there was 1 out of the 7 board meetings related to connected
transactions, in which all the above executive Directors and non-executive Directors had interest and had
abstained from attending and voting at that board meeting.

According to the current Board practice, notices of the Board meetings are usually served to all Directors
before the meeting. Generally, at least 14 days’ notice is given for regular Board meetings by the Company to
all Directors. Reasonable notice is given for all other Board meetings. The company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”) assists the Chairman to prepare Board meeting agenda and papers together
with all appropriate, complete and reliable information. Each Director may request the Company Secretary
to include any matters in the agenda during the Board meetings. All substantive agenda items together with
comprehensive briefing papers will be sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board meeting or
committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the
Company and to enable them to make informed decisions.
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General meetings with shareholders
The 2013 annual general meeting (“2013 AGM”) and the extraordinary general meeting were held on 7 June
2013 and 30 October 2013 respectively. A summary of the general meeting attendance is as follows:

Attendance/Total general meetings

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Jinchang 2/2
Mr. Zhang Xin 2/2
Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Ning Gaoning 0/2
Mr. Wan Zaotian* 01
Mr. Zhou Zheng 0/2
Mr. Hu Yonglei 0/2
Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Shi Wanpeng* 0/2
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo 2/2
Mr. Fu Tingmei 2/2
Mr. Andrew Y. Yan" N/A

Mr. Wan Zaotian has been appointed as a non-executive Director on 26 July 2013. One general meeting was held during
his tenure but he was not able to attend due to other commitments.

# Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, Mr. Shi Wanpeng resigned as an independent non-executive Director on
17 March 2014.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, Mr. Andrew Y. Yan was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 17 March 2014.

Supply of and access to information

All Directors may access the advice and services of the Company Secretary. Minutes of the Board and meetings
of the Board committees are kept by the Company Secretary and such minutes are open for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by the Directors. Any Director may request the Company to provide
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense to discharge his duties to the Company.

Important matters are usually dealt with by way of written resolutions so that all Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) can note and comment on, as appropriate, the matters before approval is granted.
Moreover, a Director must declare his interest in matters or transactions to be considered and approved by
the Board. If a substantial shareholder or a Director has an interest in a matter to be considered by the Board
which the Board has determined to be material, the Company will not deal with the matter by the way of
written resolution. The independent non-executive Directors shall take an active role and make an independent
judgment on all issues relating to such matter. If any Director or his associates have any material interest in any
proposed Board resolutions, such Director shall not vote (nor shall be counted in the quorum) at a meeting of
the Directors on any resolutions approving any contract or arrangement or concerning a matter in which he
or any of his associates has directly or indirectly a material interest (save as provided under the Company’s
Articles).

Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance

The Company has arranged Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for all Directors and senior management
of the Company for the year 2013/2014. The insurance covers the corresponding costs, charges, expenses and
liabilities for legal action of corporate activities against them.

Responsibilities of directors

The Company ensures that every newly appointed Director has a proper understanding of the operations and
business of the Group and that he or she is fully aware of his or her responsibilities under statute and common
law, the Listing Rules, applicable legal requirements and other regulatory requirements and the business and
governance policies of the Company.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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The non-executive Directors exercise their independent judgement and advise on the business direction
and strategic plans of the Company. The non-executive Directors also review the financial information and
operational performance of the Company on a regular basis.

The independent non-executive Directors take an active role in Board meetings and make independent
judgment on issues relating to matters or transactions of a material nature. They will take the lead where
potential conflicts of interest arise. In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, there are three
independent non-executive Directors representing one-third of the Board. Among the three independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo has the appropriate professional qualifications in accounting or related
financial management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Company secretary
Mr. Chan Fan Shing had been appointed as the company secretary of the Company with effect from 23 October
2009. The company secretary has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules in relation to the professional
training requirements.

Corporate Governance Duties

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties as set out in the Code Provision D.3.1.
During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Board had reviewed and discussed the corporate governance
policy of the Group and was satisfied with the effectiveness of the corporate governance policy of the Group.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

The Directors acknowledge the need to continue to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills for making
contributions to the Company. The table below shows the participation of individual directors in continuous
professional development during the year ended 31 December 2013.

Attending
Reading external
regulatory seminars/
updates programmes
Executive Directors:
Mr. Wang Jinchang v v
Mr. Zhang Xin v v
Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Ning Gaoning v v
Mr. Wan Zaotian v v
Mr. Zhou Zheng v v
Mr. Hu Yonglei v v
Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Shi Wanpeng v v
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo v v
Mr. Fu Tingmei v v

Audit Committee

The Company approved on 23 October 2009 the forming of the Audit Committee (the “Audit Committee”) upon
the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange with written terms of reference to state its authority
and duties. A majority of the members of the Audit Committee are independent non-executive Directors.

The Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the year ended 31 December 2013. The composition and the
details of the attendance records of members of the Audit Committee are as follows:

Members of Audit Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo (Committee Chairman)* 3/3
Mr. Fu Tingmei* 3/3
Mr. Hu Yongleit 3/3

*

Independent Non-executive Director
i Non-executive Director
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The financial controller of the Company and the Company Secretary also attended the meetings. Minutes
drafted by the Company Secretary had been circulated to members of the Audit Committee within a reasonable
time after the meetings. No member of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the existing auditing firm of
the Company.

The Board has adopted the terms of reference for the Audit Committee, which follow closely the requirements
of the code provisions of the CG Code, details of which are posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website.

The Audit Committee’s responsibilities include the following:

° review and supervision of the Group’s financial reporting process and completeness of financial reports;
e monitor the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management system; and

e  consider the independence of the external auditors.

The Audit Committee reviewed with the senior management the accounting policies and practices adopted
by the Group and discussed auditing, the internal control system and financial reporting matters. The Audit
Committee also reviewed the consolidated financial statements of the Company and the Company’s interim and
annual reports, the letter to the management from the auditors of the Company and the audit scope and fees for
the year ended 31 December 2013.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that, subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, Ernst & Young be re-appointed as the Company’s external auditor for the year ending
2014.

The senior management of the Group is required to provide adequate and timely support to the Audit
Committee to discharge its duties. The Audit Committee has also been advised that the Company Secretary can
arrange independent professional advice at the expense of the Company should the seeking of such advice be
considered necessary by the Audit Committee.

Nomination Committee

The Company approved on 23 October 2009 the forming of the Nomination Committee upon the listing of
the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange. The Board has also adopted the terms of reference for the
Nomination Committee which are in line with the code provisions set out in the CG Code and are posted on the
Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website. A majority of the members of the Nomination Committee
are independent non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee are mainly to (i) review the structure, size and composition
of the Board and make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed changes; (ii) make
recommendations to the Board on the nominees for appointment as Director and senior management of the
Group; (iii) assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Nomination Committee had performed the following work:

e review of the structure, size and composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of skills,
knowledge and experience appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Group;

e recommendation of the re-appointment of the Directors standing for re-election at the 2013 annual general
meeting of the Company; and

e assessment of the independence of all the independent non-executive Directors of the Company.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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The Board has adopted a board diversity policy and discussed all measurable objectives set for implementing
the policy during the year ended 31 December 2013. The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of
diversity of Board members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. All Board appointments
will continue to be made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board members.
Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge. The
ultimate decision will be made upon the merits and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

The composition and the details of the attendance of the members of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

Members of Nomination Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Wang Jinchang (Committee Chairman)" 1/1
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo* 11
Mr. Fu Tingmei* 1/1

Executive Director and Chairman of the Board
Independent Non-executive Director

Remuneration Committee

The Company approved on 23 October 2009 the forming of the Remuneration Committee upon the listing of
the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange with written terms of reference to state its authority and duties. A
majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee are independent non-executive Directors.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee are mainly to (i) make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior management to ensure that no
Director or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; (ii) determine the specific
remuneration packages of Directors and senior management; and (iii) review and approve performance
based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board. The Remuneration
Committee may have access to independent professional advice at the Company’s expense if considered
necessary.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Remuneration Committee had performed the following work:

e review and discuss the remuneration policy of the Group and the remuneration packages of Directors and
senior management of the Company; and

e review and discuss the share option matters of the Company.

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year ended 31 December 2013 are set out in note 8 to the
financial statements.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, which closely follows the requirements of the code
provisions of the CG Code, are posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The human resources and administration department of the Company provides administrative support to the
Remuneration Committee, and implements the approved remuneration packages and other human resources
related decisions.

The Remuneration Committee met once during the year ended 31 December 2013 to assess and review the
remuneration packages and overall benefits for the Directors and the senior management of the Company. The
composition and the details of the attendance of members of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

Members of Remuneration Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Fu Tingmei (Committee Chairman)* 1/1
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo* 1/1
Mr. Wang Jinchang? 1/1

Independent Non-executive Director
b Executive Director and Chairman of the Board
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Corporate Governance Report

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and Auditors’ Acknowledgement

The Audit Committee and the Board have reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2013. The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing accounts, the
financial statements, performance position and prospects of the Group. Management has provided information
and explanation to the Board to enable it to make an informed assessment of financial and other information
put before the Board for approval. The Directors believed that they have selected suitable accounting policies
and applied them consistently, made judgment and estimates that are prudent and reasonable and ensured the
financial statements are prepared on a “going concern” basis.

Ernst & Young, the auditors of the Company, acknowledged their reporting responsibilities in the Independent
Auditors’ Report on the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013.

Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system. The internal control system
has been designed to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and assets of the Group. It should provide a
basis for the maintenance of proper accounting records and assist in compliance with the relevant rules and
regulations. The Board had conducted a review on the effectiveness of internal control system (including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management functions) of the Group. The Board
considered that the internal control system is effective and adequate and the Company has complied with the
code provisions on internal control of the CG Code.

Furthermore, the Group also implemented the SAP system to enhance the efficiency of the operational process
and improving segregation of duties and better internal control system.

Auditors’ Remuneration
An analysis of the remuneration of the Company’s auditors, Ernst & Young, for the year ended 31 December
2013 is set out as follows:

Services rendered Fee paid/payable

RMB’000
Audit services 1,750
Non-audit services™ 1,023
Total 2,773

*

Such services included interim report review and compliance review relating to continuing connected transactions.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognizes the importance of maintaining clear, timely and effective communication with
shareholders of the Company and investors; and also recognizes the effective communication with investors is
the fundamental element to build up the shareholders’ confidence and attract more new investors.

The Company communicates with the shareholders mainly in the following ways:

(i) the holding of annual general meeting which provides an opportunity for the shareholders to communicate
directly to the Board;

(i) the publication of announcements, annual reports, interim reports and/or circulars of the Company as
required under the Listing Rules and press releases providing updated information of the Group;

CPMC Holdings Limited
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(iii) updating the Company’s website regularly and disclosure of information on a timely basis via the
Company’s and Stock Exchange’s website;

(iv) holding of face to face meetings or teleconferences with analysts and fund managers from time to time.
There is regular dialogue with institutional shareholders and presentations are made when financial
results are announced. Shareholders and investors are welcome to visit the Company’s website and raise
enquiries through our Investor Relations Department whose contact details are available on the Company’s
website; and

(v) shareholders can contact Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the share registrar of the
Company, for any enquiries of their shareholdings and dividend entitlements.

Shareholders’ Right

The annual general meeting of the Company which is proposed to be held on Friday, 6 June 2014 (the
“2014 AGM”) will provide opportunities for the shareholders to meet and raise questions to our Directors, the
management and the external auditors. At the 2014 AGM, the chairperson of the annual general meeting and
the chairman/member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
will be available thereat to answer questions from the shareholders.

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles, the Company should arrange the notice to shareholders to be sent in the
case of annual general meetings at least 21 clear days before the meeting and to be sent at least 14 clear days
in the case of all other general meetings.

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles, any two shareholders of the Company holding not less than one-tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings may request the Company
to convene an extraordinary general meeting by sending a written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary. The objects of the meeting must be stated in the written requisition.

Shareholder(s) may send written enquiries to the Company for putting forward any enquiries or proposals to the
Board of the Company. Contact details are as follows:

Address: 33/F, Top Glory Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 2833 0554

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send or fax the original duly signed written
requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address or fax number and
provide their full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information
may be disclosed as required by law.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Company has not made any changes to its Articles. An up
to date version of the Articles is available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange'’s website.
Shareholders may refer to the Articles for further details of their rights.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll
voting results will be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.cofco-pack.com) immediately after the relevant general meetings.

Voting by Poll

Pursuant to the Company'’s Articles, all resolutions will be conducted by poll at the 2014 AGM. The shareholders
will be allowed to have one vote for every share they hold. The results of the voting by poll will be declared after
the meeting and published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.
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Corporate Social Responsibility Report

The Group provides environmental-friendly packaging and high-quality service, that is world-decorating, life-
embellishing and devoted to our customers, shareholders and employees. Giving back to the community is an
important element in the Group’s corporate culture. The Group strives to protect the environment, reduce energy
consumption and waste discharge, promote employment, care for our employees’ living and development, and
take part in a variety of social welfare activities.

A. Employees

In paving the way for becoming the “leader of packaging products of integrated consumer goods”, the
Group, as ever, has strictly complied with State and local regulations and has properly handled labour
relations. In order to further enhance employees’ performance, attachment and loyalty, the Group paid
much attention to employees’ rights, privileges, well-being and career development as well as the
improvement of staff incentive scheme. The Group continued to advance our corporate development in
terms of harmonious labour relationship, which made the Group an ideal employer for the employees.

(1) Career growth and development of staff

In 2013, with regard to improving the teamwork and the standard of our staff, the Group continued to
establish a well-categorized training system pinpointing at different levels. For examples, collective
orientation for fresh college graduates was organized, and “906 new talents occupational training
camp” was held continuously. A total of 1,819 training sessions were organized and the total
number of trainees reached 5,457. These trainings were mainly on production safety standards,
staff's handbook, corporate culture, business etiquette, interpersonal relationships, communication
and collaboration. In order to get in touch with the young employees, the Communist Youth League
committee of the Group invited the management to join the “906 youth growth class” to share their
own experience of career development, answer the young employees’ questions and assist them
in planning career paths. Meanwhile, the Group corroborated with local universities in establishing
school-enterprise cooperative committees for the purpose of assisting the young employees to
make career plan and providing occupational counseling. Basic knowledge and skills trainings
were provided to the front-line staff, which helped the staff to master the knowledge required for
their positions and improved various operational skills. We continued to launch the “achieve a bit of
improvement from every lesson” activity and encouraged all staff to participate. The main theme of
this activity was to share the small advancement and small improvement on work in order to optimize
the Group’s expenditure and income. Through thorough examination and participation of all staff, a
total of 8,321 findings were recorded for the year, with an average contribution rate of 1.39 findings
per person, representing an increase of 47.7% as compared to last year, and bringing in a total of
RMB11,764,800 from expenditure trimming and income optimization. Progress on team establishment
was accelerated under the instruction of the Group, and a series of innovative trainings, based on the
guidance set out in “Team Establishment Standards” and “Assessment Standards”, were provided
to team leaders, with a focus on work relations, work instruction and work improvement. A training
method that combined live lecture with video and focused on benchmarking management, practice
guidance and sharing was adopted at the factory director’s level. As for the functional departments,
professional microlectures were held. For example, the human resources department has, on a
regular basis, held a total of 10 microlectures on various subjects pertaining to recruitment, training,
performance and remuneration. Operational leadership training on “Business Process Benchmarking”
was provided to general managers for the purpose of enhancing their leadership capability and was
attended by approximately 25 responsible personnel from the subsidiaries. Moreover, the subsidiaries
organized various skill competitions such as mold changing competition, forklift competition,
packaging competition, preprint processing competition and zero-damage packaging competition.
According to the statistics, the Group organized 19 various labour competitions in 2013, which
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reached around 321 participants. As regards the competitions, the Hangzhou company of the Group

MANAGEMENT
was awarded the “Outstanding Organization in Labour Competition” by the industrial association in DISCUSSION AND
Hangzhou. ANALYSIS
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Operational leadership training course of CPMC’s The election and establishment of CPMC Investment
general managers Co., Ltd.’s labour union and the first session of staff
representative meeting

Staff safety, incentive and caring CORPORATE
SOCIAL

. o . . . - . RESPONSIBILITY

The Group has persisted in improving the benefits and remunerations policies of the staff in REPORT

accordance with the relevant PRC laws and regulations, including full payment of various statutory TEHEET
social insurances and the entitlement to national holidays, as well as adjustments of salary from i
time to time in accordance with the requirements of the government and the actual conditions of the
enterprise. In 2013, the Group has strictly complied with the requirement of the government to make
upward adjustment to wage level, which increased labour costs by approximately RMB18,000,000.
Moreover, the Group adopted numerous measures which at the same time increased productivity
and the actual income of the staff steadily. The year-on-year growth of the staff average wage income

was 8.95% in 2013 and the satisfaction level of our staff with their salaries has obviously increased. DIRECTORS AND
In addition, supplementary commercial insurances such as accident and medical insurance were MANAGSEE’V'NE'ﬂ?
provided to the core staff. The scope of the annuity had been established and enlarged, and the staff PROFILE
meals, the labour protection equipment check as well as employee body check and company tour ﬁ&iﬁgﬁ%

BRI

were also improved. Furthermore, innovative incentive measures such as monthly ranking, “highlight
appreciation” and “red and yellow warning signs” were introduced. Special incentives were awarded
for technological innovation, managerial innovation and market exploration, while management
enhancement activities which focused on the benchmarking management, team establishment,
and the five-level assessment were carried out smoothly. Through such measures, the performance
of the team was promoted and more win-win situations were achieved by the enterprise and the

staff. During the process, we took the initiative to organize appraisals and give honors to different REPORT OF THE
outstanding models. The total number of organizations and individuals awarded by the supervising DgECATg&FLS
RV

department accumulated to about 30, while various advanced prizes awarded to workers amounted
to approximately RMB2,000,000. In particular, the Tianjin company of the Group was awarded the
“Enterprise of Harmonious Labour Relations in Tianjin”, whereas the Chengdu company of the Group
was awarded the “Enterprise of Harmonious Labour Relations Level AA in Wenjiang District”.

The Group’s party committee, administrative body and labour union collaborated together in establishing
a system to promptly acknowledge and consider employees’ opinions and needs. Collective efforts were
also made in further standardizing the staff-caring system to ensure the effective execution of the staff-
caring system within the Group. “CPMC Employee-Caring Policies” was issued in June 2013, with an
aim to enhancing the institutionalization, the standardization and the systematic operation of employee-
caring work. In August 2013, the Group organized employee-caring activities and sharing sessions in
each subsidiary to share and promote outstanding innovative activities and practices, through such
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Corporate Social Responsibility Report

complementary approach, the Group can better attend to employees’ needs and achieve its employee-
caring goals. The Company’s management took the lead in reaching down to the general staff and
carried out fraternization activities. For example, in the heat of summer, the leaders took turn to extend
their regards personally to the front-line staff, bringing them refreshment and comfort; the management
also visited staff quarters to get informed of the living conditions and swiftly made improvement. In
particular, the subsidiaries of the Group in Panyu, Chengdu and Kunshan have improved employees’
living conditions by replacing facilities in staff quarters, installing fitness facilities, opening up theme-based
activity rooms, etc., promoting the synergy between a healthy lifestyle and work-place enthusiasm. Lastly,
general staff seminars were held to listen to the staff.

Furthermore, the Group established a case file for employees experiencing difficulties, which is timely
updated every year through public notice confirmation. The Group’s party committee, administrative
body and labour union would visit employees who were in difficult times, dispatched overseas or
retired. Donations would be collected for the employees who encountered unexpected difficulties.
Moreover, the Group undertook to provide employees with free train tickets back home during the
Chinese New Year and remained ready to offer any assistance to the employees in need, reflecting
the Company’s earnest concerns over employees.

Meanwhile, to enrich the leisure time of employees, the Group has launched a variety of recreational activities
pinpointing at different groups, such as the “The Lantern Festival Fun Fair’, “The Women's Day Sports
Circus”, “Pantyhose Flowers, Crafty DIY”, “Master Chef Tournament”, “Packaging Life, Packaging Nature” -
tree planting activity, “Beautiful Youth, Beautiful CPMC” - “May Fourth” activities, the “Qiantang River Bicycle
Tour”, “The Party’s Faithful” - the Red Lexicon competition, “906 Carnival” - National Day activities, “CPMC
Sports Day”, “Basketball Tournament”, “The Voices of CPMC” - karaoke singing competition, etc. Not only
did these activities provide the employees with the opportunities to express themselves, but also, by virtue
of the explicit messages carried within, sent positive energy to the employees, cultivating their sense of the
Company’s culture and fortifying team solidarity. In particular, the Tianjin company of the Group was awarded
the “Tianjin’s Model Organization in Staff Cultural and Sports Activities” by Tianjin Municipal Trade Union; the
labour union of Chengdu company of the Group was awarded “Chengdu’s Outstanding Team (Workshop)
in Technological Innovation” by Chengdu Municipal Trade Union; the Wuhan company of the Group was
awarded “CPMC All-Staff Friendly Basketball Competition Appreciation Award”.

Mr. Zhang Xin, the general manager, sends cool drinks in hot summer

CPMC Holdings Limited



Corporate Social Responsibility Report

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS
ERERLRAN

CORPORATE
o ) . , GOVERNANCE
Hiking in the Youth Festival The "906 Cycling Team " cycles around REPORT

SEEREE

Qiantang River

(3) Staff communication

The Group is dedicated to establishing our own corporate culture as well as diverse communication
channels, specifically between the leaders and the staff. For example, a total of 8 seminars targeting
the general staff were held under our mass line campaign during the year, which included junior
staff seminar, senior staff seminar, food provision committee seminar, party member seminar, staff

representative seminar, technician seminar, etc., and about 150 suggestions were collected in total. CORPS%%‘I\‘T\E
The Group has also set up the staff feedback box for collecting staff’s opinions and suggestions on RESPONSIBILITY
a regular basis and made specific measures to address such issues. The Group has fully upgraded REPORT
TEMEET

&

and redesigned the “CPMC Press”, with an emphasis on the research and interviews regarding the
heated topics on corporate operation. Sections like “The Good Friend’s Talk” were also added to offer
a platform for the staff to know the Group’s status and to voice their own opinions. In addition, the
Group has made good use of a variety of medium such as CPMC Intranet, Weibo, General Manager’s
blog and QQ group, in order to strengthen information exchange, shorten the distance between the
Company and the staff and ensure the smooth transmission of information.

B. Independent Innovations, Energy Conversation and Environmental RO
Protection MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

%%&%@1?5@

(1) Promotion of research and innovations, conservation and efficiency enhancement ABRR

By means of technological innovations, the Group has been committed to fortifying product
competitiveness, energy conversation and environmental protection. Research and innovations mainly
revolved around 4 main areas, namely materials saving technology, automation technology, new printing
technology and food safety. In 2013, by the efforts of many technical personnel, the Group has gained

great economic and social benefits. The Group’s technical centre was also certified by China Packaging REPORT OF THE
Federation and founded the “China Research Centre of Metal Packaging Technology”. DIRECTORS
EEeRs

(i) Implementation of research and innovation projects

Through promoting technological advancement and the research and application of numerous
materials saving technologies , the Group has made remarkable achievement in materials
conservation. Those researches mainly included: the research and application of aluminum
and tinplate products thinning technology; the research and the application of two-piece cans
inner coating full sprayed film uniformity technology; the development and application of foam
plastic twists cap technology. The implementation of these projects would not only reduce
the Company’s raw material expenses, but would also reduce carbon emission and deliver
favourable economic and social benefits.
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To illustrate, with regard to tinplate products, the Group has developed and promoted tinplate

Eﬂégﬁg%mm full-plate punching technology in order to replace the original strip punching. This can result in
ANALYSIS an approximately 15% increase in material utilization rate across milk powder can’s lid production
ERERILEAH . . . . . A :

line alone, and an increase of approximately 12% in the material utilization rate during the

manufacturing processes of top spraying, bottom cap and round cap. By implementing this

technology, the Group can save approximately 900 tons of tinplate in total each year, reducing

carbon emission by more than 1,000 tons.

As regards the research and application of can-weight reduction technology, in 2013, an

accumulated total of approximately 850 tons of tinplate were conserved while carbon emission
CORPORATE was reduced by approximately 1,000 tons. As for aluminum products, the Group has adopted the
GOVERNANGE latest aluminum can-weight reduction technology, and subsequently conserved over 1,000 tons
REPORT of aluminum and reduced carbon emission by 2,860 tons.

TEERRE
(ii)  Focus on improving automatic production
Through introduction, assimilation and self-research and development, the automatic production

technology was enhanced comprehensively, through which labour intensity was reduced and
production efficiency was increased.

S RRRIE The Group has independently developed the metal printing video inspection technology, through
SOCIAL which fully automated inspection and classification of printings was achieved. This technology
RESPONSIBILITY has filled the domestic technological gap in this area, and proved to be a revolutionary innovation
J/R;gféiﬁ in the automation of printing inspection. After the adoption of such technology, the production
#iE lines have not only seen an increase in product quality, but also a significant reduction in labour
intensity, which led to higher production efficiency. Currently, the technology has been adopted

extensively across CPMC.
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6-colour UV printing line

(iii) Transformation and enhancement of traditional technology

Through researching the 6-colour UV high-speed printing line technology, in 2013, the Group
has successfully launched the project to convert three traditional 2-colour printing lines into
6-colour UV solidifying printing lines. This technology has led to significantly higher production
efficiency and a steady increase in product quality, with one million square meters of natural gas
being conversed annually and 300 tons of carbon emission being cut each year. The technology
was the first of its kind in China and was awarded a patent from the state, marking a successful
transformation and enhancement of traditional printing line by means of new printing technology.
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(iv) Development and application of safe food packaging

Food packaging materials with high safety standard were produced through the application of
manufacturing and processing technology and raw materials with high safety standard. It mainly
included: the successful development and application of the non-PVC cap sealing gaskets with
high safety standard; the development and application of the paint which was free of biphenol-A,
and the patent of such invention was received. Meanwhile, the Company has developed and
established corresponding measures for food safety inspection, strengthening its control on
raw materials and products. The implementation of these projects has led to higher food safety
performance of metal packaging.

(2) Energy Conversation and Environmental Protection

(i)

(ii)

Environmental management

The Group puts great emphasis on environmental protection, and through importing,
implementing and running the environmental management system, the Company’s environmental
management was continuously improved. The Group’s subsidiaries in Hangzhou, Wuxi, Panyu,
Tianjin, Chengdu, Kunshan, and Shanghai and Hangzhou Canmaking have all established the
environmental management system and successfully received the qualification according to
the requirement of 1ISO14001. From the original designs to the final products and services, the
Group has taken into full consideration the need to reduce waste production and discharge. In
order to control the important environmental factors, the Group has also set up objectives and
targeted figures, established management plan and undertook operational control. As a result,
pollution was effectively reduced; resources and energy were conserved; and raw materials were
efficiently utilized. At the same time, old and discarded resources were recycled, thus reducing
various environment-related fees. Lastly, the Group has implemented controlling programs on
exhaust fumes, effluent and solid wastes in order to carry out standardized waste management
and improve its effectiveness continuously.

Adopling energy-saving technology and implementing energy-saving projects

Through innovating the technology on the crucial steps of energy conservation and emission
reduction, adopting new energy-saving technology and continuously implementing energy-
saving projects, the Group has also attained the leading position in the metal packaging industry
in respect of energy-saving and emission reduction. In addition, the implementation of these
projects also brought in outstanding social benefits. Relevant cases are set out as follows:

e Redesigned the coating materials drying room through technological innovation. New
treatment of exhaust fumes was adopted, resulting in the significant drop in emission figures
of various wastes. Carbon emission in 2013 was reduced by more than 500 tons. The next
step is to continuously promote such measures within the Group.

e The comprehensive implementation of power saving for printing and coating materials
drying room was carried out, with a power-saving rate of over 15%. Based on this rate, it
is estimated that over 1 million kWh of electricity can be conserved annually while carbon
emission can be reduced by approximately 1,200 tons each year.

e Waste heat released during production was comprehensively utilized to provide heat
for future production and daily life. Such measure proves to be mutually beneficial as it
allows industrial production without interfering with environmental protection needs while
further reduces the need for boilers. In 2013, the utilization of waste heat contributed to the
conservation of electricity and natural gas by approximately 120,000 kWh and approximately
160,000 square meters respectively, while reducing carbon emission by over 280 tons.
Some of such projects were awarded patents by the State.
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The waste heat utilization equipment in Tianjin company

e The development and application of variable frequency, servo technology, medium
frequency induction technology were promoted. Through such technologies, the energy
consumption and the rejection rate of the cans and caps production lines were reduced; the
production technology was optimized, and the production rate per unit was increased with
the same energy consumption.

(iii)  Promoting environmental protection

e  Water-saving: Through measures such as promoting the water-saving culture, the usage of
water-saving items and improved measurements to reduce the usage of water. Water was
saved by rainwater collection, recycling and re-use. Among which, the Hangzhou company
received “Water-Saving Enterprise in Zhejiang Province”, becoming one of the only 18
companies which received the same honor in the province of the PRC. At the same time, it
was also awarded as the “Hangzhou City Advanced Group in Water-Saving”.

e  Solid waste management: Disposal agreements for wastes were signed with environmental
protection enterprises with qualification and wastes would be collected regularly. Used
solvents would be recycled and reused after processing, which reduced emission and
protected the environment and saved substantial costs.

Throughout 2013, the Group has continued to contribute to the development of the society and
economy. Investment was increased to maintain continuous development of the Company’s
business. The total investment amount within the year was over approximately RMB750,000,000,
which gave a strong impetus to the development of the economy. Through the transformation
of technology, implementation of energy-saving measures in production management, the
production efficiency was effectively raised. At the same time, more efforts were put in
environmental protection and the promotion of production safety and a super-eco standard to
create greater social and economic value.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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Community Services

As a place of internship for university students, in 2013, the Group employed 27 interns (25
undergraduates, 2 post-graduates) in total, providing them with appropriate living allowance each month.
After a long period of observation and consideration from both sides, 5 interns were retained, with a
retention rate of 18.5%.

Appropriate regulations were set specifically for the interns. A tutor was appointed to each intern to
provide assistance in work and daily life. Before joining the Group, each intern received trainings on
internship requirement, position requirement, dormitory, shuttle bus and safety. During the internship,
the interns attended the Group’s career orientation courses, such as “Time Management” and “Effective
Communication”; the HR department would also get informed of the interns’ status through departments
regularly. The internship program provided the interns with an opportunity to learn and practice, and was
well-received by the interns and the community.

The Group took a proactive stance in participating in community services, supporting charities, assuming
corporate social responsibility and was awarded “A-Class Social Responsibility Construction Enterprise in
Hangzhou City”. As a response to the Development Zone’s call, the CPMC committee organized the staff to
participate in blood donation. During the 4.20 Mount Lu earthquake, the staff of Chengdu company of the
Group proactively participated in the rescuing operation and assisted COFCO in delivering the emergency
supplies to the affected areas. The staff of the Group continued to partake in China Foundation for Poverty
Alleviation’s monthly donation program and offered small donations voluntarily each month. In 2013, the
staff’'s total donation amounted to approximately RMB250,000 and received full acknowledgement and
encouragement from the Foundation. Such donations shall continue on in the future.
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Awarded the title of “A-Class Social
Responsibility Construction Enterprise
in Hangzhou City "
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

ZHOU Zheng NING Gaoning WANG Jinchang ZHANG Xin WAN Zaotian

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

WANG Jinchang, aged 59, is an executive Director and the Chairman of the Board of the Company. Mr. Wang is primarily
responsible for the overall management, major decision-making, strategic planning and business development of the Group.
He joined COFCO in 1990 and has served as the deputy director and director of the general manager's office, general
manager of the corporate management department of COFCO, as well as the chairman and general manager of COFCO
Development Company Limited. He joined the Group in December 2000 and was appointed as a Director and the Chairman
of the Board of the Company on 23 June 2008 and 16 January 2011 respectively. He has over ten years of experience in the
packaging industry. Mr. Wang has served as an assistant to the chairman of COFCO since 2007 and has been in charge of
the packaging business. Mr. Wang graduated from the Hebei University in 1978, with a major in Mathematics.

ZHANG Xin, aged 51, is an executive Director and a general manager of the Company. Mr. Zhang is primarily responsible
for the operation management of the Group. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in January 1995, and was appointed a Director on
23 June 2008. He has almost 20 years of experience in the packaging industry. Mr. Zhang has been the vice president of
the China Packaging Federation since November 2011. Mr. Zhang received a bachelor’'s degree in Aeronautical Machinery
Processing from Nanchang Institute of Aeronautical Technology (now known as Nanchang Hangkong University) in 1983
and a master's degree in Business Administration from the University of Southeastern China in 2002. In 2005, Mr. Zhang
was awarded the Governmental Special Allowance by the State Council of the PRC for his outstanding contributions to the
development of engineering technology in the PRC. He is a senior engineer.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

ZHOU Zheng, aged 51, is a non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Zhou is primarily responsible for providing constant
advice and guidance at the strategic level over the operations of the Group. Mr. Zhou joined the Group in November 1994,
and was appointed as a Director on 23 June 2008. He has over 15 years of experience in the packaging industry. He is
currently a vice president of COFCO. He has held the positions of the chairman of the board of COFCO Property (Group)
Co., Ltd., a member of the COFCO which is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, since January 2011. He has been the
chairman of the board of COFCO Land Holdings Limited (formally known as “The Hong Kong Parkview Group Limited”), which
is a listed company in the Stock Exchange, since December 2013. Mr. Zhou received a bachelor’s degree in Aeronautical
Machinery Processing from Nanchang Institute of Aeronautical Technology (now known as Nanchang Hangkong University) in
1983 and a master’s degree in Aeronautical and Aerospace Manufacturing Engineering from Beijing University of Aeronautics
& Astronautics in 1992. In 2007, Mr. Zhou was awarded the Governmental Special Allowance by the State Council of the PRC
for his outstanding contributions to the development of packaging industry in the PRC. He is a senior engineer.

Wan Zaotian, aged 52, is a non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Wan joined COFCO in 2006 and joined the Group
on 26 July 2013. He is currently a vice president of COFCO and a member of the Communist Party Committee of COFCO.
Mr. Wan received a bachelor’s degree in Agronomy from Huazhong Agricultural University in 1983, and graduated from the
School of Government of Peking University, majoring in administration management, with a master's degree in management
in 2004. Mr. Wan completed his EMBA Programme at Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business with a master’s degree in
2009. Mr. Wan has extensive experience in business management and has accumulated more than 30 years of experience in
several industries including the Ministry of Agriculture of the People’s Republic of China, China National Fisheries Corporation
and China Grains and Oils Group Corporation.

NING Gaoning, aged 55, is a non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Ning takes a supervisory role on the strategic and
budget planning of the Group. Mr. Ning joined COFCO in December 2004 and was appointed as a Director of the Group on
23 June 2008. He has over 20 years of experience in corporate management, investment and corporate finance, business
restructurings and governmental relations. Mr. Ning has held the positions of the chairman of the board and non-executive
director of China Agri since January 2007 and ceased to be the chairman of the board of China Agri-Industries Holdings
Limited (“China Agri”) since March 2012 but remained as the non-executive director. He was the chairman of the board and
executive director of China Foods Limited (“China Foods”) since January 2005 and ceased to be the chairman of the board
of China Foods since March 2012 but remains as the executive director. He has been the chairman of the board of COFCO
(HK) and Top Glory International Holdings Limited and a director of Wide Smart since January 2005, and the chairman of
the board of COFCO since December 2004. Mr. Ning has been a non-executive director and chairman of China Mengniu
Dairy Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange, an independent director of Hua Yuan Property Co., Ltd.,
a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, since October 2008. Mr. Ning has been a director of BOC International
Holdings Limited since December 2003. Since August 2012, he has also been an independent non-executive director of BOC
Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange. He received a bachelor’'s degree in Economics from
Shandong University in 1983, and a master’s degree in Business Administration from the University of Pittsburgh in 1985.
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Andrew Y. YAN FU Tingmei HU Yonglei SHI Wanpeng CHENG Yuk Wo

HU Yonglei, aged 46, is a non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Hu is primarily responsible for reviewing the financial
reporting procedures and internal control system of the Company. Mr. Hu joined COFCO in 2005 and the Group when he was
appointed as a Director on 23 June 2008. Mr. Hu has over 10 years of experience in investment management. Mr. Hu held the
position of general manager of strategic division of China Agri from March 2007 to April 2009. Currently, he is a deputy head
of the strategy department and general manager of the investment management division of COFCO. Mr. Hu also held positions
as a director from December 2005 to August 2008 of China Resources (Jilin) Bio-chemical Co., Ltd. (now known as Xi'an Aero-
engine Plc), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Hu received a bachelor’s degree in Engineering from Xi'an
Jiaotong University in 1989 and a master’s degree in Economics from Renmin University of China in 1992.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

SHI Wanpeng, aged 77, is an independent non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Shi was appointed as a Director on 23
June 2008 and resigned on 17 March 2014. Mr. Shi has over 10 years of experience in the packaging industry and several years of
experience in economic management. Mr. Shi has held the position of chairman of the China Packaging Federation since October
2003. He was a standing commissioner of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and
an alternate member of the Central Committee of the Chinese Communist Party and he had also served in various government
departments. Mr. Shi held position as an independent non-executive director of China South City Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange, from September 2009 to February 2012 and an independent director of Huabei Expressway Co.,
Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, from January 2008 to February 2011. Mr. Shi has been an independent
director of ORG Packaging Co., Ltd. since October 2012 respectively, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

CHENG Yuk Wo, aged 53, is an independent non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Cheng was appointed a Director
on 23 June 2008. Mr. Cheng is a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario, Canada. Mr.
Cheng has over 20 years of experience in auditing, finance and business management. He has been the sole proprietor of
Erik Cheng & Co., Certified Public Accountants in Hong Kong since 1999. Mr. Cheng is currently an executive director of
21 Holdings Limited and an independent non-executive director of the following companies which are listed on the Stock
Exchange, included CSI Properties Limited (formerly known as Capital Strategic Investment Limited), HKC (Holdings) Limited,
C.P. Lotus Corporation, Chong Hing Bank Limited, Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited, South China Land Limited, Goldbond
Group Holdings Limited, Imagi International Holdings Limited and Top Spring International Holdings Limited. Mr. Cheng
received a bachelor’s degree in Accounting from the University of Kent, England in 1983 and a master’s degree in Accounting
and Finance from the University of London, England in 1984.

FU Tingmei, aged 47, is an independent non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Fu was appointed as a Director on 23
June 2008. Mr. Fu has extensive experiences in investment, finance, law and business management. Between 1992 and
2008, he conducted many corporate finance transactions in several investment banking firms based in Hong Kong including
serving as a director of Peregrine Capital Limited, and a deputy managing director and subsequently promoted as a
managing director of BNP Paribas Peregrine Capital Limited. Mr. Fu is currently engaged in private investments business. He
is currently also an independent non-executive director of Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited and Guotai Junan International
Holdings Limited, both listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Fu graduated from the University of London with a master’s degree
and a doctorate degree in Law in 1989 and 1993, respectively.

Andrew Y. YAN, aged 56, is an independent non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Yan was appointed as a Director on 17 March
2014. Mr. Yan is a recipient of 2012 China’s national “Thousand Talents Program” and a member of its Selection Committee in 2012.
He is a founding director of China Venture and Private Equity Association, and a director of Peking University Endowment Investment
Committee. Mr. Yan holds a number of directorships in listed companies. He is (a) an independent non-executive director of China
Petroleum & Chemical Corporation, China Resources Land Limited and Fosun International Limited; (b) a non-executive director of
Guodian Technology & Environment Group Corporation Limited, Digital China Holdings Limited, China Huiyuan Juice Group Limited,
eSun Holdings Limited and MOBI Development Co., Ltd. (all listed in the Stock Exchange; in addition, China Petroleum & Chemical
Corporation is also listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, London Stock Exchange and New York Stock Exchange); (c) an independent
director of Giant Interactive Group Inc. (listed on the New York Stock Exchange); and (d) a director of Acorn International Inc., China
Digital TV Holding Co., Ltd. (both listed on the New York Stock Exchange), ATA Inc. (listed on the NASDAQ) and Shenzhen Eternal Asia
Supply Chain Management Ltd. (listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange). Mr. Yan was a director of Global Education & Technology
Group Ltd. (which was formerly listed on the NASDAQ) from March 2007 to December 2011, the shares of which were withdrawn from
listing on the NASDAQ in December 2011. Mr. Yan was a non-executive director of NVC Lighting Holding Limited from October 2006
to April 2013 and an independent non-executive director of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited from January 2013 to March 2014.
Mr. Yan has over 30 years of rich and excellence working experience in risk management. Mr Yan is currently the Founding Managing
Partner of SAIF Partners. Prior to joining SAIF, he was the Managing Director and Head of the Hong Kong office of the Emerging Markets
Partnership from 1994 until 2001. From 1989 to 1994, he worked in the World Bank in Washington, the Hudson Institute and US Sprint
Co. as an Economist, research fellow and director of strategic planning and business development for Asia Pacific Region respectively.
From 1982 to 1984, he was the Chief Engineer at the Jianghuai Airplane Corp. Mr. Yan received a Bachelor's degree in Engineering from
Nanijing Aeronautic Institute in 1982. He studied in the Master Program in Department of Sociology of Peking University from 1984 to 1986
and received a Master of Arts’ degree from Princeton University in International Political Economy in 1989. Mr. Yan also studied advanced
finance & accounting courses at the Wharton Business School in 1995.
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Report of the Directors

The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
20183.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries of the
Company are manufacturing of packaging products for consumer goods. There were no significant changes in
the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year ended 31 December 2013.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2013 and the state of affairs of the Company and the Group
as of that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 102 to 203. The Directors recommended the
payment of a final dividend of RMB0.035 (equivalent to HK4.4 cents) per ordinary Share for the year ended 31
December 2013 (2012: RMBO0.029, equivalent to HK3.5 cents). The dividend will be reflected as appropriations
of retained earnings for the year ended 31 December 2013. An interim dividend of RMB0.043 (equivalent to
HKS5.4 cents) per ordinary share was paid on 15 October 2013 (2012: RMB0.043, equivalent to HK5.3 cents).

The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2013 will be distributed on or after Friday, 11 July
2014 to shareholders whose names appear on the shareholders’ register of the Company on Wednesday, 18
June 2014 (the “Record Date”).

Pursuant to “Notice Regarding Matters on Determination of Tax Residence Status of Chinese-controlled Offshore
Incorporated Enterprises under Rules of Effective Management” (B EINEM e BB D EIKIBEREIR
HIBEERTFAERCEEHMENRA)) (the “Notice”), which was issued by the State Administration of
Taxation (the “SAT”) of the PRC on 22 April 2009 and implemented on 1 January 2008, enterprises controlled
by Chinese enterprises or enterprises groups and registered outside China shall be regarded as resident
enterprises with de facto management bodies located in China, or “offshore-registered resident enterprises”
GEEREMERDE), provided that all of the following criteria are present or effected in the PRC: (1) senior
management in charge of daily operations and offices; (2) decision-making or authorised departments
regarding financial management and human resources; (3) primary assets, accounting books, seals, records
and files of shareholders’ meetings or board of directors’ meetings; and (4) directors or senior management with
50% or more voting rights ordinarily reside in China. Whether or not a Chinese-controlled offshore enterprise is
an offshore-registered resident enterprise is subject to preliminary review by the local tax bureau where the de
facto management body of Chinese-controlled offshore enterprise or its controller is based and is subject to
final confirmation by SAT.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 9 June 2013, the Company had received the SAT
approvals which confirmed that the Company is a Chinese Resident Enterprise, effective from 1 January 2013.
Therefore, the Company will implement enterprise income tax withholding arrangement for the proposed year
2013 final dividend.

Pursuant to the Notice, the Enterprise Income Tax Law and the Implementation Rules, the Company is required
to withhold 10% enterprise income tax when it distributes the proposed year 2013 final dividend to its non-
resident enterprise shareholders. In respect of all shareholders whose names appear on the Company’s register
of members on the Record Date who are not individuals (including HKSCC Nominees Limited, corporate
nominees or trustees such as securities companies and banks, and other entities or organisations, which are all
considered as non-resident enterprise shareholders), the Company will distribute the proposed year 2013 final
dividend after deducting enterprise income tax of 10%. The Company will not withhold and pay the income tax
in respect of the proposed year 2013 final dividend payable to any natural person shareholders whose names
appear on the Company'’s register of members on the Record Date.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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If any resident enterprise (as defined in the Enterprise Income Tax Law) listed on the Company’s register of
members which is duly incorporated in the PRC or under the laws of a foreign country (or a region) but with a
PRC-based de facto management body, does not desire to have the Company withhold the said 10% enterprise
income tax, it should lodge with Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited documents from its
governing tax authority confirming that the Company is not required to withhold and pay enterprise income tax
in respect of the dividend that it is entitled at or before 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 13 June 2014.

Investors should read the above carefully. If anyone would like to change the identity of the holders in the
register of members, please enquire about the relevant procedures with the nominees or trustees. The Company
will withhold for payment of the enterprise income tax for its non-resident enterprise shareholders strictly in
accordance with the relevant laws and requirements of the relevant government departments and adhere strictly
to the information set out in the Company’s register of members on the Record Date. The Company assumes no
liability whatsoever and will not entertain any claims arising from any delay in, or inaccurate confirmation of, the
status of the shareholders or any disputes over the mechanism of withholding.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last
five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements and restated/reclassified as
appropriate, is set out on page 204. This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Company and the Group during the year are
set out in Note 14 to the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2013 are set out in
Note 28 to the financial statements.

A share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was conditionally approved by a written resolution of
the shareholder of the Company passed on 23 October 2009. The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing from 16 November 2009. The terms of the Share Option Scheme
are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, where appropriate.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract, retain and motivate senior management personnel and
key employees of the Group. The Board may, at its discretion and on such terms as it may think fit, grant to any
directors (executive or non-executive), supervisors, senior executives, key technical staff, managers, employees
of the Group an option to subscribe for the Shares under the Share Option Scheme.

An offer for grant of options under the Share Option Scheme must be accepted within 28 days on which such
offer was made. The amount payable by each grantee of options to the Company on acceptance of the offer
for the grant of options is HK$1.00. The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price at the discretion of the Board, provided that it shall be at
the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange on the date of offer; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date of the offer; or
(iii) the nominal value of the Shares on the date of offer.
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Report of the Directors

The Company shall be entitled to issue options, provided that the total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company does not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue
on the date when the Shares were first listed on the Stock Exchange. Where any grant of options to be made
to a substantial shareholder of the Company or any of his associates would result in the Shares in issue and
to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in any 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant:
(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue; and (i) having an aggregate value, based on the
closing price of the Shares at the date of grant, in excess of HK$5 million, then such grant of options shall be
subject to approval of the shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) in general meeting taken on a poll.

Details of the movements in the share options during the year ended 31 December 2013 are as follows:

Number of share options

Name or Granted Exercised Cancelled  Lapsed Date of grant Exercise
category of At during during during during At of share Exercise period price of
participants 01012013  theyear  theyear theyear  theyear 31.12.2013 options of share options share options
Directors
Mr. Wang Jinchang 600,000 - (120,000 - - 480,000 12102011  12.10.2013- 11.10.2018  HK$3.04
Mr. Zhang Xin 500,000 - (100,000 - - 400,000 12102011  12.10.2013- 11.10.2018  HK$3.04
Mr. Hu Yonglei 300,000 - (60,000 - - 240,000 12102011  12.10.2013- 11.10.2018 HK$3.04
Other employees
In aggregate 6,900,000 - (1,280,000) - (500,000) 5,120,000 12.10.2011  12.10.2013- 11.10.2018 HK$3.04

8,300,000 - (1,560,000) - (500,000) 6,240,000

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not adopted any other share option scheme during the year ended
31 December 2013.

RESERVES

The distributable reserves of the Company, calculated in accordance with the provisions of Section 79B of the
former Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong), amounted to approximately
RMB9,375,000 as at 31 December 2013. In addition, the Company’s share premium account, in the amount
of approximately RMB2,249,453,000 may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares. Details of
movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year are set out in Note 30(b) to the
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2013, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately
42.4% of the Group’s total sales. The five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 36.9% of
the Group’s total purchases for the year.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the

Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s
five largest customers or five largest suppliers during the year ended 31 December 2013.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. WANG Jinchang (Chairman)
Mr. ZHANG Xin (Managing Director)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. NING Gaoning

Mr. WAN Zaotian (appointed on 26 July 2013)
Mr. ZHOU Zheng

Mr. HU Yonglei

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. SHI Wanpeng (resigned on 17 March 2014)
Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo

Mr. FU Tingmei

Mr. Andrew Y. YAN (appointed on 17 March 2014)

In accordance with Article 103 and Article 108 of the Company’s Articles, Messrs. Zhang Xin, Hu Yonglei, Fu
Tingmei and Andrew Y. Yan will retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the 2014 AGM.

Commencing on 23 October 2009, each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for an initial term of three years. On 26 July 2013, Mr. Wan Zaotian signed a service contract with
the Company pursuant to which he was appointed for a term of three years as a non-executive Director. On
17 March 2014, Mr. Andrew Y. Yan signed a letter of appointment with the Company pursuant to which he was
appointed for a term of three years as an independent non-executive Director. Save as aforesaid, each of the
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter of appointment with the
Company under which he agreed to act as non-executive Director or independent non-executive Director for an
initial term of three years from 23 October 2009.

Each of these service agreements and letters of appointment will continue thereafter unless and until terminated
by either party by serving not less than three months’ prior written notice or three months salary in lieu of such
notice.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which cannot be terminated by the Group within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least every three years as required by the Company’s Articles.
The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all the independent

non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 40 to 41 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract or arrangement of significance
to the business of the Group to which the Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to the shareholders’ approval at general meetings. Other emoluments are
determined by the Remuneration Committee pursuant to the Company’s Articles with reference to market
conditions, Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

Details of the remuneration for Directors of the Company are set out in Note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2013, save as disclosed below, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company or
their associates had any interest in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which any Director or
chief executive of the Company was deemed or taken to be under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register kept by the Company or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Interests in underlying shares of the Company

Number of underlying

shares held in long position

Approximate
percentage of

Name of Director Capacity (Note 1) interests
Mr. Wang Jinchang Beneficial owner 480,000 0.05%
Mr. Zhang Xin Beneficial owner 400,000 0.04%
Mr. Hu Yonglei Beneficial owner 240,000 0.02%
Interests in underlying shares of associated corporation
Number of

Name of Director

Name of associated
corporations

Capacity

underlying shares
held in long position
(Note 1)

Approximate
percentage of
interests

Mr. Ning Gaoning
Mr. Ning Gaoning

Mr. Hu Yonglei

China Foods Limited
China Agri-Industries
Holdings Limited
China Agri-Industries
Holdings Limited

Beneficial owner
Beneficial owner

Beneficial owner

1,620,000
1,378,000

530,000

0.06% (Note 2)
0.03% (Note 3)

0.01% (Note 3)

Notes:

(1) Long position in the underlying shares of the relevant company under share options granted pursuant to the share
option scheme of the relevant company.

(2) The percentage is calculated based on the total number of shares of China Foods Limited in issue as at 31 December
2013, i.e. 2,797,223,396 shares.

(3) The percentage is calculated based on the total number of shares of China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited in issue as
at 31 December 2013, i.e. 5,249,880,788 shares.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND MANAGEMENT
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES DBCUS%\W@QES)
ERERDLRAT
As at 31 December 2013, so far as was known to the Directors, the following persons (other than the Directors
or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or as recorded in the register required kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:
Approximate
percentage
of aggregate CORPORATE
interests in GOVERNANCE
Capacity and nature Number of  issued share - iEf%Fﬂ
Substantial shareholders Notes of interest shares held capital* FrRaEE
Wide Smart Holdings Limited (1) & (2) Registered owner 599,999,940 60.15%
(“Wide Smart”)
COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited (1) Registered owner 60 0%
(“COFCO (HK)") (1) & (2) Beneficial owner 600,000,000 60.15%
COFCO Corporation (1) & (3) Interest of controlled 600,000,000 60.15% CORPORATE SOCIAL
("COFCOQO") corporations RESPONSIBILITY
_ REPORT
The Capital Group (1) & (4)  Interest of controlled 49,810,000 4.99% B
Companies, Inc. corporations
Capital Research and (1) & (4) Registered owner 49,810,000 4.99%
Management Company
Pine River Master Fund Ltd. (1) Registered owner 49,932,000 5.01%
Commonwealth Bank of Australia (1) & (5) Interest of controlled 50,099,000 5.02% D'RECTOEE,G'S?
corporations MANAGEMENT
PROFILE
Notes: BERESR
ERABBN
(1) Long positions in the shares of the Company.
(2) Wide Smart is a wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO (HK). Wide Smart acts as a nominee shareholder holding
599,999,940 shares in trust for COFCO (HK). COFCO (HK) is therefore the beneficial owner of the 599,999,940 shares
held by Wide Smart.

(3) COFCO (HK) and Wide Smart are wholly-owned subsidiaries of COFCO. COFCO is therefore deemed to be interested in
the 600,000,000 shares in aggregate held by COFCO (HK) and Wide Smart.
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(4) Capital Research and Management Company is wholly owned by The Capital Group Companies, Inc.. The Capital
Group Companies, Inc. is therefore deemed to be interested in the 49,810,000 shares held by Capital Research and
Management Company.

(5) Commonwealth Bank of Australia was deemed to be interested in these 50,099,000 Shares which were held through a
series of controlled corporations of Commonwealth Bank of Australia.

* The percentages are calculated based on the total number of shares of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2013,
i.e., 997,560,000 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, the Company had not been notified of any other persons
other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company who had an interest or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company, which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provision of
Divisions 2 and 3 of the Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to be recorded in the register of interests
required kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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. SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
DISCUSSION AND
%'\‘ig%%&,ﬂﬁ Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and to the knowledge of the Directors, the
' Company has maintained sufficient public float since the listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange on 16
November 2009.
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
The companies now comprising the Group had entered into a number of transactions with parties which
were connected persons of the Company under the Listing Rules. These transactions are considered to be
CORPORATE continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules, which need to be disclosed herein in compliance
gggg&?‘ANCE with the requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the continuing connected transactions
pEERE are as follows:
1. On 21 September 2010, the Company and COFCO Finance Company Limited (“COFCO Finance”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO, entered into a financial services agreement (“2010
Financial Services Agreement”). Details of the 2010 Financial Services Agreement were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 21 September 2010.
Pursuant to the 2010 Financial Services Agreement, COFCO Finance has agreed to provide to the Group
CORPORATE SOCIAL the following financial services for a term of three years commencing on 1 November 2010, the date on
SEEEQ?S‘B‘“W which the approval of the independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary general meeting:
TEHERT
wE (a) Deposit services
The maximum daily RMB deposit amount (including accrued interests) placed by the Group with
COFCO Finance shall not exceed RMB900 million. The deposit services and the above annual cap
were subject to the reporting, announcement, annual review and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
DIRECTORS AND (b) Entrustment loan services and other financial services
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT . . . .
PROFILE COFCO Finance has agreed to provide (i) the entrustment loan services to the Group pursuant to
f%&ﬁﬁ& which COFCO Finance only acts as agent of the Group and charge handling fees in connection
REARMA with the entrustment loan services; and (ii) other financial services, including settlement services,
forex trading services and other related consultancy and agency services to be provided by COFCO
Finance to the Group under the 2010 Financial Services Agreement. COFCO Finance will charge
handling fees in connection with the entrustment loan services and the other financial services for a
maximum annual cap not exceeding RMB5 million. The above entrustment loan services and the other
financial services were only subject to the reporting, announcement and annual review requirements

REPORT OF THE but are exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the

DIRECTORS Listing Rules.
e

For the period from 1 January 2013 to 29 October 2013, the maximum daily RMB deposit amounted to
RMB379,603,000, COFCO Finance provided loans of RMB158,000,000 and there was no transaction of
the entrustment loan services and the other financial services between the Company and COFCO Finance
under the 2010 Financial Services Agreement.
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On 8 November 2011, the Group entered into a framework agreement (the “Framework Agreement”) with
COFCO, pursuant to which the Group will supply a provision of various types and sizes of packaging
materials, products and related services (“Products and Related Services”) to COFCO and its subsidiaries
and associates other than the Group (“COFCO Group”) according to the latter’s specifications and at
prevailing market prices for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 2012. The Framework
Agreement may be renewed by agreement between the parties subject to obtaining the necessary
consents and approvals (if necessary) required by the Listing Rules. Details of the Framework Agreement
were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 8 November 2011. The approval of the
independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary general meeting held on 16 December 2011.

The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the Products and Related Services to be supplied to
COFCO Group in 2013 and 2014 did not and would not exceed RMB720,000,000 and RMB1,100,000,000
respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the aggregate value of the Products and Related Services to be
supplied to COFCO Group under the Framework Agreement was approximately RMB156,535,000.

On 18 September 2013, the Company and COFCO Finance, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
COFCO, entered into a financial services agreement (“2013 Financial Services Agreement”) in respect of
the renewal of the 2010 Financial Services Agreement. Details of the 2013 Financial Services Agreement
were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 18 September 2013.

Pursuant to the 2013 Financial Services Agreement, COFCO Finance has agreed to provide to the Group
the following financial services for a term of three years commencing on 30 October 2013, the date on
which the approval of the independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary general meeting:

(a) Deposit services

The maximum daily deposit amount (including accrued interests) placed by the Group with COFCO
Finance shall not exceed equivalent of RMB900 million. The deposit services and the above annual
cap were subject to the reporting, announcement, annual review and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(b) Entrustment loan services and other financial services

COFCO Finance has agreed to provide (i) the entrustment loan services to the Group pursuant to
which COFCO Finance only acts as agent of the Group and charge handling fees and other services
fees in connection with the entrustment loan services; and (ii) other financial services, including
settlement services, forex trading services and other related consultancy and agency services to be
provided by COFCO Finance to the Group under the 2013 Financial Services Agreement. COFCO
Finance will charge handling fees in connection with the entrustment loan services and the other
financial services for a maximum annual cap not exceeding RMB4 million. The above entrustment loan
services and the other financial services were only subject to the reporting, announcement and annual
review requirements but are exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For the period from 30 October 2013 to 31 December 2013, the maximum daily RMB deposit amounted
to RMB216,403,000, COFCO Finance provided loans of RMB100,000,000 and there was no transaction of
the entrustment loan services and the other financial services between the Company and COFCO Finance
under the 2013 Financial Services Agreement.
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Report of the Directors

Annual review of continuing connected transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing connected transactions
numbered 1 to 3 for the year ended 31 December 2013 and confirmed that the above continuing connected
transactions were:

1. entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

2. entered into on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favorable to the Group than those available
to or from independent third parties, and

3. in accordance with the terms of respective agreements governing the above continuing connected
transactions that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on the Group's continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference to Practice
Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed above
by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter has been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in Note 36 to the audited financial statements also constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules which
are required to be disclosed in this report in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The related
party transactions in relation to the key management personnel remuneration as disclosed in Note 36(d) to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report include connected transactions exempt from reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.31(6) of the
Listing Rules. Save as the aforesaid and the continuing connected transactions disclosed above, the Directors
consider that all other related party transactions disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report did not fall under the definition of “connected transactions” or “continuing connected
transactions” (as the case may be) under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which are required to comply with
any of the reporting, annual review, announcement, or independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules. The Company confirms it has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

No Directors are considered to have interests in any business which is likely to compete directly or indirectly
with that of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 December 2013.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Directors consider that the Company has complied with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2013.
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Report of the Directors

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2014 AGM will be held on Friday, 6 June 2014.
CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining Shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at the 2014 AGM

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration 4:30 p.m. on 30 May 2014

Closure of Register of members 3 June to 6 June 2014 (both dates inclusive)
Record date 6 June 2014

For determining Shareholders’ entitlement to the final dividend

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration 4:30 p.m. on 13 June 2014

Closure of Register of members 16 June to 18 June 2014 (both dates inclusive)
Record date 18 June 2014

In order to qualify for the entitlement of the proposed final dividend and to attend the 2014 AGM, shareholders
should contact the Company’s Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-

1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong on the matters such as
transfer of shares, change of name or address, or loss of share certificates.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at
the 2014 AGM.

Wang Jinchang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2014
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Independent Auditors’ Report

ﬁ_ﬂ?gﬁﬁfﬁiﬁi

EY =i

To the shareholders of CPMC Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CPMC
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) set out on pages 102 to 203, which comprise the
consolidated and company statements of financial position as
at 31 December 2013, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 141 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig @& B R A F)
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Auditors’ responsibility (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2013, and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

22/F, CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

26 March 2014
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

Year ended 31 December 2013

mEEmR

HZE2013F 128318 HFE
INDEPENDENT 2013 2012
SR Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
BUYERE HiaF AR%T T ARETIT
REVENUE WA ) 5,257,482 5,045,962
Cost of sales SHEM A 6 (4,314,924) (4,202,510)
Gross profit FEAH 942,558 843,452
Other income and gains — net EUA RS — 55 5 96,558 86,759
CONSOLIDATED Selling and marketing expenses 5% & & HE A (231,061) (204,694)
STATEMENT Administrative expenses THEA (264,334) (241,854)
O OFIT OR Finance costs B TSE 7 (43,454) (45,973)
PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX  BRFT{5%:iA175E 6 500,267 437,690
Income tax expense FriSfis = 10 (108,355) (105,131)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEANE 391,912 332,559
Attributable to: FEAG -
Equity holders of the Company RABIRAEFE A 11 386,121 322,681
Non-controlling interests JEVERR R 5,791 0,878
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF 391,912 332,559
COMPREHENSIVE -
INCOME EARNINGS PER SHARE AT EIBRR
FRTERAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO BAEEFEEA
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS FE(LERER
OF THE COMPANY 13
Basic (RMB) AR (ARET) 0.39 0.37
Diluted (RMB) #wE (ARBIT) 0.39 0.37
CONSOLIDATED _ o o e Ay g
STATEMENT Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are FEEMNBRE RBIRREF BRI B ®
gg;’ﬁémcm disclosed in Note 12 to the financial statements. KMtzE12 EITHE -
REBBRRE
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN
EQUITY

GAEREHR
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
et SR HEIUW AR

2013 2012 INDEPENDENT
RMB’000 RMB'000 o
AR%T T ARBTFT BunHiRs
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AND  EEFIEK
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EERHBALE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 391,912 332,559
Attributable to: Mg
Equity holders of the Company PiN/NC P Z ST SN 386,121 322,681
Non-controlling interests IR 5,791 9,878
391,912 332,559 CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR
LOSS

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
FERARAR

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
FAMBRRE

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN
EQUITY

FARGEDR
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2013 2012
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bfat AR¥T R ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENEE 14 3,410,842 2,598,664
Prepaid land lease payments TEfT T E R 15 286,696 149,582
Deposits for purchase of items of HE¥% - BKE R
property, plant and equipment HENIES 54,606 343,136
Goodwill S 16 201,187 103,295
Other intangible assets Hth\mEEE 17 41,638 7,383
Deferred tax assets RIETIEEE 27 14,501 16,087
Prepayments, deposits and BN Eek
other receivables E Ao EUGK 21 1,802 1,221
Total non-current assets RIERBEE 4,011,272 3,219,368
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 19 866,645 900,327
Trade and bills receivables B 5 UG R B 20 775,795 698,258
Prepayments, deposits and FERR Eek
other receivables E b EUR 21 476,563 392,151
Pledged deposits BT 22 15,938 31,647
Cash and cash equivalents B RIS EEY 22 987,382 1,677,297
Total current assets RBAaE 3,122,323 3,699,680
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade and bills payables B I ENFRENEE 24 633,203 496,939
Other payables and accruals HivE R ETER 25 374,615 293,591
Interest-bearing bank and FHERITREAEK
other borrowings 26 2,079,762 1,603,809
Tax payable FERTIIA 32,484 43,759
Total current liabilities BnEaE 3,120,064 2,438,098
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFHE 2,259 1,261,582
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEERRBEMS
CURRENT LIABILITIES 4,013,531 4,480,950

CPMC Holdings Limited g2 AIR AR



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2013 %éﬂjﬁﬂﬁ;ﬂ,%

R2013F12A31H

2013 2012 INDEPENDENT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000 v
HiaF AR%T T AREFIT BUBHERE
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEERRDAE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 4,013,531 4,480,950
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings s+ 8R1TE 26 12,090 817,115
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIBEE 27 9,842 3,055
Government grants RGN 8,901 9,108
Other liabilities HEmaE 12,880 - CONSOLIDATED
Total non-current liabilities BIERBBE 43,713 829,278 OFS;QTOEF’Y'TEQ;
Net assets FEE 3,969,818 3,651,672 i‘/\}LO;S
EQUITY = ’
Equity attributable to equity EATRAEFEA
holders of the Company bR
Issued capital BEITRA 28 86,715 86,591
Reserves G 30(a) 3,748,732 3,434,921
Proposed final dividend R R BARE B 12 34,915 28,884
3,870,362 3,550,396 CONSOLIDATED
Non-controlling interests R ER 99,456 101,276 STATEMENT OF
, e COMPREHENSIVE
Total equity ek 3,969,818 3,651,672 INCOME
FEZEBAR
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
WANG JINCHANG ZHANG XIN
FE£8 R
Director Director
= EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
AR ER o

INDEPENDENT Attributable to equity holders of the Company
AUDITORS ARARKSEAELR
REPORT
BUGEMRE Employee
share-hased Non-
Issued  compensation Capital ~ Statutory ~ Retained  Proposed controlling Total
capital reserve  reserves  reserves profits ~ dividend Total interests equity
HERZAH

BRTR% REMERE  ERBR  EERE  BRAE  ARRR ait  FERER L3
Notes  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

M ARETR  ARMTR  ARBTR ARMTR ARBTR  ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARMTR

Asat 1 January 2012 H201261A18 73,080 392 1,767,499 39,794 644,498 29050 2554313 84052 2638365
CONSOLIDATED Total comprehensive income  £E 2 AR A2H
STATEMENT for the year - - - - 322,681 - 322,681 9878 332,569
OF PROFIT OR 2011 final divicend declared 2SR ERERE - - - S S (29050)  (29,050) = (29,050)
LOSS 2012 inerim dividend D1ERERE ? - - - - (360) - (36%) S (B6)
ABRER Proposed 2012 final dividend  #E2012%
KRS 12 - - - - (28,884) 28,884 - - -
Issue of shares ¥k 28 13511 - 730,958 - - - 744,469 - 744,469
Share issue expenses PR GIE 28 - - 8721) - - - (8721) - 8721)
Unilateral capital contribution  ZAZIRARAA
toasubsidiary by equity ~ ¥-FIKBAR
holders of the Company {FEHERETE = = 439 = = = 439 (439) =
Equiy-setled share option B EBRRERH
arrangements 29 - 1,995 - - - - 1,956 - 1,955
e hoqustonof sbsidees  WEHEDT 31 - - - - - - I ).
COMPREHENSIVE Capital contributions from  HERRE 2 1H4
INCOME non-controlling shareholders = S = - - - - 943 943
Fa2EMAL Appropriation to the AREEERE
statutory reserves 30 - - - 30,683 (30,683) - - - -
As at 31 December 2012and 12012512531H
1 January 2013 R013E1A1A 86,591 2,347 2,490,175 70477 871,922 28,884 3,550,396 101,276 3,651,672
Total comprehensive FERENAEE
income for the year - - - - 386,121 - 386,121 5,791 391,912
2012 final dividend declared £ E520124
*HRE 2 - - - - - (g8 (288%) - (8s8)
CONSOLIDATED Issue of shares Bk 28 124 (1,234) 4,867 - - - 3,757 - 3,757
STATEMENT Equity-settled share option ~ E&EEERESH
OF FINANCIAL anangements 2 - 1,72 - - - - 1,726 - 1,726
EOASQ%’: - Transfer of shareoption ~ FRIERERER
R reserve upon the forfelture  EEREEHE
of share options - (228) - - 228 - - - -
Acquisition of non-controlling 4B sEERER
interests - - 1) - - - 1) (611) (7587)
2013 interim dividend 13ERRE 2 - - - - (28 - (s - (28n)
Proposed 2013 final dividend  $ER013EKERE 12 - - - - (34,915) 34,915 - - -
Appropriation to the PREEERE
statutory reserves 30 - - - 139,926 (139,926) - - - -
CONSOLIDATED As at 31 December 2013 H2013F12A318 86,715 2,611 2,495,116 210,403 1,040,602 34915 3,870,362 99,456 3,969,818
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN
EQUITY *  These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of Y RERERABKGEE BN ERTL
RaRZBBR RMB3,748,732,000 (2012: RMB3,434,921,000) in the consolidated AR B R A #53,748,732,0007T (2012

statement of financial position. F : AKH#3,434,921,000T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
esssioeme e SR I SIEBE IR

2013 2012 CONSOLIDATED
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000 S ASH FLow
HiF ARBTF T AR¥ETT BARLRER
CASH FLOWS FROM KETHEEZ
OPERATING ACTIVITIES HERE
Profit before income tax: BTSRRI RE ¢ 500,267 437,690
Adjustments for: TR
Finance costs % ER 7 43,454 45,973
Interest income B A 5 (19,086) (28,391)
Write-off of intangible assets MismEEE 17 89 -
Loss on disposal of items of HEWE - BBk oF P
property, plant and equipment KB 5 3,676 3,057 POSITION
Gain on bargain purchase EEUE W 5 - (902) HERRE
Depreciation e 6 184,291 139,706
Amortisation of land lease TR E SR
payments 6 3,870 3,556
Amortisation of other intangible HihER AR
assets 6 5,190 1,305
Impairment of trade receivables 8 5 W&
and other receivables H A EWGORE 6 1,647 860
(Reversal of provision)/provision — 77& (BE#E) /B F’mﬁg&\?
against inventories 6 (709) 2,033 STATEMENTS
Write-back of other payables Ho A sk e 5 (1,567) - B M E
Foreign exchange losses/ bE S EiE (as) JF5E
(gains), net ) 3,329 (1,330)
Equity-settled share option i E BRI
expense 6 1,726 1,955
726,177 605,512
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 1F&# 4>,/ (3&h0) 79,310 (26,947)
Increase in trade and bills B 5 RE U R I e I EE 1 0
. FIVE-YEAR
receivables (6,908) (75,800) FINANCIAL
Decrease in prepayments, AR - He REAM SUMMARY
deposits and other receivables FEUOR A 50,605 156,564 LFERBHE
Decrease in pledged deposits BEBEFTR LD 15,560 17,464
Increase/(decrease) in trade B HENT R
and bills payables FERTE=IEIE I, (R L) 113,928 (360,486)
Decrease in other payables H b e
and accruals and other liabilities  JEFt R R EME &R (99,584) (73,215)
Decrease in government grants B # Bl 4> (207) (207)
Cash generated from operations ~ &E&LE4 VIHE 878,881 242,885
Interest paid BEAFE (43,454) (41,985)
Mainland China tax paid BB E (123,555) (92,570)
Net cash flows from operating TR EL
activities ZIRE R 711,872 108,330
Annual Report 2013 2013E FE s 1 07




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= A; ﬁ:t = Year ended 31 December 2013
" LEE
mERERER 20135123318 L5 E

CONSOLIDATED 2013 2012
gf\@LE'FV'LEgJ:sO ' Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BARSHER HiiF ARMTF T AREBTTT
CASH FLOWS FROM REREZHZ
INVESTING ACTIVITIES HERE
Interest received B FE 5 19,086 28,391
Purchases of items of property, BEWE  BE
plant and equipment HiE (885,372) (827,171)
Decrease/(increase) in deposits BB % - HE KRG
for purchase of items wizEeR L (35)
STATEMENT of property, plant and equipment 288,530 (80,413)
OF FINANGIAL Proceeds from disposal of HEME - BERERE
POSITION items of property, plant and FR1S 38
BsHAR equipment 39,595 1,922
Additions to prepaid land FEAT T A & R N
lease payments 15 (152,519) (13,255)
Additions to other intangible EfbmA & EE
assets 17 (2,887) (3,003)
Acquisition of subsidiaries BANB AR 31 (152,009) (47,447)
Interest paid BRFE - (3,988)
Net cash flows used in BREESFERZ
NOTES TO investing activities BEmFE (845,576) (944,964)
kA CASH FLOWS FROM RMETBELN
P FINANCING ACTIVITIES BeFE
New bank loans FERITEN 310,108 1,030,260
Other loans from COFCO REFRMBERET
Finance Corporation Limited A ([HEM®]) 2
(“COFCO Finance”) HEMER 341,000 347,000
Proceeds from issue of shares BT 2 PRSI 28 3,757 744,469
Share issue expenses AR EE1 TR 28 - (8,721)
Repayment of bank loans BEBITER (605,859) (998,397)
e Repayment of other loans from EEH Eﬁaﬁ%
R COFCO Finance H &R (500,000) (144,000
SUMMARY Dividends paid BARE (71,712) (64,740)
AENHHE Long-term payable paid B REBERR - (1,094)
Capital contribution from IR R 20 E
non-controlling shareholders - 943
Net cash flows (used in)/from BEES (FTA),/ EEz
financing activities REMFE (522,706) 905,720
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE ReERBESEEY
IN CASH AND CASH (m4>),/ 8 b0 B
EQUIVALENTS (656,410) 69,086
Cash and cash equivalents FYRe MRE
at beginning of year ZED 1,677,297 1,611,816
Effect of foreign exchange [RGB
rate changes, net (33,505) (3,605)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R BEERHEZEEY
AT END OF YEAR 987,382 1,677,297
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF WR&RBEEZEY
CASH AND CASH REER DT
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances Be MIRTTHER 22 987,382 1,677,297
‘| 08 CPMC Holdings Limited 1§ 15 {2 A R A 7




Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 December 2013

#2013F12A31H

B AR 2R

2013 2012
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaF ARET T ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENEE 14 40 143
Investments in subsidiaries RETBRARMIEE 18 1,872,464 2,667,865
Total non-current assets RIEREEE 1,872,504 2,668,008
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Due from subsidiaries FE U B N Rl N IE 18 1,797,369 874,519
Prepayments, deposits and AR Eek
other receivables EAth EUGK 21 2,618 12,055
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 22 569,693 756,732
Total current assets BREMEE 2,369,680 1,643,306
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables and accruals HibE N R ETTER 25 21,920 30,078
Interest-bearing bank borrowings £+ ER1TE R 26 1,975,504 1,188,565
Total current liabilities ERENAaE 1,997,424 1,218,643
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEEE 372,256 424,663
TOTAL ASSETS LESS HEERRBER
CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,244,760 3,092,671
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREBEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings £+ ER1TE R 26 - 817,115
Total non-current liabilities RIERFEE - 817,115
Net assets FEE 2,244,760 2,275,556
EQUITY R
Issued capital BT 28 86,715 86,591
Reserves G 30(b) 2,123,130 2,160,081
Proposed final dividend BORAREAR B 12 34,915 28,884
Total equity B 2,244,760 2,275,556
WANG JINCHANG ZHANG XIN
F£E R
Director Director
EFE 3
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Notes to Financial Statements

BF 755 R AR B

2.1

31 December 2013
2013%12A31H

Corporate information

CPMC Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. On 16
November 2009, the Company listed its shares on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the Company
is located at 33/F, Top Glory Tower, 262 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the manufacture of packaging
products including beverage cans, food cans, aerosol
cans, metal caps, printed and coated tinplates, steel
barrels and plastic packaging in Mainland China.

The Company is a subsidiary of COFCO (Hong Kong)
Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, the ultimate
holding company of the Company is COFCO Corporation
("COFCQ”), which is a state-owned enterprise registered
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “Mainland
China” or “China”).

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs”), which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for derivative financial instruments and contingent
consideration payables which have been measured at
fair value. These financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A7)
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2013 E\ji%i&%l}ﬁ%}

2013%12H31H

21 REEE (4F)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) CONSOLIDATED

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the
year ended 31 December 2013. The financial statements of
the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period
as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

HEE%E
BAMBRERBERARFREKB
N A E E2013%FE12A31B IE F &
MEB|RE - BRI ZHBHRE
TR AR A B ER 2z 3% 8L
AT BURAR - IWEARIMER
BAREENBZEGHEZ BREEA
IR WEZEHERLEERAIE—
BEHAAR -

STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FAESRER

STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive B REMETERA Z S B4R ET;BET}‘E%%N
K TAnN L

income are attributed to the equity holders of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described in the accounting policy for subsidiaries below.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling

MEBRARAZEATE ARIE
ZRRRE R - AR R S G BT
RESABEMGEH MEEHEARE
ERERREZRH ZEERNRT
MEENAME  #zm - WA FX
EReREGRHEE ARETHY

HEEMBEABRTIXHBLARZ
SRR =EENRAEZE S
—HEHZELREY  FEEeE
A EEEREHWRERAR - I
BREENEZMBAREAERE
BEPHURARZZ AR -

MASEERES —HHB LR =
R - R E R AR ()% P /B 2 A
ZEE (BEEE) hAE  (NE

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
B ERME

FIVE-YEAR
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences A FEIE AR A 25 2 BRTEME R (i) A HE FINANCIAL
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the WNREEk v RETIE R Z% 0 RER(®) ﬁ;;%g

A7 =

consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

PR E 2 A F1E - (i) PTRE 1
REZ AFER(IEREREMNR
SWELEZ BBREEE - TN AL
PHEHBRARER 2 N EEEGE D
EFOBRREBERABEEFTNE (RW
EBEE) EEEASEERLE
HEEESREMFEAZEEMNR
[ o
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Notes to Financial Statements
B F& SR F B 5F 31 December 2013
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The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial

statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments

HKFRS 7 Amendments

HKFRS 10
HKFRS 11
HKFRS 12
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11

and HKFRS 12
Amendments

HKFRS 13

HKAS 1 Amendments

HKAS 19 (2011)
HKAS 27 (2011)
HKAS 28 (2011)

HKAS 36 Amendments

HK (IFRIC)-Int 20

Annual Improvements
2009-2011 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Government
Loans

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures —
Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities

Consolidated Financial Statements

Joint Arrangements

Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11
and HKFRS 12 -Transition Guidance

Fair Value Measurement

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation
of Financial Statements —
Presentation of ltems of Other
Comprehensive Income

Employee Benefits

Separate Financial Statements

Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures

Amendments to HKAS 36 Impairment
of Assets — Recoverable Amount
Disclosures for Non-Financial
Assets (early adopted)

Stripping Costs in the Production
Phase of a Surface Mine

Amendments to a number of
HKFRSs issued in June 2012

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A7)

AREBERAFREZMBHRERBEIREK
MTIIFNET BB IERT 2 BB 5

g -

BRMKERE BREMBREENE1R
EBE15 BANRNE B BT
CHEY BB~ BT 57T

BRMKERE BRMBREENETR
EBE7H PHTA: #FE -5
(BRIK) iﬂﬁéﬁﬁéﬁzﬁﬁ (=9

EH

BRUBREE LFAUEHE
8IE 1057

ERUMBREE  AELH
BIE115%

BRMBREE REMERIEZRE
811125

ERUMBREE  BEUEREEDE0
BIE10% & % BAPBSREED
BRREE ERREBNERE

BIB1RRE  RRIR12% - BEE5
AUMBHEE 2T

81| 125%
({BFTK)

ERYMBREE LAFEHE
8| 135%

BRGTENET BECHENFIRIHK

3% (BRTK) HEANES - A 2E
WATEE Z5h 2 &
H]

BRCHENE ESEF
19% (20114F)

ERGTENE BUHKHE
275 (20114F)

BRGHENE RBELARSELEY
28% (2011F) K&

EEertEl e e F0HEE
F365% (&3] RE—HEBEES
x) A R E 2 BT

(RFHM)

&5 (BRI HABLEERYHE
2)-2E
E205

2009FE2011F  HR2012F6 %Mz %
ZEEEHZEEZE& BEBHBREERZ

= {E7]



2.2 Changes in accounting policies and

disclosures (continued)

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact
of HKFRS 7 Amendments, HKFRS 12 and HKFRS 13,
the adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs has had no
significant financial effect on these financial statements.

The HKFRS 7 Amendments require additional disclosures
about financial assets that have been transferred but not
derecognised to enable users of the Group’s financial
statements to understand the relationship of those assets
that have not been derecognised with their associated
liabilities. In addition, the amendments require disclosures
about the entity’s continuing involvement in derecognised
assets to enable users to evaluate the nature of, and
risks associated with, such involvement. Apart from the
additional disclosures for transactions involving the transfer
of financial assets in order to provide greater transparency
of risk exposures when financial assets are transferred and
derecognised, the adoption of the amendments did not
have any impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group. Details of the entity’s continuing involvement
in derecognised assets are included in note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 12 sets out the disclosure requirements for
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and structured
entities previously included in HKAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements, HKAS 31 Interests in Joint
Ventures and HKAS 28 Investments in Associates. It also
introduces a number of new disclosure requirements for
these entities. Details of the disclosures for subsidiaries are
included in note 18 to the financial statements.

HKFRS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value and
a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure
requirements for use across HKFRSs. The standard does
not change the circumstances in which the Group is
required to use fair value, but rather provides guidance on
how fair value should be applied where its use is already
required or permitted under other HKFRSs. HKFRS 13 is
applied prospectively and the adoption has had no material
impact on the Group’s fair value measurements. As a result
of the guidance in HKFRS 13, the policies for measuring
fair value have been amended. Additional disclosures
required by HKFRS 13 for the fair value measurements of
financial instruments are included in note 38 to the financial
statements.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
statement of profit or loss to the extent of dividends
received and receivable. The Company’s investments
in subsidiaries that are not classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For
each business combination, the Group elects whether to
measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of
liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by
the acquiree.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2013 E\ji%i&%l}ﬁ%}

2013%12H31H

24T EETBRBE

op N

ERp NIV RN IR - A kg2 ]
ZER(BREEABILIER)  -EX
SEH2EFRERNAEBNTH
(2] 5 7 42 = 3 = B #E N DA e BES
BEWIRE R 2 (BB AT
FAEEENATEHIRE R EIME
MEB 2 RAREN) PEZFER
- BIESHRGI4E -

EARBEERIEERAARRER
AL RZHORZRFEEN - K
SERFEERESHWKRERRE
BEtEBZEEMAEBERLE
o HR ek

(a) EWHERRWHEMTERES
BARNEHRYE

(b) BEMEHNLTHELHNER
4

(c) AEENKRERNELRERE -

F B R SR 48 A B M S AR B,
RRFFARRFHRERA - A A
REBFEBVHREERFSRILIED
BARBELENRHBARNKRE
THR AR R E R B ER -

EREHREE
EBEHINBEZEAR EE2
RETAKRE BN FEFE
ZAVER/RAEEEENEENK
BHHNAFE AKREHEEE
FRAERBEAREHNAEE K
7N 6 [ B 1T LA SR AR MK R 7 R )
MR AESZNENM REXEKE
B REBIEEZU QT EIIRL
Pl RS Al E R F B ER &
BRERMERERYE THERESE
ANEB BRI P DB R IE T %
BEMIFERBRER - AT
Pt s m H A AR X BB 0 3% X B AT
B o WA AN E £ o

EAKEWE-AXBE  @RE
BAER - RUE B IR ERE
REBGSE - FHEHARNERE
ENAE  MMFHEENDENE
N Hh 8 EBRKES XS 0F
RARDTETRETORE ©

Annual Report 2013 2013F FE R4

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FAESRER

STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
FBRRR

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
B ERME

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
HEPHHE

115



Notes to Financial Statements
E\ji%ﬁ%l}ﬁ%f 31 December 2013

2013%12H31H

2AFTESTHEBE ()

CONSOLIDATED 2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FAREMER

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
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NOTES TO
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39 is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
either recognised in profit or loss or as a change to other
comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration
is not within the scope of HKAS 39, it is measured in
accordance with the appropriate HKFRS. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured
and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and
other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is,
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups
of units.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative value
of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2013 E\ji%i&%l}ﬁ%}

2013%12H31H

24 TESHHEBE (H)

E¥BEHEEE (&)

BEBBTHEEEEENES
EXBEN(—HRESELEMN) B
ARECREETE - ERESELEEM
(—HRESEEEMN) A kE €58
EREESER  BEBBETIN
"R EREERANREBET
BRARKRAMAEE -

WEEEHIEZE—AREELS
i (Sk—4B3IR & EEEN) MZEN
MEDEBEHE  MEETHE
RIS B B - EATHEE
BHEBNEES AZESNER
B - EZEBATRENEE T
BIEBEMEEEBHNEAHEERRS
ELEBNARBHIEETTE -

AFEE
AEEBNSRERARIEAFETE
HTE LRI A - RFEAR EJri
HEMS2LHEERETNERFR
$ﬁ%§?%%mjL%EL%§
MEER - R FEEFAEDEREE
EERERABENRINEERA
BNEFEMGET HEREEXTE
MEHERT  BIREEREBED
&AM ST mﬁ& FEH&
ENTB VL ELNEEEANT
5o BESABENATFEDIERT
B2REAREESBBEERNAA
m&ﬂﬁiiﬁﬂm%/ﬂ%u
FERELENZHARITE) -

Annual Report 2013 2013F FE R4

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
FAESRER

STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
FBRRR

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
B ERME

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
HEPHHE

117



Notes to Financial Statements
E\ji%ﬁ%l}ﬁ%f 31 December 2013

2013%12H31H

24 TESHHEBE (8)

CONSOLIDATED 2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FAREMER

(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or
by selling it to another market participant that would use
the asset in its highest and best use.
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available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
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For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and
goodwill), the asset’'s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss
in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arises (only if there are revalued assets in the financial
statements), unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of impairment loss is
accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting
policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i)
(ii)

(iif)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a); and

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life, taking into
account its estimated residual value of 10%. The estimated
useful lives for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 20 to 30 years
Leasehold improvements 5 years
Machineries and equipment 12 to 20 years
Vehicles 5 years
Electronic equipment, office

equipment and fixtures 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss
in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.
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CONSOLIDATED 2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
FAREMER

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Construction in progress represents buildings, plants,
machineries and product lines under construction, or
renovation works in progress and is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing
costs on related borrowed funds during the period of
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when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
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indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If
not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite
to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Patents and licences

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 10 to 15 years.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or
loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale,
its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the
asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits,
the availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which
does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are stated at cost
less any impairment losses and are amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 8
years.

Customer relationship

Customer relationship represents the fair value attributable
to the customer base or existing contractual bids with
customers acquired as a result of business combination.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title,
are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a
finance lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised
at the present value of the minimum lease payments and
recorded together with the obligation, excluding the interest
element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held
under capitalised finance leases are included in property,
plant and equipment, and depreciated over the shorter
of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets. The finance costs of such leases are charged to
the statement of profit or loss so as to provide a constant
periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but
are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Leases (continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to the statement of
profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under
operating leases net of any incentives received from the
lessor are charged to the statement of profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and loans
and receivables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. When
financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured
at fair value plus transaction costs that are attributable to
the acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case of
financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the
near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging instruments as
defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with positive net changes in fair value presented as other
income and gains and negative net changes in fair value
presented as finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss. These net fair value changes do not include any
dividends or interest earned on these financial assets,
which are recognised in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date
of initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are
satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for
as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are
not held for trading or designated as at fair value through
profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if
there is either a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise
be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of
the fair value through profit or loss category.
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CONSOLIDATED 2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
FAREMER

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. After initial measurement,
such assets are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated
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part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest
rate amortisation is included in other income and gains
in the statement of profit or loss. The loss arising from
impairment is recognised in the statement of profit or loss
in finance costs for loan and in administrative expenses for
receivables.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
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delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In
that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment
exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group
of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually
for financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the
asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or
continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not yet been incurred).
The present value of the estimated future cash flows is
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition).
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues
to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and
is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount
the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with
any associated allowance are written off when there is no
realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has
been realised or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off
is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the statement
of profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills
payables, other payables and accruals, other liabilities and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date
of initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are
satisfied.

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such
as commodity futures contracts and foreign currency
contracts, to hedge its market price risk. Such derivative
financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value
on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into
and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives
are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as
liabilities when the fair value is negative.

The fair value of commodity purchase contracts that
meet the definition of a derivative as defined by HKAS
39 is recognised in the statement of profit or loss as
cost of sales. Commodity contracts that are entered into
and continue to be held for the purpose of the receipt or
delivery of a non-financial item in accordance with the
Group’s expected purchase, sale or usage requirements
are held at cost.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or
loss, except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges,
which is recognised in other comprehensive income and
later reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item
affects profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average
basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished
goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs
to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as
to use.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination
is initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is
measured at the higher of (i) the amount that would be
recognised in accordance with the general guidance for
provisions above; and (ii) the amount initially recognised
less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
in accordance with the guidance for revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e inrespect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences can
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate
to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the
costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released
to the statement of profit or loss over the expected useful
life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments
or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.
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CONSOLIDATED 2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FAREMER

(continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred
to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains

LN 34
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STATEMENT
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the goods sold;

(b) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms;

(c) interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset; and

(d) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.

Share-based payments
The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible

BRI
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receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to
the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in Note 29 to the
financial statements.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled in employee benefit expense. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at
the end of each reporting period until the vesting date
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired
and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to
the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately
vest, except for equity-settled transactions where vesting
is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition,
which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not
the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the share-
based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee
as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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CONSOLIDATED 2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Employee benefits

Pursuant to the relevant PRC laws and regulations,
each of the PRC subsidiaries of the Group is required
to participate in a retirement benefit scheme organised
by the local municipal government whereby the Group
is required to contribute a certain percentage of the
salaries of its employees to the retirement benefit
scheme. The only obligation of the Group with respect
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contribution retirement benefit scheme are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Pension scheme

The Group also operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong
Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for
the purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation
rate ranging between 1.97% and 5.29% has been applied
to the expenditure on the individual assets.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as
a separate allocation of retained profits within the equity
section of the statement of financial position, until they
have been approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. When these dividends have been approved by
the shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a
liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than the Renminbi. As at the end of
the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into the presentation currency of the
Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into Renminbi at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in retained
profits. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component
of other comprehensive income relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated
into Renminbi at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of
the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated
into Renminbi at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.

Significant accounting judgements and
estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.
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Significant accounting judgements and
estimates (continued)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements.

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of dividends
The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue for
withholding taxes arising from the distributions of dividends
from certain subsidiaries according to the relevant tax
jurisdictions is subject to judgement on the timing of the
payment of the dividends or the amount of profits to be
retained by the relevant subsidiaries. Further details are
given in Note 27.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill
at 31 December 2013 was RMB201,187,000 (2012:
RMB103,295,000). Further details are given in Note 16.

Income taxes

The Group is mainly subject to income taxes in the PRC.
Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2013 E\ji%i&%l}ﬁ%}

2013%12H31H

EXRSRIHE R AT (&)

L
218 R SR B T SR B TR
EIRIE B {E 1 DL T A OF Rtk 3
EBIN) - RS KB R P
RRNSBELRALE -

T IRAR B E R FELER
REEFBIEABBLE RERERED
HERBIRAETHBRRSIRR
BEAMERBARTE  BURRX
B RSB M B A R IR B
WA ESEMHE - E—SFBR
RKIFE27 -

EEr TR R
BRRRNEZBRZ MR BEHK
BEr THAMERMEMEZRR
(At A =B A BB T AN ERF
EREENBENREEFLARE
FENEARR) SFwmOT o

BERE
rEBEVEGFETHER G LR
B EHBECEHITESIEFIEMNER
CEEBEMNFERER - BEEHER
BEMNE  AEEEHATEKREZ
REeEEBNNRRBSTERIE
BEMREUFNEELRE S RENIR
B - R2013F12A31H * BEME
EE A AR #201,187,0007T (2012
& AR¥103,295,0007T) © BEE
BEERHIEE6 ©

Prid
AEETEFNPEBRMEHR -
EREMSRBERBFELEXR
HE - ERAEERBBRET  RER
ZRFAETIREEERLZENOR
Ko REBEAGBRREEHMNER
SRR - UBLTRMIR IS B R S EE
REE - WREFEEZIREBGHE
REENCHEARNESRTR @ &
FERReTERTREHR M
BB SR R B o

Annual Report 2013 2013F FE R4

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FAESRER

STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
FBRRR

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
B ERME

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
HEPHHE

139



CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FAREMER

STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
IBRRR

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
EPHHE

140

Notes to Financial Statements
E\ji%ﬁ%l}ﬁ%f 31 December 2013

2013%12H31H

Significant accounting judgements and
estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had deferred
tax assets of RMB14,501,000 (2012: RMB16,087,000)
and deferred tax liabilities of RMB9,842,000 (2012:
RMB3,055,000). To the extent it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences will be utilised, deferred tax assets
are recognised for temporary differences arising from
impairment provisions of property, plant and equipment,
inventories and receivables, decelerated tax depreciation
and amortisation, certain accrual items and unused tax
losses.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.
The amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December
2013 was RMB17,947,000 (2012: RMB10,678,000). Further
details are contained in Note 27 to the financial statements.

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment
The Group tests annually whether property, plant and
equipment have been impaired in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in Note 2.4 to the financial
statements. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating
units have been determined based on value-in-use
calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management
covering each asset’s remaining life. Cash flows applying
to each asset’'s remaining life are extrapolated using the
estimated growth rates.
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Operating segment information

For management purposes, the Group has one operating
segment of packaging products, which can be analysed by
three business units based on their products and services
as follows:

(a) Tinplate packaging — the Group uses tinplate as the
main raw material for its tinplate packaging products,
which include three-piece beverage cans, food cans
(including milk powder cans), aerosol cans, metal
caps, printed and coated tinplates, steel barrels and
other metal packaging;

(b) Aluminum packaging — the Group uses aluminum
as the main raw material for its aluminum packaging
products, which mainly consist of two-piece cans and
one-piece cans; and

(c) Plastic packaging — the Group’s plastic packaging
products are mainly used for milk bottles, shampoo
bottles, plastic device of electronic products, daily use
hardware, package printing, sports drink bottles and
related plastic-made products.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s business
units separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Business unit performance is evaluated based on revenue,
as explained in the table below:

4.
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RETBER

REEME  AEEE—ELED
M-BERER  AREERRRS
A= EEFBEL DT -

(a) FOHEBE -AKEEASFA
HEAESOHEEERNE
ZRME - HP BB =R R#
% RmiE (ERNHHE) R
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REMEBEEK

(b) #BEEK - AKEEMARELSE
RERERNIEZRENR
TEREMAERERE &

(c) ZBEE-AKENZESR
KERTERRYPH - KEK
- EFEMONZRBHME - A
REE  BEHR - EFHREH
S EIE Iy

EREEBERAREEBELN
& UBBERD B R RBAMAEIE
HORTE - EHEA R RE THIRIA
HEITRHE - TR -

Group

rEH
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T
Tinplate packaging B[REeE 2,909,518 3,436,077
Aluminum packaging iREaE 1,789,419 1,349,997
Plastic packaging BReR 558,545 259,888
5,257,482 5,045,962

The Group made certain adjustments to its business
classification during this financial year. The reallocation of
the three business units are based on the main raw material
used. After the acquisition of Victoria Industrial Limited
(“Victoria Industrial”) and its subsidiaries, the plastic
packaging unit has accounted for a larger proportion
of the Group. The Group provides a more appropriate
presentation for business units according to such criterion.
The relevant disclosure for the corresponding period of last
financial year have been restated accordingly.

AEERAFBFRERHEEH D
fEHETHE ZAXBELNE
MORDERMANEERMH -
RBEREEXZERLAR ([HAEE
X)) REMBARIK  ZRBEE
TTEAKRENBRALE - ARER
BUEEERERENZY - RE
—HRFERAENENERRED
HEES -
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4. Operating segment information (continued) 4.

Geographical information

As the Group’s major operations and customers are located
in Mainland China, no further geographical segment
information is provided.

Information about major customers

Revenue of approximately RMB2,230,455,000 (2012:
RMB2,397,318,000) was derived from the five largest
customers.

5. Revenue, other income and gains — net 5.
Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents
the net invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for

returns and trade discounts during the year.

An analysis of revenue, other income and net gains is as

e WEE (F)

i i3 & R
HRASEENEEEBERERHM
B A - SR — P
i D EER o

EBIXEEFMNESR
RAAMNBAREFHERAHARE
2,230,455,0007T (20124 : A R #
2,397,318,0007T) °

WA~ BB AR RS — F8
DO S kS
AMEEROETFE  ENRE
BRESHN -

AT REA - E A R F W as &

follows: T
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBTT
Revenue A
Sale of goods HEEMm 5,257,482 5,045,962
Other income HAg A
Bank interest income HRITFSHA 16,869 26,626
Interest income from COFCO Finance K E B IR R B U A
(Note 36(a)) (Ffi5E36(a)) 2,217 1,765
Government grants* TR e 76,033 50,624
95,119 79,015
Gains — net Wi — FEE
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME  WEK
plant and equipment HiEEE (3,676) (8,057)
Foreign exchange differences, net HNE Z=RE F R (3,329) 1,330
Gain on bargain purchase (Note 31) B (F1EE31) - 902
Write-back of other payables E A B SR 1,567 =
Other gains Hapzs 6,877 8,569
1,439 7,744
96,558 86,759

*

The government grants are granted by the local authority to
support local companies. There are no unfulfilled conditions
or contingencies relating to these grants.
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6. Profit before income tax 6. PBRFTSBLATRIE T
STATEMENT OF
The Group’s profit before income tax is arrived at after RNEBRFTEHATFE T &M F%%H;ioiwis
charging/(crediting): (BT A) LATIEB 1835 - B
2013 2012
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaF AR%T T ARBTFT
Cost of inventories sold BEHEFERA 4,315,633 4,195,263 OFSFTm/ICEm
Realised fair value losses of PTESRMIARER POSITION
derivative financial instruments, net A (EE 1B F5E 23 - 5,214 MR %
(Reversal of provision)/provision 78 (BmEEm),/
against inventories B (709) 2,033
Cost of sales SHEMA 4,314,924 4,202,510
Depreciation e 14 184,291 139,706
Amortisation of land lease payments 3t 70 & 3 # 15 3,870 3,556
Amortisation of other intangible E A A A
assets 17 5,190 1,305 NOTES TO
Research and development costs:  AZEA A : FINANCIAL
Current year expenditure REERX 21,704 8,270 s;\%%;%g
Minimum lease payments under KEHETEF “
operating leases for buildings BB
and warehouses e 18,327 21,470
Auditors’ remuneration ZE AN &
Audit services ZE RS 1,750 1,750
Non-audit services I ERTE 1,023 1,016
2,773 2,766
Impairment of trade receivables B S EBGRR Fﬁwmcﬁﬁ
and other receivables* H AW EOR A 1,647 860 SUMMARY
Employee benefit expense BEERNEMR HEPHHE
(including directors’ (BiEES
remuneration): ) -
Wages and salaries TERFS 368,082 354,374
Pension scheme contributions** RIREFT B 36,881 28,227
Other benefits H a7 41,431 38,781
Equity-settled share option R E EIRER
expense 1,726 1,955
448,120 423,337
* The impairment of trade receivables and other receivables i3 B SN E M EN S E TS5
are included in administrative expenses in the consolidated AFE B XA T EH -
statement of profit or loss.
**  As at 31 December 2013, the Group had no forfeited > RO013FE12H31H @ KNEEF I &
contributions available to reduce its contributions to the B GG m] (A B E R EE
pension schemes in the future year (2012: Nil). RIKDEHE R (20124 : #7)
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7. Finance costs

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

MIEE M

TN RMBERON

Group
REE
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTT
Interest on: B
Bank loans wholly repayable within ERAFEAEE
five years EERITER 52,804 55,567
Loans from COFCO Finance REPEIEHER
(Note 36(a)) (Mf7£36(a)) 10,816 6,217
Finance leases REHEE 259 108
Others Efth - 3,988
Total interest expense @R B 63,879 65,880
Less: Interest capitalised B BAREFE (20,425) (19,907)
43,454 45,973

8. Directors’ remuneration

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and
Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as

follows:

EEMS

ERNEEEIME DREE BB
ZSHERARESR ERA ([
MR AL BB A A G F 16116
BB T

Group
rEHE
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T
Fees for independent non-executive BUFRITES
directors Pk 400 406
Other emoluments: E A EE
Salaries, allowances and e R REYEF
benefits in kind 1,598 1,680
Performance related bonuses RIREERICAL 2,486 2,048
Equity-settled share option expense e 45 AR
(Note 29) (H1:£29) 290 328
Pension scheme contributions RIS AR 180 162
4,554 4,218
4,954 4,624
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8. Directors’ remuneration (continued) 8. EEMe (&)
During the year ended 31 December 2011, share options HZE2011F12A31HILLEE &F
were granted to directors, in respect of their services to the BREBEARNBZ BRESSIREER
Group, under the share option scheme of the Company, REBRENRBERBERE GE
further details of which are set out in Note 29 to the —HEH BRI R T B REMTE29) o
financial statements. The fair value of such options, which ZERFBHANTEERAERD
has been recognised in the statement of profit or loss BREATEDARELEBBHEE
over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of Mt ARFEMBEHRENESERD
grant and the amount included in the financial statements EPALMEEZHMEE
for the current year is included in the above directors’
remuneration disclosures.
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIUFHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FANTEYIFNITESNE
during the year were as follows: oy (N
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREFT
Mr. Shi Wanpeng* Vap=2Y it o - =
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo ERERAN S AE 200 203
Mr. Fu Tingmei BIEELE 200 203
400 406
There were no other emoluments payable to the FRNWEENTEIIFNTE
independent non-executive directors during the year EMEMEBEN (20126 « £&) o
(2012: Nil).
* Mr. Shi Wanpeng has agreed to waive his emoluments. *  ABEBAEERERERF
B -
(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) HITEERIHITES
Salaries, Equity-
allowances settled Pension
and benefits  Performance  share option scheme
in kind related expense contributions Total
RS- 3211 bonuses BRLE B{kE  remuneration
RENER RERBEA  BREREX SRR @ime
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETT AR¥TT AR¥TT AR%ETn AR%TR
2013 20136
Executive directors: HTES:
Mr. Wang Jinchang TeExE 799 1,187 124 90 2,200
Mr. Zhang Xin* RAL A 799 1,299 104 90 2,292
1,598 2,486 228 180 4,492
Non-executive directors:  JEHITES :
Mr. Ning Gaoning HBEEL - - - - -
Mr. Wan Zaotian ERM%E - - - - -
Mr. Zhou Zheng ABEE - - - - -
Mr. Hu Yonglei HKELE - - 62 - 62
1,598 2,486 290 180 4,554
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CONSOLIDATED 8. Directors’ remuneration (continued) 8. EEM<E (&)
STATEMENT OF
g\fgzgﬁ\'gﬁ (b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) BITEERIFITES (H)
h (continued)
Salaries, Equity-
allowances settled Pension
and benefits ~ Performance  share option scheme
in kind related expense  contributions Total
Er = bonuses BaniE Eff%  remuneration
STATEMENT RENEN FERETL  BRERX B @:tie
SESF"TN'?)NC'AL RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R E ARBFL ARBFT  ARETr ARETr ARET:R
2012 2012F
Executive directors: HiTES:
Mr. Wang Jinchang I¢ELHE 840 1,050 141 81 2,112
Mr. Zhang Xin* REEE 840 998 117 81 2,036
1,680 2,048 258 162 4,148
Non-executive directors:  JEITES :
L‘RITAENSCIEL Mr. Ning Gaoning ERELE - - - - -
STATEMENTS Mr. Zhou Zheng RS E - - - - -
MBRRHE Mr. Hu Yonglei HKEEE - - 70 - 70
1,680 2,048 328 162 4218

*

Mr. Zhang Xin was also the Chief executive of the
Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during

Y RHELETRBARFEET
A S -

B B SE8(a) AT B R M TR ZE SN
FAYEEZRBETMLHER

FIVE-YEAR
FINANGIAL the year, except for the waiver disclosed in Note 8(a). EZRRIEHRENSE -
SUMMARY
= 9. Five highest paid employees 9. HEFMESHER

The five highest paid employees during the year included
two (2012: two) directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out in Note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of
the remaining three (2012: three) non-director, highest paid

FRARFHESNEERE_-S
(2012F - MB) BF  HH LB
EHR EXHES FREHR=Z
(2012FF : =) Zem HMIEEHE

146

employees for the year are as follows: ENMESFBOT

Group

REE
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBET T AREFIT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind  #% -~ F8L R EWEFT 1,052 1,179
Performance related bonuses RIRAEENICAL 1,260 1,260
Equity-settled share option expense BREEERERS 156 177
Pension scheme contributions RIS TSR 202 177
2,670 2,793
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Five highest paid employees (continued) 9. TEFMESNES (&)

For the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2013, the #H 220129 N2013%F 128318 It F
emoluments of all of the above non-director highest paid B AEERLREHIEETRE
individuals paid by the Group were between HK$1,000,001 SE-2 DNss-E R0 = = e
and HK$1,500,000 individually. 1,000,001 7T £ 1,500,000/ 7T °
During the year ended 31 December 2011, share HZE2011F12A31BILFE - & F
options were granted to certain non-director highest paid FEZEFHERNEEREBEAR
employees, in respect of their services to the Group, under Al B ERT 8 GE— 2 FFIFE T
the share option scheme of the Company, further details RIS SRR BT 5E29) shik SR A=
of which are set out in Note 29 to the financial statements. ERENREEXERE - ZER
The fair value of such options, which has been recognised FEHRNCRESRANBERNER
in the statement of profit or loss over the vesting period, ERATFEDREEBEE - M
was determined as at the date of grant and the amount EEARFER B RERARN S AT
included in the financial statements for the current year AL ESEFHESNES
is included in the above non-director, highest paid LN ER -

employees’ remuneration disclosures.

Income tax 10. FRBHE
Hong Kong profits tax has not been provided as the FRNERANEERBE BN EELT
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in A ERBAE - U E\EHLBBFE
Hong Kong during the year (2012: Nil). Taxes on profits FRIE B (20126 « 48) - HAthit
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates FEERMFBEANEBEBRE
of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group AEREEAIRITRIRETE -
operates.
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETTT
Group: AEE -
Current — Mainland China ZNHR — A B D
Charge for the year FAZH 128,135 110,185
(Overprovision)/underprovision BEFE (BRERE),
in prior years TR (17,267) 1,741
Deferred (Note 27) IR (FF5E27) (2,513) (6,795)
Total tax charge for the year FABIERT 108,355 105,131

AR A~ EAER D B B8~ B R
BIAREE AATE M R IZBR TS DA
HMBEF BB HA BRIEER

A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable
to profit before income tax at the statutory rates for the
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of its Vi ) g w
Lubsidiaries are domiciled to thz inzome tax expénsg at the PLREL 2 PTG B S 2 S/ IA
) o . BANE (WEEHE) BERBTX
effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable w )
. . ZHERAT
rates (i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates,
are as follows:
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10. FRiS% ()

10. Income tax (continued)

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FAESRER

Group - 2013

AEHE — 20135

Hong Kong Mainland China Total
B HER ait
RMB’000 %  RMB’000 %  RMB’000 %
ARETR BAlt  AR¥TR BAlt  AR¥TR Ak
Profit(loss) before income tax WEERIFE /(BB (2,350) 502,617 500,267
Tax at the stafutory tax rates” RARRE B HE (388) 165 125654 50 12526 20
STATEMENT : : ) ;
ST Profit not sngect o tax due to %R%@%ﬂﬁ
POSITION concessions™ ammrE" - - (9,281) (18) (9,281) (18)
MR Expenses not deductible for tax ENIE A 388 (16.5) 13,227 27 13,615 27
Adjustments in respect of current AR
tax of previous periods TARE - - (17.267) (34) (17.267) (34)
Effect of withholding tax at 5% ETHENERR
on the distributable profits of A3 EFE 5%
certain PRC subsidiaries Hilwd 7 - - (8,850) (18 (8850 (18)
Tax losses utiised from previous periods BB/ SR RIEES - - (556) (02) (556) (0.1)
Tax losses not recognised KA HEEE - - 5428 11 5428 11
LII?ITAENSCLI\JL Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate  AEBRERRR:E ZHERR - - 108,355 216 108,355 207
STATEMENTS
RN Group — 2012 AEE - 20125
Hong Kong Mainland China Total
Bk mER At
RMB'000 % RMB'000 % RMB'000 %

ARETT ARt

ARETT ARl

ARBTT Al

Profit/(loss) before income tax

BmEHaRE/ (BR)

(26,822)

464,512

437,690

FIVE-YEAR Tax at the statutory tax rates RETREAE 7 FE (4,426) 16.5 116,127 250 11,701 255
gmmg& Profit not subject to tax due to RitaEEda
RN EHE concessions Bt - - (1488) (32 (14845) (34)
Expenses not deductible for tax DR wd 5 4426 (165) 12393 03 5,819 13
Income not subject to tax i Gkl ON - = (142) 00 (142) 00
Adjusiments in respect of current DA ERRIIR
tax of previous periods TIBHE - - 1741 04 1,74 04
Effect of withholding tax at 5% ETHENEAA
on the distributable profits of AR 5%
certaln PRC subsidiaries EEz 72 = = 1,220 02 1220 03
Tax losses utilised from previous periods E)fE &1 EBEMRIBER = = (680) (02) (680) (02)
Tax losses not recognised AR HBESE - - 317 0.1 317 0.1
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate  REBRERHE:FE 7 HETH - - 105,131 26 105,131 240

* REFEERHEEEERIEER
AEHEH B H2013F1A1H
H ARG RAEREEREBHE
RHE ([RBHEBRES)) iEM
HIA B BB A a1 4 33 E A4 B
Rt (ABIFEHERPE])
W E2013FE1A18# - ZEHEH
JER 1> 235 fH R B 11 3 A {5 B A9 #H
IR E R -

Pursuant to the approvals issued by the State Administration
of Taxation of the PRC during the reporting period, the
Company and most of its subsidiaries registered in Hong
Kong and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) are regarded
as Chinese Resident Enterprises (collectively the “CRES”)
and relevant enterprise income tax policies of the PRC are
applicable to the CREs commencing from 1 January 2013.
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10. Income tax (continued)

11.

*%

Under the PRC income tax laws, enterprises are subject to
corporate income tax (“CIT”) at the rate of 25%. One of the
Group’s subsidiaries is operating in a specific development
zone in Mainland China and another subsidiary of the Group
was granted as a high-tech enterprise, and the relevant tax
authorities have granted these two subsidiaries a preferential
CIT rate of 15%.

During the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group
undertook certain intra-group restructuring (the
“Restructuring”) pursuant to which the equity interests in
certain PRC subsidiaries held by the BVI subsidiaries of the
Group were transferred to certain Hong Kong subsidiaries
of the Group. The Group obtained approval from the
Foreign Trade and Economic Cooperation Bureau at the
end of 2007. Since 2009, the Ministry of Finance and the
State Administration of Taxation have issued a series of
regulations and rules, with retroactive effect on 1 January
2008, concerning group restructuring (collectively, the
“Group Restructuring Tax Rules”). The Group Restructuring
Tax Rules stipulate that the capital gain derived from
equity transfer should be recognised when the transfer
agreement takes effect and the changing procedures
related to the equity transfer are completed. The directors
of the Company are of the opinion that in substance the
Restructuring was completed in 2007 and hence before
the effective date of the Group Restructuring Tax Rules.
Accordingly, the directors of the Company are of the view
that it is more likely that the Restructuring will not cause
any significant tax impact on the Group. Consequently,
no tax provision thereon has been made in these financial
statements.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company

The consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2013
includes a loss of approximately RMB53,942,000 (2012:
RMB15,647,000), which was arrived at after deducting
dividend income of approximately RMB140,830,000
(2012: RMB80,090,000) from the Company’s profit of
approximately RMB86,888,000 (2012: RMB64,443,000)
which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the
Company (Note 30(b)).

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2013 E\ji%i&%l}ﬁ%}

2013%12H31H

10. FR5% (&)

11.

> RIEPEETRRRE - D EEZ25%
B R EATER ([ EAT
B#) - KEFA A —FNE L A]
T3 B i, 2 45 [ S AT &
MAEES —RIHTE AL A RS
RITEEEE - JHEHEEERT
RN B LA BRILEHEH
HERE15% °

R # E2007F128318 Ik F & -
rEBETETEEREA (B
Al BEEH ~EELBER
REEWNBARRETHEMBA
ARFAECREEEREAERET
EEM B A E - A% BEK2007F
FREGSHINESLESEROM
& o B2009F #E « BB E B R TR
BRREG—RIEHSEEHED
EHREBRA (BB IESEEAME
FAI])  EBIPE2008F1H1BRLLE
o EEEABEHRAEEEER
BERERRAEREZERRER
BEEREEEFERER - A0
AIEERA  EHEE LB R2007
FEK EMEREBEEBER
Bl &2 B BBRTSERK » EIE - AR F]
EERABBHERAETEHAEE
EREMBEARBEE - AL E
RENZETHMEIEDTIERME

RATRRAFFE AR FE

#H E2013F12A31B I FE A A
ARAFEAE ARG EFBEBELY
A K #53,942,0007T (201245 © A
R #15,647,0007T) W E 1B - Th B
AR aFE 4 A K #86,888,0007T
(20124 + A R#64,443,0007T) #0
Br g B A A R #140,830,0007T
(20124 : AR #80,090,0007T) %
EY WEEARRPBHRETE
I (MF5E30(b)) °
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Notes to Financial Statements
g\ji%ﬁ%l}ﬁ%f 31 December 2013

2013%12H31H

CONSOLIDATED 12. Dividends 12. K2
STATEMENT OF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTFT
Interim — RMB0.043 FE — SR ER
(2012: RMBO0.043) AR#0.0437C
per ordinary share (20124 : AR®0.0437T) 42,828 35,690
Proposed final - RMB0.035 BRARH — SR T AR
(2012: RMB0.029) AR¥0.0357T
STATEMENT per ordinary share (20124 : AR#0.0297T) 34,915 28,884
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION 77,743 64,574
BIEIR &
The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the RNEEFBKAAKR S BERERIRE
approval of the Company's shareholders at the forthcoming BAFRKE FESARQGIRELE -
annual general meeting. FRHER °

13. Earnings per share attributable to ordinary 13. A RAEERBREAGEEARE

equity holders of the Company HERAEF
Itllot\l.ll:\ENsc.IrI[\JL The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount BREXRBFNHSBIRIBEAFEE
STATEMENTS is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary AR R EBRREFEE ARIGH
SRR MEE equity holders of the Company of RMB386,121,000 (2012: A R#386,121,0007T (20124 :
RMB322,681,000) and the weighted average number of AR#322,681,00070) MFRE
ordinary shares of 996,321,000 (2012: 860,926,000) in 17 AR A hN4E F192£996,321,000
issue during the year, as adjusted to reflect the exercise of i (20124 : 860,926,000%) =&
share options during the year. B - WAFHREARBRFATTEER
1 -
The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount EREERNSB|IBEBERAR L
E:‘Kjigglﬁ is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary mRERE ARG ZERTEAE
SUMMARY equity holders of the Company. The weighted average B - RETEFRFER 2 LB MAE
AEHBHE number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the FHERRETESRERRNZ
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as FREETERREE - ARFRR
used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the TR EEE ST RKRA LR
weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed BREEEET 2 L EBRMNETS
to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed g

exercise of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into
ordinary shares.
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2013 ,E\Zl'ﬁiﬁilzﬁi

2013%12H31H

13. Earnings per share attributable to ordinary 13. AR R ERERRAGHE AR T

equity holders of the Company (continued) HERAER (&) STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
BABSRER

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share BREARBERFNFAEDER :
are based on:

2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
Earnings ZF
Profit attributable to ordinary REsTE S OFng/fNMCE&[
equity holders of the Company, — EA&ZEFZ POSITION
used in the basic earnings AABE B MR %
per share calculation FEARGHE 386,121 322,681
Number of shares
ik §E|
2013 2012
’000 000
TR TH NOTES T0
Shares 85 FINANCIAL
Weighted average number of REstE 8K sg‘z;%;%g
ordinary shares in issue during HEAREF 2 ‘
the year used in basic earmnings ~ FRADEITE AL
per share calculation I 2 996,321 860,926
Effect of dilution — weighted BEoRE - BB
average number of InETIEE
ordinary shares:
Share options BB AR 3,183 2,026 FIVE-YEAR
999,504 862,952 glL,]ll\/illl\\l/ICA‘Q#
RFHBHE

Annual Report 2013 2013F FE R4 1 5 1




Notes to Financial Statements
B F& SR F B 5F 31 December 2013

2013%12H31H

T 14. Property, plant and equipment 14. Y% - MERKRE
STATEMENT OF
GamanEh ST *RE
Electronic
equipment,
office
Leasehold equipment
improve-  Machineries and fixtures
STATEMENT Land and ments and EF&fE > Construction
gg;’ﬁémcm Buildings &Y%  equipment  Vehicles  WAZRE  in progress Total
B TitRET % BERXE BRI R#E TEIR At

RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTR  ARBTR ARETR ARMTR  ARRTR ARETR  ARETR

31 December 2013 2013124318

At 31 December 2012and 2012123318

1 January 2013; R2013E1R1A -
Cost B 532,154 9,288 2,062,472 37,540 76,873 568,143 3,286,470
NOTES TO Accumulated depreciation  Z:HE
CTATEMENTS and impairment KA @7177) (2550)  (577070)  (20561)  (40,44d) - (687806)
SRR Net carrying amount FEEE 484,977 6,734 1,485,402 16,979 36,429 568,143 2,508,664
At 1 January 2013, R2013E1A18 -
net of accumulated Mk
depreciation and ZiiE
impairment KAE 484,977 6,734 1,485,402 16,979 36,429 568,143 2,598,664
Additions AE 6,242 2,269 44,030 2,014 14,667 833,451 902,673
Disposals e (17463) - (22,783) (345) (2,680) - (43271)
FIVE-YEAR Depreciation provided WRFE
FINANCIAL during the year FERE (19,935) (2347)  (138,245) (6,313) (17451) - (184,291)
SUMMARY o i il
e BHE Acquisition of subsidiaries MZE%F@E NG|
(Note 31) (PizE31) 32,778 - 94,591 403 8,886 409 137067
Transfers upon completion TR EEA 259,244 - 600,869 4,297 17500 (881,910) -
At 31 December 2013, R2013E12A318
net of accumulated Bl
depreciation and ZiHiE
impairment Kl 745,843 6,656 2,063,864 17,035 57,351 520,093 3,410,842
At 31 December 2013; R2013E12A318 :
Cost KA 807464 11,557 2,764,048 41,573 112,793 520,093 4,257528
Accumulated depreciation ~ Z:H17&
and impairment B (61,621) (4901)  (700,184) (24538  (55442) - (846,686)
Net carrying amount FEFE 745,843 6,656 2,063,864 17,035 57,351 520,093 3,410,842
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2013 Mﬁiﬁil}ﬁi

2013%12H31H

14. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 14. Y% - BMERRE (&) el
STATEMENT OF
Group A& ,%V?CéAfSﬁHﬁF%g;J
Electronic
equipment,
office
Leasehold equipment
improve-  Machineries and fixtures
ments and EF&E - Construction
Buldings ~ EEME  equipment Vehicles  HAERE  inprogress Total STATEMENT
BF KB KEREE W EHIA REE  REIE At Y3 F'PNOASN”Cl‘S‘hLI
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 BRI E

AEBTL  ARMTT AR®TR  ARETR  ARETR AR¥TR  ARET:R

31 December 2012 20126124318

At 1 January 2012: R2012%1R1A -
Cost KA 461,669 5,273 1,581,941 30,064 60,900 248,458 2,388,305
Accumulated depreciation  Z&t17&
and impairment EE (30572) (532)  (482730)  (18566)  (27.261) - (559661)
Netcaryingamount  EEESE 431,097 474 1009211 11,498 3BEY 28458 1828644 FINANCIAL
A , STATEMENTS
At 1 January 2012, R2012E1A18 ey
net of accumulated b3
depreciation and ZiTifE
impairment RRE 431,097 4,141 1,099,211 11,498 33,639 248,458 1,828,644
Additions RE 4,663 2,324 21873 5370 7,316 830,289 877,835
Disposals HE - - (4,067) (473) (439) - (4,979)
Depreciation provided ~ RAER
during the year nEkE (16,678) (2023)  (102,804) (4,466) (13,735) - (139,706)
Acquisition of subsicliaries UK B F FIVE-YEAR
(Note 31) GER 876 = 16,809 281 474 18430 36,870 HNA,I\\I/ICA‘&
L e ) SUM
Transfers upon completion A FEEA 65,019 1,692 448,380 4,769 9,174 (529,034) AR RS
At 31 December 2012, R012E12A318
net of accumulated il
depreciation and ZHIER
impairment WA 484977 6,734 1,485,402 16,979 36,429 568,143 2,598,664
At 31 December 2012; R2012E12A318 :
Cost KA 532,154 9,288 2,062,472 37,540 76,873 568,143 3,286,470
Accumulated depreciation  Z:HH7E
and impairment K (47,177) (2554)  (577,070)  (20561)  (40,444) - (687,806)
Net carrying amount REFE 484,977 6,734 1,485,402 16,979 36,429 568,143 2,598,664
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Notes to Financial Statements
B F& SR F B 5F 31 December 2013

2013%12H31H

14. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Company

14. Y¥ - BMERKE (&)

NN

Electronic equipment,
office equipment and fixtures
EFRE - BRAERBREE

2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETF T
At 1 January: M1A18 :
Cost B 665 627
Accumulated depreciation 2FHTE (522) (393)
Net carrying amount BREFE 143 234
At 1 January, net of accumulated ®m1A18 -
depreciation MR REHTE 143 234
Additions NE - 38
Depreciation provided during the year — AZAEEFTERE (103) (129)
At 31 December, net of accumulated ®W12H318 -
depreciation MR RTITE 40 143
At 31 December: M12A318 :
Cost AN 665 665
Accumulated depreciation BEHTE (625) (522)
Net carrying amount BREFE 40 143

The net carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment held under finance leases included in the total
amounts of machineries and equipment at 31 December
2013 was RMB12,730,000 (2012: RMB147,000).

As at 31 December 2013, certain of the Group’s buildings,
with an aggregate net carrying amount of approximately
RMB22,573,000 (2012: Nil), were pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group (Note 26).

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A7)

2013128318 » B ¥E & # 8
LEEREY  AEERMERE
THENETYE  BELERED
R EFE A A R ®12,730,0007T
(20124 : AR¥147,0007T) °

MR2013F12A310  AEEME TE
F B IR EFE L AR 822,573,000
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15.

16.

Prepaid land lease payments

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2013 Mﬁiﬁil}ﬁi

2013%12H31H

15. A L HHEERK

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
FAESRER

Group
rEH
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBTFT
Net carrying amount at 1 January M A1BERANFE 153,243 131,224
Additions NE 152,519 13,255
Disposal e (14,370) =
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 31) WEEH B~ e (FIFE31) 5,611 12,320
Recognised during the year RERNER (3,870) (3,556)
Net carrying amount at 31 December M12A31AEREFE 293,133 153,243
Current portion included in STATENFK - ek
prepayments, deposits and o W sk Y BIER 93 BF
other receivables (Note 21) (BFsE21) (6,437) (3,661)
Net carrying amount at 31 December M12A31BEEmFE 286,696 149,582

All of the Group’s land use rights are held under long term
leases and are situated in Mainland China.

As at 31 December 2013, land use rights with an aggregate
net carrying amount of RMB2,226,000 (2012: Nil) were
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the

Group (Note 26).

REBE A LI (E R EGIRIERS

BB LT E A, o

MR2013F12A318 © “EREFEA
A R #2,226,0007T (20124 © &)
NI FERAECEBEARERE

BE—RBITEENER (H5E26) °

Goodwill 16. &
Group AEH
RMB’000
ARBT T
At 1 January 2012: 2012118
Cost D% 103,295
Accumulated impairment RERE =
Net carrying amount REFE 103,295
Cost at 1 January 2012, net of R2012F1 B1B 2 - Mk K5t
accumulated impairment RE 103,295
Acquisition of subsidiaries U B B B R A -
At 31 December 2012 20126 12A31H 103,295
At 31 December 2012: M2012512H31H -
Cost B AR 103,295
Accumulated impairment 2iHRE =
Net carrying amount RMEFAE 103,295
Cost at 1 January 2013, net of M2013F1 1B Z A -
accumulated impairment MR REHRE 103,295
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 31) BB A A (MI3E31) 97,892
Cost and net carrying amount at M2013F 12 A31B 2K A K
31 December 2013 BRmEEE 201,187
At 31 December 2013: M2013F12A318 :
Cost [DEN 201,187
Accumulated impairment R2EHRE =
Net carrying amount REEE 201,187
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Notes to Financial Statements
g\ji%ﬁ%l}ﬁ-? 31 December 2013

2013%12H31H

T 16. Goodwill (continued) 16. & (&)

STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
FAREMER

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations in the
amounts of RMB45,351,000 and RMB155,836,000 has
been allocated to the tinplate packaging cash-generating
unit and plastic packaging cash-generating unit,
respectively.

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has
been allocated to the following cash-generating units for

B E R
EREBAAUBSEARAA
R #45351,000t & A R #&
155,836,000t &2 2 7 5l H A
EREOHPRERCELEBNRER
BERGEEEM -

EBEBEHUBINBECSIEE
IATIR & 2 4 B A 77 R (E A

STATEMENT \
OF FINANCIAL impairment testing: N
POSITION
BIHRE _ . o I
e Tinplate packaging cash-generating unit s HBOHBERSEEBM
e Plastic packaging cash-generating unit o BRBRBERSEAEN
The recoverable amount of the tinplate packaging BOEERREEELEEMMNATID

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

cash-generating unit was determined based on a value
in use calculation using cash flow projections based on
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by
senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash
flow projections was 20.0% and cash flows beyond the
five-year period were extrapolated using a growth rate of
2% which was the same as the long term average growth
rate of the packaging industry.

The recoverable amount of the plastic packaging
cash-generating unit was determined based on a value
in use calculation using cash flow projections based on
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by

ERIOREEREEAEET B
ﬁﬁﬁgﬁ/\\m,ﬁ&a@ﬁtxﬁmﬁiﬁﬁ
MREENRSRERA - BAR
BenEERRE X %20.0% -

MR AFHEENBESREDER
2%E@i5$%&&§ﬁ Tﬁéﬁi@ KITERR

ZBReEReELEEUNATKRE S
BORBERABAEFEEE - HE
RERSREEER AN T FHEY
BEEMIRSRETER - BHANE

FIVE-YEAR

FINANCIAL senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash emETER MR X R219.8% M

%g%i:w flow projections was 19.8% and cash flows beyond the RAFHEENRSRENFER2%
IRV %S
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five-year period were extrapolated using a growth rate of
2% which was the same as the long term average growth
rate of the packaging industry.
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16. Goodwill (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation
of the tinplate packaging and plastic packaging
cash-generating units for 31 December 2013 and 31
December 2012. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash flow
projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — Management determined
budgeted gross margin based on past performance and its
expectations for market development.

Weighted average growth rates — The weighted average
growth rates used are consistent with the forecasts
included in industry reports.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before
tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant
cash-generating units.

Raw materials price inflation — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to raw materials price inflation is the
forecast price indices during the budget year for Mainland
China from where the raw materials are sourced.

Management determined budgeted gross margin based
on past performance and its expectations for market
development. The weighted average growth rates used are
consistent with the forecasts included in industry reports.
The discount rates used are before tax and reflect specific
risks relating to the relevant cash-generating units

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, any reasonably
possible change in the key assumptions on which the
recoverable amount is based would not cause the cash-
generating unit’'s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable
amount.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2013 E\ji%i&%l}ﬁ%}

2013%12H31H

16. & (&)

%ﬁ;ﬁﬁ;m%ﬁ ()
EENEHARREBRRERSE
i B {1 A2013F12H31H Kk2012
¢12ﬂ31amfiﬁﬁf ERHEAR
c UM EEEBRETEER
ﬁﬁuzﬁﬁqﬁﬁ%ﬂﬂ MEBEEERESR
ETERMBR

BEENE - EEEBRBEERRA

REMGERNBHETEEEH
= o

JIHEF 1515 = 3 — P fE R 80 INAE F
g R R EITERE A EBATER
iﬁ S

RHEE — FTERMREIR R BB AT R
RREMBEREELEULABOS
ERER

R EHEER — RIFEERMEE
BERRENEESRERNHRELS
BR A EEFE TR ERIEE

EREERBEBERREEMSER
MEHMEETREENEX - FEAE
MEFHRRRBITRREMERE
MTER—% - FTERRE RS
Al R AR AR IR S E L B AR
HY R TE LR o

ARREZRR - IO S R
BT RRENEMNSIEAEE
TecHeELENMNERRSHE
BEAIKRE S
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Notes to Financial Statements
5} +=¥ 31 December 2013
B R M 20134%12A31H
- - />
CONSOLDATED 17. Other intangible assets 17. Atb B EE
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
BABLRER L) A5E
Customer Computer
relationship Patents software Total
EFHR% =55 e &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTR AR®BTR AR%BTx AR%Tx
31 December 2013 2013F12A31H
STATEMENT
A Cost at 1January 2013, netof  %20134E 1518 ZFA -
B R accumulated amortisation HIBr 25T8 Y 1,540 - 5,843 7,383
Additions VN - - 2,887 2,887
Acquisition of subsidiaries WM B AT (KFE31)
(Note 31) - 36,562 85 36,647
Write-off s - - (89) (89)
Amortisation provided during 4 Ry $4 A&
the year - (3,459) (1,731) (5,190)
At 31 December 2013 2013 12A831H 1,540 33,103 6,995 41,638
NOTES TO
FINANCIAL At 31 December 2013: 20135 12H4318 -
;Tig‘;gﬁgs Cost AN 1,540 36,562 14,875 52,977
: Accumulated amortisation D - (3,459) (7,880) (11,339)
Net carrying amount BREFE 1,540 33,103 6,995 41,638
31 December 2012 2012612831H
At 1 January 2012: 201261 H18 -
Cost [B%N 1,540 - 10,256 11,796
Accumulated amortisation RETiE Y - - (6,111) (6,111)
FIVE-YEAR =
FINANCIAL Net carrying amount REFE 1,540 - 4,145 5,685
SUMMARY - -
B RS Cost at 1 January 2012, netof 201261 A1H ZAA -
accumulated amortisation Mk 25t 1,540 - 4,145 5,685
Additions NE = = 3,003 3,003
Amortisation provided during RSB
the year - - (1,305) (1,305)
At 31 December 2012 R2012F12A31H 1,540 - 5,843 7,383
At 31 December 2012 and 72012812 A31H
at 1 January 2013: K2013F1A1A8 :
Cost (39N 1,540 - 13,259 14,799
Accumulated amortization Lt - - (7,416) (7,416)
Net carrying amount HRMEFE 1,540 = 5,843 7,383
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18. Investments in subsidiaries

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2013 ,E\Zl'ﬁiﬁilzﬁi

2013%12H31H

18. RKIB A BIMIRE

Company
RATHE

2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Unlisted shares, at cost JE LMk - IR 514,165 514,165
Due from subsidiaries A NG 1,358,299 2,153,700
1,872,464 2,667,865

Except for amounts due from subsidiaries of
RMB445,714,000 (2012: RMB109,637,000), which
are unsecured, interest-bearing and not repayable
within one year, the amounts due from subsidiaries of
RMB912,585,000 (2012: RMB2,044,063,000) included in
the Company’s non-current assets are considered as quasi-
equity loans to these subsidiaries.

Except for amounts due from subsidiaries of
RMB465,687,000 (2012: RMB649,435,000), which are
unsecured, interest-bearing and repayable on demand
or within one year, the amounts due from subsidiaries of
RMB1,331,682,000 (2012: RMB225,084,000) included in
the Company’s current assets are unsecured, interest-free

and have no fixed terms of repayment.

BREWHE QAR REARE
445,714,0007C (20124F :© A R #&
109,637,0007T) AEEA « 5FE K
TER—ERNEENREIN A
KRAFIIERBE EREWHE AR
1A A R 912,585,000t (2012
F 0 AR#2044,063,0007T) AR
BETZENBARINERRIER -

BREWHEB AT RE AR
465,687,000 (20124 : A R #
649,435,0007T) AEEE ST E X
BRERFBR —FREENTE
G SFARRQBIRENE E R FE UK
B A REFIEARKA 331,682,000
(20124 : A R #£225,084,0007T)
Jﬁﬁ,ﬂﬁiﬁ#ﬁ © NEFB R E E 8 K
HR o

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
FAESRER

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FTEMBARNFBLOT
Nominal value Percentage
of issued of equity
ordinary/ attributable
registered to the Company
Place of share capital Direct  Indirect
registration ERTER AN E L Principal
Company name and business RA /&M RETAL activities
AR B EMREE DS RAEE E# BiE TEEHR
Hangzhou COFCO-MC Packaging PRC/Mainland China US$30,050,000 = 100 Manufacture of
Co., Ltd. * FE/HmEIRN 30,050,000 metal packaging
MNP RERARERAA tBAREE
Guangzhou Panyu MCP PRC/Mainland China US$30,290,000 - 100 Manufacture of
Industries Ltd. * B REAM 30,290,000 7T metal and plastic
BNESEFEEERAD packaging
SENZRRELE
Wuxi Huapeng Closures Co., Ltd.** PRC/Mainland China US$25,000,000 - 61.48  Manufacture of
(“Wuxi Huapeng” ) FE/HmER 25,000,000 metal packaging
BHEBREBR A TERREE
(MEHERS])
Hangzhou CPMC Co., Ltd. *** PRC/Mainland China US$64,500,000 - 100 Manufacture of
“Hangzhou CPMC") HE/RERS  64,500,000%T metal packaging

M EREER AR
(MM Eax))

TRERLE
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Notes to Financial Statements
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18. Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

18. RITBE R RAMNKRE (&)

Nominal value Percentage
of issued of equity
ordinary/ attributable
registered to the Company
Place of share capital Direct  Indirect
registration ERITEE RN E L Principal
Company name and business BRA /5 REEDL activities
ARER R EE RAHEE EE i TEEE
COFCO Packaging Tianjin PRC/Mainland China US$50,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of
Company Limited * HRE/HRERE 50,000,000 metal packaging
gk (X&) BRAR tBAREE
CPMC (Chengdu) Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China US$40,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of
gk () BRAR HE/HRERM  40,000,000%T metal packaging
tERRAEE
CPMC (Zhenjiang) PRC/Mainland China US$10,250,000 - 100 Manufacture of
Can End Co., Ltd. ** hEhERN 10,250,000 7T metal packaging
FigaE (L) HEERAR tERRAEE
Zhangjiagang CPMC Co., Ltd. *** PRC/Mainland China  RMB17,000,000 = 100 Manufacture of
RRETEEEERAR™ FE/HERM ARE metal packaging
17,000,0007T TERRAE
CPMC (Wuhan) Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China US$30,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of
hEeE (RE) BRAR" R/ HRERE  30,000,000%7T metal packaging
tEREAEE
Hangzhou CPMC Canmaking PRC/Mainland China US$39,750,000 = 100 Manufacture of
Co., Ltd. * RE/ERAM  39,750,000%7T metal packaging
MM RREER AR cERREE
Shanghai Pinguan Plastic PRC/Mainland China US$3,800,000 — 100 Manufacture of
Industry Co., Ltd. * FE BB, 3,800,000 T plastic packaging
HEREBBIEERAR BREREE
CPMC (Kunshan) Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China US$18,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of
migRE (RIL) BRAFN REmERAM  18,000,000%7T metal packaging
tERELE
CPMC (Zhenijiang) Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China US$17,750,000 - 100 Manufacture of
mIERE (BT) ARAR" FEHRERE  17,750,000%T metal packaging

SRERLE
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2013 B
20134124311 Bl R ¥R R MY o
18. Investments in subsidiaries (continued) 18. R B L RNKRE (&) CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
Nominal value Percentage ig%”g%g;
of issued of equity
ordinary/ attributable
registered to the Company
Place of share capital Direct  Indirect
registration ERTEE PUNG)iE Principal
Company name and business RA /5 REBDL activities
ARER TR EE RAEE B B FEEE
STATEMENT
Guangzhou CPMC Canmaking PRC/Mainland China US$30,000,000 = 100 Manufacture of U; F'FF‘OAS“:%‘%
Co., Ltd. ™ B R E A 30,000,000 7T metal packaging BN E
EMP e AR AR TBAREE
Sino-Asia Package (Tianjin) PRC/Mainland China US$10,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of
Co., Ltd. ** B/ R E A 10,000,000 T plastic packaging
( “Tianjin Huanya") BREREE
ROAER (KE) BRRE™
(TRERT])
NOTES TO
Sino-Asia Plastic Package PRC/Mainland China US$7,200,000 - 100 Manufacture of FINANCIAL
(Zhongshan) Co., Ltd. ** HE /B R 7,200,000% 7T plastic packaging STB%E;YI;EE
(“Zhongshan Huanya” ) BRAELEE
FIRDERBEREBRAR
(TR D)
Victoria Package (Suzhou) PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 = 100 Manufacture of
Co., Ltd. = FE/HERM AR plastic packaging
FMEERRBRAR 10,000,0007T PRRRLE
FIVE-YEAR
Weigang Packaging (Tianjin) PRC/Mainland China 1S$10,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of gm’:ﬂ%\#
Co., Ltd. ** B ,/ehER 10,000,005 plastic packaging R E
®ERE (KE) BRAR™ BRaEAEE
CPMC (Tianijin) Barrel Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China US$15,000,000 = 100 Manufacture of
REFRERER A B/ HER 15,000,000% 7T metal packaging
tEREAEE
Nanning CPMC Canmaking PRC/Mainland China US$30,000,000 = 100 Manufacture of
Co., Ltd. *** HE/HERAN  30,000,000%T metal packaging
MENRREARAR™ tERELE
CPMC Investment Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China US$102,500,000 - 100 Investment
REEERAERAR RE/HREAM 10250000057 holding
HEER
* Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises I BB ELFE
** Sino-foreign equity joint ventures - %ggiﬁ ES
***  Domestic-funded enterprises
Annual Report 2013 2013F FE R4 1 6 1
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Notes to Financial Statements
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18. Investments in subsidiaries (continued) 18. RMIB A RIMIKRE (&)

The English names of all the above companies are direct
transliterations of their Chinese registered names.

The statutory financial statements of the above subsidiaries
are not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another
member firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

During the year, the Group acquired Victoria Industrial
Limited (“Victoria Industrial”) and its subsidiary. Further
details of this acquisition are included in Note 31 to the

financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other

X B RRIEZ -

TEHERMIFEST -

subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in

particulars of excessive length.

Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non-

controlling interests are set out below:

NEEFIIAT ¢

gh B2 4BF
CEp= 2

ERFIEZRAE
KESIBRAKRERLY FEEDN
ARRRMBEBAR - EFERR - 1’H
HibMEARNFIREERELE

LRBERRMEXAEIIEHRX
A EENERTRE -

A B R R RAE M R R AL R
MEBLKEEERR > &K
SR ES AT R BB AN 5

RAFE  AEEWEREERXHA
RAm (THEBEX]) REWEBA

Al WIRRBZE—FHBERM

REE

BRBEAFT LS 2 AN BB

2013 2012
Percentage of equity interest held by FEPR AR SR P I AR
non-controlling interests: ADL
Company A ~AA 38.52% 38.52%
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBFTT
Profit for the year allocated to DB EFFIE RS Y
non-controlling interests: FEFE -
Company A AFIA 5,791 9,613
Accumulated balances of IR R A TR B A
non-controlling interests RETHERR
at the reporting dates:
Company A ~NAA 99,456 93,665

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A7)
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18.Investments in subsidiaries (continued) 18. A B ARINIRE (&) T
STATEMENT OF
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial TR A8 _E b B A A A B 7 A R ﬁ%%'g%g
information of the above subsidiary. The amounts disclosed ME - MBEZESEARETHENARME “
are before any inter-company eliminations: IR S
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBTFT
Revenue WA 437,716 469,165
Total expenses EEE Gt (422,686) (444,208) OFSFmeCE&[
Profit for the year FRFHE 15,030 24,957 POSITION
Total comprehensive income for the year FE2HEIWALEZE 15,030 24,957 BRRE
Current assets TRENEE 223,854 220,920
Non-current assets IEREEE 184,089 179,772
Current liabilities mERE (114,199) (121,915)
Non-current liabilities JERBAG (32,542) (32,606)
Net cash flows from/(used in) e EBELE (FR) 2
operating activities e IFEE 28,803 (4,378)
Net cash flows used in investing KEEEER B SR TR NOTES TO
activities (19,356) (35.221) ST;IT':EII\VINEL;‘:IT“S-
Net cash flows from/(used in) MEESEL S (FR) 2 SRR
financing activities RE R FRE (10,244) 23,231
Net decrease in cash and Re KR EBYR I FEE
cash equivalents (797) (16,368)
19. Inventories 19.78
FIVE-YEAR
Group FINANCIAL
KEE SUMMARY
2013 2012 HEHEHE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREFT
Raw materials R 368,384 384,615
Work in progress pet 147,821 145,938
Finished goods K 307,075 325,266
Consumables FEM 43,365 44 508
866,645 900,327
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sl 20. Trade and bills receivables 20. EZENF R EWRERE
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
FARERER Group
REE
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBF R AR¥ETT

KREE=NEFPNEHE

Trade and bills receivables from

third-party customers WSk K e W R i 766,498 669,286
Trade and bills receivables from RE B AR E S R
e related parties (Note 36(b)) REWER (H3E36(b) 10,552 30,007
POSITION 777,050 699,293
BIEIR &
Impairment NEREN (1,255) (1,035)
775,795 698,258
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The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit, except for new customers, where payment
in advance is normally required. The credit period is
generally for 30 to 90 days. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables and has a credit control
department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over
its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-
interest-bearing.

The Group’s trade receivables from related parties are
repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to the
major customers of the Group.

An aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date
and net of provisions, is as follows:

AEBATREFEESR HHEF
REABRNF - FEH MK A0
2R - BEEFPHUEEREER
B AEESREREFEKREE
FEUBR R » KR EEEFI S
BERBERERE o REEAED
EHRBIRE - AEBI K
BEE 5 EW KA A R
MR EMEERE - EFERFZ
TEFBH ©

AEBBEATZESHRM TR
MASEXZERFREEMNEUEE
IRFEE -
RBEHERSNE 5 KKK E
WEERBEZAE  WHBREED
BRI -

Group

rEH
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREFT
Within 3 months 3ME AR 765,781 692,228
3 to 12 months 3& 121 A 9,899 5,904
1to 2 years 15224 115 126
775,795 698,258
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20. Trade and bills receivables (continued) 20. EZRUMARERRE (&) CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
The movements in provision for impairment of trade B I REBGHREREESHNT SR

_ BABERER
receivables are as follows:

Group
AEE
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTFT
At 1 January R1A1H 1,035 UolZS OFSFTIANTAENMCE&[
Impairment losses recognised BHERZREEE 650 517 POSITION
Amount written off as uncollectible eI el £ 58 (430) (611) PR R
At 31 December ®W12H31H 1,255 1,035
Included in the above provision for impairment of trade ELHEZERFRERET &
receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade FE¥ A RME1,255,0007T (20124 ¢
receivables of RMB1,255,000 (2012: RMB1,035,000) with a AR#1,035,0007T) &5 BEE
carrying amount before provision of RMB1,255,000 (2012: SRV 2 BE  ERENREE
RMB1,035,000). BAARE1,2550007T (20124 : T
AR#1,035,0007T) ° FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
The individually impaired trade receivables relate to EREREEZEWFEE Y ER ABRRNE
customers that were in financial difficulties and the $BoEPBAHR RAREBERUGRE
outstanding receivables are not expected to be recovered. B NgEU [ -
The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not RNEE RIS HERRSRENE 5 FE
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as W BRE AT A0 T -
follows:
FIVE-YEAR
Group UMY
B 3L RERHHE
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTFT
Neither past due nor impaired R A R RRE 771,591 693,822
Less than 1 month past due #HA DA A 782 2,452
1 to 3 months past due mEg1 = 31E A 459 192
More than 3 months past due 1 BB B 31E A 2,963 1,792
775,795 698,258
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20. EZ MR RERRE (&)

STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FAREMER

CONSOLIDATED 20. Trade and bills receivables (continued)

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to the customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these

R 380 H I AR B B FE Wk B B P
BRSGEENEFPER -

BB BB R VB IR B 2 8 Wk T B AR
SEERMRGTH IAEBIE
FER REBEER ARAE
ERA ARFHEBME - BRME

STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL balances as there has not been a significant change in HEERDAIAR BB E - AR
E?;;;fg% credit quality and the balances are still considered fully I E AR (B B o

K TATN L

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

recoverable.

At 31 December 2013, the Group endorsed certain
bills receivable accepted by banks in the PRC (the
“Derecognised Bills”), to certain of its suppliers in order
to settle the trade payables due to such suppliers with a
carrying amount in aggregate of RMB380,901,000. The
Derecognised Bills have a maturity from one to six months
at the end of the reporting period. In accordance with the
Law of Negotiable Instruments in the PRC, the holders of
the Derecognised Bills have a right of recourse against
the Group if the PRC banks default (the “Continuing
Involvement”). In the opinion of the directors, the Group
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards relating
to the Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, it has derecognised
the full carrying amounts of the Derecognised Bills and
the associated trade payables. The maximum exposure
to loss from the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the

M20135FE12A31H » KEFERAAE
THERZEEFHLSRBITEMNN
ETRKER (BUEERER]) -
LWEBENEEEERERAEA
A R #380,901,0007T &) & 5 &
e RBMEHR  BUEBREEN
FHBNF—=REA - RIEFE
ZRA MREPRRTEL W
BEREBRFEATAEEER B
RiE((HE R -EERE K
EECBEUEERZENE RIS
Bk & B RER - Bt - HEBUH
BRIVEERER RIEHEE S ER
FRE2HEESHE AEERFE
HREBCEEREE RFABELDZER
SHEREIEM AR R E M

FIVE-YEAR H el oL

FINANCIAL Derecognised Bills and the undiscounted cash flows to ZHxmEERBESNRERES

%Jgg’;‘}ijw repurchase these Derecognised Bills equal to their carrying H-EFZRE AFEBFES I
IRV %S

166

amounts. In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of
the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised
Bills are not significant.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group has
not recognised any gain or loss on the date of transfer of
the Derecognised Bills. No gains or losses were recognised
from the Continuing Involvement, both during the year or
cumulatively. The Endorsement has been made evenly
throughout the Relevant Periods.

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A7)
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HE2013F12A31BILFE » K%
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21. Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2013 Mﬁﬁil}{;}-i

2013%12H31H

21. AR - REREMERR

Group Company
rEH ANF]
2013 2012 2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTT AREBTR ARETT

Current assets

Prepayments to third-party

RBEE
BN FE=HER

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
FAESRER

suppliers 2B 234,413 250,384 1,903 4,426
Deposits b 10,723 7,709 130 135
Input VAT recoverable AT UL E] 7 3#ETE IR (TR 109,417 105,138 - =
Prepaid expenses &R 4,005 3,127 - =
Other receivables Hfth el 114,940 25,296 585 7,494
Amounts due from related JEUS BB A T 5RTE

parties (Note 36(b)) (FF5E36(b)) 75 52 - =
Prepaid land lease Jaft LA E R

payments (Note 15) (FF5E15) 6,437 3,661 - =

480,010 395,367 2,618 12,055
Impairment A (3,447) (3,216) - =
476,563 392,151 2,618 12,055
Non-current assets FREBEE
Other receivables H el 1,221 - -

The movements in the provision for impairment of other
receivables are as follows:

Hip e ZOREREEESHNT

Group

rEH
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFT
At 1 January M1 A18 3,216 2,904
Impairment losses recognised BHERBESE 997 343
Amount written off as uncollectible WEE AT Y[ 2 £ &8 (766) (31)
At 31 December »W12H31H 3,447 3,216

The prepayments, deposits and other receivables are non-
interest-bearing.

Included in the above provision for impairment of other
receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of RMB3,447,000 (2012: RMB3,216,000) with a
carrying amount before provision of RMB3,447,000 (2012:
RMB3,216,000).

The individually impaired other receivables relate to
customers that were in financial difficulties and the
outstanding receivables are not expected to be recovered.

Except for the above impaired other receivables, the
remaining prepayments, deposits and other receivables
that were neither past due nor impaired relate to the
customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

B e REMEK KRt
YR

VA b H b U R E R E B B FE A
R #3,447,0007T (20124F : AR¥E
3,216,0007T) MERIEREEZ 5 E
W ERENERAEAAR
#£3,447,0007T (20124 : A R #&
3,216,0007T) ©

{181 1) 2 0 1B L b 8 W ok S8 A B 75
R % 1) = P A B MR EE EGR TR
HN AT o

B DA £ BB (B H B RSN - B8 T
YARBHAIMENANRIE £
Ro Al 8 M5 R B AT B B 3 R RC Bk Y
EFA# -
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CONSOLDATED 22. Cash and cash equivalents and pledged 2. BeRREEEYREER
STATEMENT OF deposits LEE N
CASH FLOWS
BATARER
Group Company
rEE AT
2013 2012 2013 2012

Note  RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Wit AR®TR ARBTT AR®TR ARETT

Cash and bank balances  R& MIRTT4 919,509 1,456,403 569,693 756,732
Deposits in COFCO Finance A g EHITF X 83,811 252,541 - -
STATEMENT
o AL 1,003,320 1708944 569,693 756,732
POSITION . e
RHRE Less: . L
Pledged deposits for SREM
letters of credit BIAER (65) (27,132) - =
Pledged deposits for ERNRER
bills payable [REESEYES 24 (15,873) (4,515) - -
(15,938)  (31,647) - -
Cash and cash equivalents 4 RIS ZEY 987,382 1,677,297 569,693 756,732
L‘I?ITAENSCIEL At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank R|EHR AEBNUARE (TA
STATEMENTS balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) REDFENRSRRITE®E
RrE R M amounted to RMB402,608,000 (2012: RMB440,784,000). A R #402,608,0007T (20124 : A
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, R #440,784,0007T) - AR T]
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange BEEARREMER - A - BRI
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale H B A 3 B SN BE B IR R0 B A BEE -
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group EERNEEREAT  KAEEUSE
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through BERENEINEEFHRITA
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business. RERBMBAME -
FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
R BHE

‘I 68 CPMC Holdings Limited 65 #efs A R 2 7]




22,

23.

24.

Cash and cash equivalents and pledged
deposits (continued)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and three
months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

All the above deposits in COFCO Finance have a short
maturity of less than three months and a determinable
return when acquired. In the opinion of the directors, these
deposits in COFCO Finance are readily convertible to a
known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value.

Derivative financial instruments

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group has
entered into various commodity futures contracts to
manage its market price risk arising from the fixed unit price
of aluminum to certain of the Group’s customers conducted
in the normal course of business. These commodity futures
contracts are measured at fair value through profit or loss.
For the year ended 31 December 2012, a net fair value
loss on derivative financial instruments of RMB5,214,000
was charged to cost of sales in the statement of profit or
loss (Note 6).

The Group did not have unsettled commodity futures
contracts as at 31 December 2013 and 31 December
2012.

Trade and bills payables
An aged analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the

end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is
as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2013 E\ji%i&%l}ﬁ%}

2013%12H31H

2. BERRLEEYREER
E® (#|)

RITHESRET BRITERA ERIE
FEHME - REBEAREHREFKX
ZE - EEESERERY A
—BE=ZEALE  DRIRABZ
LHHEH’ET? KA R ERERA B, o #R1T
BB LA ERERIERIHER
RACEBEBREF ZIRIT ©

N ERMERTIEBM TR R

BE(TR=EAR)  LEFDREDN
B35 -EFERR ZERNTREYH

B 15 2R AT B A 2 IR AT AN BB A 38
S HEBEEHRARTK -

23. fTHESRMIA

HZE2012F12A31HILEE - A%
EEFVZEEHIREL AR
EETIPEGBERAEEETE
FE T IBM BRI AT E A TS
BRER ZERPAFREOEA
FEFABZ - BIE2012F12 731
BIEFE TEEMTANFEATF
BB ARYES,214,000 2 5 A B
mERMEERAT (KizEe) o

K& B R2013%12A831H &2012
F12A3 B ENALEENRIHE

DDI:Ir/j

24. BEZRARRENRE

RIFERERE - RERAHHE
H)E 5 R R KB I RARH BR i
T

Group

REE
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETIT
Within 3 months 3@ AR 598,585 454,209
3 to 12 months 32 12{8 A 31,625 36,773
1 to 2 years 1224 1,646 4,002
Over 2 years 2F LA 1,347 1,955
633,203 496,939

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
ATRSRER
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sl 24. Trade and bills payables (continued) 24. ESRNRRENSEE (&)
STATEMENT OF
Eff';'q%&vg% Included in the trade and bills payables are trade EORNRRENZBRBEERN—
[ON=E N -+
payables of RMB380,000 (2012: RMB386,000) due to MEZMERARMNE ZENZA
a fellow subsidiary which are repayable within 90 days, K #380,0007T (20124 : AR %
which represents similar credit terms offered by a fellow 386,0007T) * #% & X 1B ZH R90H
subsidiary to its major customers (Note 36(b)). WNEE BE—ERRMNEBARELGE T
HIrZXPZEEBRZESE (M
36(b)) °
ST As at 31 December 2013, certain of the Group’s bills R2013F12A31H - AKHE KW H
OF FINANCIAL payable were secured by the Group’s bank deposits TENEBAREENRITERE
gg;;;gg% amounting to RMB15,873,000 (2012: RMB4,515,000) (Note # A R #15,873,0007T (20124 :
K TATN L o — NN
22). AR #4,515,0007T) fEHE# (K &=
22) o
Trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and the EORNRRENZERE T A
credit terms are normally 30 to 90 days. # - EEEREBE RI0E0H -
25. Other payables and accruals 25. HittEER R R EFTIEE
NOTES T0
PRTETE: ARE ALH
2013 2012 2013 2012

RMB’000 RMB'0O00  RMB’000  RMB'000
ARBTR AREBTT AR®TR ARKETE

Advances from customers BEBRI 62,603 39,446 - -
Salary and welfare payables B TE REH 74,094 75,259 - -
Accrued expenses [EEtE A 37,737 35,481 12,597 14,036
Guarantee deposits from suppliers ftERERES 17,565 13,701 - =
E:\h/liNYCEﬁ\RL Payables for purchases RIBRBRATUR
SUMMARY of equipment 53,319 50,977 - =
AEHBHE Amounts due to related JERTREE A T8
parties (Note 36(b)) (PfF3E36(b)) 42 757 - =
Tax payables other than BEHPEH
current income tax liabilities BEINENTIIE 21,262 36,599 9,323 16,042
Consideration payable (Note 31) ERX (B (Fi5E31) 89,839 3,563 - -
Others i 18,154 37,808 - -
374615 293591 21,920 30,078
Other payables and accruals are non-interest-bearing and HihfEt R REFEE R T A
have an average term of three months. B FHFBHR=MEA -
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26. Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2013 Mﬁ%iﬁiﬁ#%}

2013%12H31H

26. T ERITRHEMER

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
FAESRER

Group Z'K%
2013 2012
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) rate (%)
BRA= Maturity ~ RMB’000 ERA= Maturity RMB'000
(%) 38  ARETR (%) HE ARETR
Current BN
Bank loans - unsecured ROET -2ER  085-250 2014or 1975504  1.68-560 20130r 1,344,809
on demand on demand
201455, 201353
REXEE RENER
Current portion of long term R #RSR/T & ZrAENHA
bank loans - secured By - HHEA 6.88 2014 4,258 = = =
Other loans - unsecured Hi B — Eif
(Note 36(h)) (HiF¥36(b)) 5.04 2014 100,000 5.04 2013 259,000
2,079,762 1,603,809
Non-current N
Bank loans - unsecured RITER — EiEH - - - 1.06-207 2014 817,115
Bank loans - secured ROTER - EHE 6.88  2015-2018 12,090 = = =
2,091,852 2420924
Company AANF
2013 2012
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) rate (%)
BRANTIZ Maturity ~ RMB'000 EXAHFE Maturity RMB'000
(%) 18 ARETR (%) B ARETR
Current lk
Bank loans - unsecured ROET-2EH  085-250 2014or 1975504  168-250 20130r 1,188,565
on demand on demand
201455, 20135
REREER RERER
Non-current E5RE
Bank loans - unsecured RITET - BEH - - - 106-207 2014 817,115
1,975,504 2,005,680
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CONSOLIDATED 26. Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 26. ST EMITREMER (F&)
STATEMENT OF (continued)
CASH FLOWS
EABSHER
Group Company
AEE b N
2013 2012 2013 2012

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT AR®TR ARKETRT

Analysed into: DT
Bank loans repayable: FER T 5 BAfE
pa
POSITION =
BN E Within one year or —FREIZER
on demand B 1,979,762 1,344,809 1,975,504 1,188,565
In the second year EF 4,561 817,115 - 817,115
In the third to fifth years, FZEFERF
inclusive BREEEME 7,529 = - =

1,991,852 2,161,924 1,975,504 2,005,680

Other borrowings repayable: FER T 5 ERfEE R

NOTES TO B EAbIERK
FINANCIAL Within one year —FR 100,000 259,000 - -
STATEMENTS
el 2,001,852 2420924 1,975,504 2,005,680
Notes: Biat -
(a) At 31 December 2013, certain of the Group’s bank loans (a) R2013%F12H31H  KEFmME
were secured by: FIRITE U T2 EEIERIE -
(i)  the Group’s buildings, which had an aggregate net () ZFEEB#EF  BKEFE
carrying amount of RMB22,573,000 (2012: Nil) (Note 14); H i A R #225730007T
FIVE-YEAR and (20124 - F) (Kfat14) - R
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY (i) the Group’s land use rights, which had an aggregate (i) KEEF U EFE - BKE
AEREHE net carrying amount of RMB2,226,000 (2012: Nil) (Note 15). JEE A A R 2,226,000T
(2012%F : F) (BfiF15)
(b) Except for bank loans of RMB975,504,000 (2012: (b) B A & #975,504,0007T (2012
RMB1,005,680,000) which are denominated in United States F . A R #1,005680,0005T) &9
dollars, all borrowings are in RMB. RITEFIAZEITTEHES - FTEBER
AN RBEEHE -
(c) The Group’s other loans are advanced from a fellow (c) ZFEEBZEMENLRZNELE]
subsidiary, COFCO Finance, which is a wholly-owned BB - FIEMBRTEZ
subsidiary of COFCO. Z2EMELA] -
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27. Deferred tax 27. BEEBIEH T
STATEMENT OF
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during FRRCHEEERBENE SN F%f;gﬂg
juN=} /==
the year are as follows: T
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHRESE
Grou P Z'K %
2013
Accelerated  Withholding STATEMENT
Accelerated tax taxation of OF FINANCIAL
tax  depreciation the unremitted Accelerated tax POS'T'ON
- . - ISR &
amortisation of property, eamings  amortisation
of land plant and of certain  of intangible
use rights equipment  subsidiaries assets Others Total

nE BER  ETHELF
THERR  REomE  AEARN 0 AVEEZ
LIEHERE RERE BB NERERHE Hfh a5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®TR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARWTR

At 1 January 2013 R2013E1A18 936 899 1,220 - - 3,055 NOTES TO
o o N ) FINANCIAL
Acquisition of supmdwanes (Note 31.) IREEMB AR (M) 363 3 9,141 1,0m 10,886 STATEMENTS
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated MEEERABRRR B SRR M
statement of profit or loss during the year BEETHE (H310)
(Note 10) (855) (88) (1,220) (865) (1,0m) (4,099)
Gross deferred tax liabilies H2013F12A310
at 31 December 2013 NEELRESE 444 1,122 - 8,276 - 9,842
Deferred tax assets ELEHBEE
FIVE-YEAR
Group A E&RE FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
hERBHE

Decelerated  Decelerated

Provision for tax tax

Provision for Provision for ~ Provision  impairment depreciation ~amortisation

impairment  impairment ~ for write-  of property,  of property,  on the pre-

of trade of other downof  plantand  plantand  operating
receivables  receivables inventories  equipment  equipment  expenses Others Total

VES N1 B

BARNER  EfERR #E ey R#k  ERZHE
AERE  HERE  KERE AERE NENERE  BEES At E-hy
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR  ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETn ARETR ARETR  ARETR

At1 January 2013 R2013E1A1H 352 944 834 2,419 386 191 10,961 16,087
Deferred tax credited(charged) REEEGARREN
to the consolidated statement of profit - &l /(515 ) HERE

orloss during the year (Noe 10) £ iz 10) (186) (68) 0 (105 - - (067 (156)
Gross deferred tax assets 20135124318
at 31 December 2013 MERLHRAE 166 856 942 1,366 386 191 10,594 14,501
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CONSOLIDATED 27. Deferred tax (continued) 27 EERIR (])
STATEMENT OF
Eff': e Deferred tax liabilities BELERESE
HAR :t//n.ii
Group KE
2012
Withholding
taxation of the
Accelerated tax unremitted
STATEMENT Accelerated tax depreciation of eamnings
ggsﬁ'ﬁé’:‘c IAL amortisation of ~ property, plant of certain
BRI = land use rights ~ and equipment subsidiaries Total
TEREC 0% BRRRE ETHERRZ
MEHERE  CMERERE  RESRFEMH @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARBTT
At1 January 2012 R2012E1A1A 973 897 2,750 4,620
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 31) WiahE A (Wika1) 40 137 - 177
Deferred tax credited to the RAFEGABRRNER
NOTES TO consolidated statement of profit or ERERR (M3E10)
?T%mé\,lhs loss during the year (Note 10) (77) (135) (1,530) (1,742)
HRREHE Gross deferred tax liabilties 20126127318
at 31 December 2012 EETREER 936 899 1,220 3,065
Deferred tax assets ELEBEEE
Group KE
FIVE-YEAR Decelerated  Decelerated
FINANGIAL Provision for fax tax
SUMMARY y iy g . - -
FEHEE Provision for  Provision for Provision  imparment ~ depreciation  amortisation
impairment  impairment forwrite- of property,  of property,  on the pre-
of frade of other downof  plantand plantand  operating
receivables  receivables  inventories  equipment  equipment  expenses Others Total

hEEE 0% ER Rl

HARAH  RbEY B RRkz  RREEE  ERZAZ
AERE  BERE  KRERE  WERR  WERE  HEER it it
RMBOOO  RWBOOD  RMBOOO  RWBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBODO  RMBOD
ARBTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR ARRTR

At 1 January 2012 H2012F1A1H 371 831 313 3,155 386 191 5187 11,034
Deferred tax credited/(charged) o IWAFERABRRR
the consolicated statement of profit &8,/ (1) &

orloss during the year (Note 10) ERERA (310) (19) 13 521 (736) - - 5174 5053
Gross deferred tax assets H2012E12A318H)
at 31 December 2012 BEHEAE 352 944 834 2419 386 191 10,961 16,087
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27.

28.

Deferred tax (continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB17,947,000 (2012: RMB10,678,000) that will expire in
one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have
been loss-making for some time and it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
the tax losses can be utilised.

At 31 December 2013, there was no significant
unrecognised deferred tax liability (2012: RMB1,220,000)
for taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings
of the Group’s subsidiaries as the Group has no liability to
additional tax should such amounts be remitted due to the
availability of double taxation relief.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2013 E\ji%i&%l}ﬁi

2013%12H31H

27 RERH (&)

REEBEPBERMELEFREEEA
R #17,947,0007T (20124 : AR
#10,678,0007T) * HR—ERFR
fEr - RS AR R FE R TR A o

HRNEREBERECE —BREHE
SERONBAR  ETRA/EA
BERERTNEARBHE AT AN
MIARE - R KRR ELEN
REE °

N2013F12A31H » stAEEWE
RNAEIZARELRMNES 2 EANTIE
ms AR REERHER -
AL SR EE B - REFEYE
HIHINZTRIBEE  MUEERRRE
RELERIBAEE (2012F : AR
1,220,0007T) ©

Share Capital 28. |RA
Shares i gl
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETFIT
Authorised: TETE
1,500,000,000 (2012: 1,500,000,000) FREE.10 Bz TER
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 1,500,000,000% (20124 :
1,500,000,000 A%) 132,072 132,072
Issued and fully paid: BETREE
997,560,000 (2012: 996,000,000) FREE0.10 BTy AR
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 997,560,000/ (20124 :
996,000,0000%) 86,715 86,591

In October 2013, the subscription rights attaching to
1,560,000 share options were exercised at the subscription
price of HK$3.04 per share (Note 29), resulting in the
issue of 1,560,000 shares of HK$0.1 each for a total
cash consideration, before expenses, of HK$4,742,000
(equivalent to RMB3,757,000). An amount of HK$1,545,000
(equivalent to RMB1,234,000) was transferred from the
employee share-based compensation reserve to the share
premium account upon the exercise of the share options.

In October 2012, the Company issued 166,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each representing 16.67%
of the then enlarged capital of the Company, at the price
of HK$5.51 per share. The proceeds of the issue, before
expenses, were approximately HK$914,660,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB744,469,000).

R2013F10A » 1,560,000 B AR #EFT
M2 REEDIZREBESRIMAET
7718 (M 5E29) + & BR ¥ 171,560,000
AR EEO A T Z %) - 4B ESK
8 Rt &FAsR) B4,742,000% 7T (10
BN ARBER757,0007T) © RITERE
% RERS - 4 581,545,000 7T (FEE R
AR #4,234,0007T) B ARG A+
KiE B S SRR R ERR -

R2012%F 108 + AR EIEFR5.51
B T 2 B 1% % 17166,000,0000% &
fEE(E010B T2 ERMAK - HHE R
ARNFIEREBARAT16.67% °
BB HRE (NBRAXA) A
914,660,000/ 70 (FHE RO AR
744,469,0007T) ©
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Notes to Financial Statements
5) = 31 December 2013
B R M 20134128310
CONSOLDATED 28. Share Capital (continued) 28. & (&)
STATEMENT OF
fﬁj';@?}gi Shares (continued) B (&)
[ON=E N 4= S
The transaction during the year in the Company’s issued AKRBFARABEBHITRAZR S
share capital is as follows: ™
Number of Share
shares Issued premium
in issue capital account Total
BRT
STATEMENT RIBHE BRTRE ROEER &t
gg;‘ﬁg'&c'/\t Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BEIRE Hiat AR%TR  AR%TR  AR%®TR
At 1 January 2012 Ro0126E1A1A 830,000,000 73080 1522349 1595429
Issue of shares IR ELT 166,000,000 13,511 730,958 744,469
996,000,000 86,591 2,253,307 2,239,898
Share issue expenses BIn TR - = (8,721) (8,721)
At 31 December 2012and 20125128318 %
1 January 2013 2013F1A1H 996,000,000 86,591 2,244 586 2,331,177
LIIDNTAENSCH\JL Share options exercised BTl 29 1,660,000 124 4,867 4,991
STATEMENTS At 31 December 2013 #®2013F12A31H 997,560,000 86,715 2,249,453 2,336,168
Share options R
Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the AR CIBARERT B RAR B G 88217
share options issued under the scheme are included in BB AR S B D EON B B AR P A
Note 29 to the financial statements. 29 °

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
EPHHE
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29. Share Option Scheme 29. IR fETE

CONSOLIDATED

On 23 October 2009, the shareholders of the Company
conditionally approved and adopted a share option scheme
(the “Scheme”) for the purpose of attracting, retaining
and motivating directors and eligible participants and
providing them with an opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company and to encourage them to work
towards enhancing the value of the Company. Eligible
participants include, but are not limited to, any directors,
(excluding independent non-executive directors), officers

20099 10H23H * AR AIMBREREA
I L R BR 4 T — TR BE I i 5T
B ([Zar8)) 8ERS - BEK
HEEERAER2EE - WL
BEARARIMAEREZ B
MAERAAABEEMIE 84
B EEAEBTRERANEE T M
BE (TEEBYENTES) 5
METIREE HEZCRER

STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FAESRER

STATEMENT
and employees of the Group, or any other person the B (Ef Eofth A = o 3251 &I 820094 OF FINANCIAL
board of directors may propose. The Scheme shall be valid 11A16BRER - XA TF - ET;BET}‘E%%N

K TAnN L

and effective for a period of ten years commencing from 16
November 2009.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme is
an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time. The maximum
number of shares issuable under share options to each
eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in
excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any

BZETEIBRIA B T ARITE 2
AR ITER AT R 2 AR F KR H%
&= EREE - BHERARGER
BB BT 210% ° IREM12
B AEME - BEZTERTEMLE
B2 EE 7 BREANETRODZ
e E EEAEREERRAR R
BTN Z1% o BHILRHl 2 T
ME—PREZEREELESRK
HABRERSHE ©

BTYARARES TBTTHARN
TERRABWEEMBEAZBR
AR MBUIFANTTEFHE ° It
S EMI2EAMEA - BT A

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
B ERME

FIVE-YEAR
share options granted to a substantial shareholder of the RAFERHFEEMRMBEBA A FINANCIAL
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% ] B AR A - Wi B 3 R A ) £ 1] B ] ﬁ;;’\%‘;g

A7 =

of the shares of the Company in issue at any time or with
an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million,
within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’
approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of
a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee.
The exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the directors, and commences after a
vesting period of two to six years and ends on a date which
is not later than seven years from the date of offer of the
share options or the expiry date of the Scheme, if earlier.

EEITIRN0.1% » HIRA D ARG
REHBHZERTENEERR
5,000,000/ 7T + BIZB S AR R A A
RAEHE -

BRER D EHANR L B
28AAEMMERARAINAEHR
1IBTHRBARE - FIRHER
BOTEY AESET  TRXW
EXNFNRBHEABRRTER
BRER L B et 8 E R A 8
(ABREERE) BFFLFZAK
ke
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B s 2 Y 20134%12A31H
CONSOLIDATED 29. Share Option Scheme (continued) 29. B fERT & ()
STATEMENT OF
fﬁj';q%iw% The exercise price of share options is determinable by the BREZITEERESRE BT
MAERTINE . A AT e =
i directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the BERHABEHEREZABERAQT
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on R B rzmE : (NEER
the date of offer of the share options; (i) the average Stock L HBAAER S B ARG KRNE
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the Bt R Pz W TAE - (iR D 2
five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer; HE (U&aER%E) -
and (iii) the nominal value of a share.
ST Share options do not confer rights on the holders to BRETEE THE ARREER
OF FINANCIAL dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings. BHRBRREAGIRE 2R -
POSITION
BHRE . \ .
On 12 October 2011, a total of 8,300,000 share options M2011%F10A12H - A& #£8,300,000
were granted to certain directors and employees of the EEMRRE (2011 FEIE]) ERT
Group in respect of their services to the Group in the AEBETEEERES - MEATRK
forthcoming years (the “2011 Options”). ZREBERIEEREHEE -
The following 2011 Options were outstanding under the LATZEt 8N 22011 B IR R
Scheme during the year: FREEARITE
NOTES TO
FINANCIAL 2013 2012
STATEMENTS ) .
e Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price of options price  of options
hngE MR hnE B
T EE A FHITEE #H
HK$ ’000 HK$ ‘000
per share per share
FIVE-YEAR BRET T4 SRET T
SOMMARY At 1 January R1A18 3.04 8,300 3.04 8,300
AFHHHE Forfeited during the year RANFE 2 I 3.04 (500) = =
Exercised during the year RARFEITE 3.04 (1,560) - =
At 31 December ®W12H31H 3.04 6,240 3.04 8,300

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A7)
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29. Share Option Scheme (continued)

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise
for share options exercised during the year was HK$5.96
per share (2012: No share options were exercised).

The vesting periods, exercise price and exercise periods of
the 2011 Options outstanding as at 31 December 2013 are
as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2013 ,E\Zl'ﬁiﬁilzﬁi

2013%12H31H

29. ERHEETE (&)

FR - RATEERRE R 2 hnEF
BB AER5.9678 7T (20124 : I
IR T TIE) -

MR2013F12A31H » #ATTF2011
FHERE2GBH 1TEERITE
HAONE

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
FAESRER

Number of options granted STATEMENT
BiEBRIEYE Vesting period Exercise price  Exercise period OF F'F[“OASN”Cl‘é\,b
Directors  Employees Total  (dd-mm-yyyy) per share  (dd-mm-yyyy) BRI E
Bz &g Bt HEH BROEE &S
'000 000 000 (£-A-R) HKS (§-F-1R)
T4 T4 T4 BT
280 1,280 1560  12-10-2011 to 11-10-2014 304 12-10-2014 to 11-10-2015
2011107128 Z2014F10A 118 2014F10R 12822015810 A11H
280 1,280 1,560 12-10-2011 to 11-10-2015 304 12-10-2015to 11-10-2016
20111071282 2015F10A 118 2015F 1012822016510 A11H
280 1,280 1,560 12-10-2011 to 11-10-2016 304 12-10-2016 to 11-10-2017 NOTES T0
2011108 12AE2016%10A 118 20164104 128220174108 1A STATEMENTS
280 1,280 1,560 12-10-2011 to 11-10-2017 304 12-10-2017 to 11-10-2018 BRI
2011107128 Z2017F10A 118 2017F10R12BE2018F10A11H
1,120 5,120 6,240

The fair value of the 2011 Options was HK$8,126,514, of
which the Group recognised a share option expense of
RMB1,726,000 during the year ended 31 December 2013
(2012: RMB1,955,000).

The fair value of the 2011 Options were estimated as at the
date of grant, using a binomial model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model
used:

0M1MFE B R E 2 A FEAB
8,126,514 7T - EHFAKEREZE
2013%F 12 A31 A I FE rEREE AL 4
FZ AR #1,726,0007T (2012 © A
ER#1,955,0007T) °

01 FEBREZ AFEIDIARIRHA
HAA—EAER G - TEEE
BB IR 2 IR R o TR
NPT A 2 R A g A B

2011 Options

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
HEPHHE

2011 SFEA AR
Dividend yield (%) 1% B2 (%) 2.35
Expected volatility (%) TE BRI IR (%) 38.48
Historical volatility (%) JEE 2R MR (%) 38.48
Risk-free interest rate (%) R FIR (%) 1.12
Expected life of options (year) TRHARE AR A U (F) 3.00 to 7.00
Weighted average share price (HK$ per share) IEFEERE (BiET) 3.04
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29. BT & (&)

CONSOLIDATED 29. Share Option Scheme (continued)

STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FAREMER

The expected life of the options is determined with
reference to the vesting term and original contractual term
of the Scheme and is not necessarily indicative of the
exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is
indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily
be the actual outcome.

Bz BERBEMN T2 E XS
ZEBEFNREQERMETE -
BT —ERBRATBEEITZITER
T o TR BRI [ R R S R R IR R R
KBEZBRE MET—ERER
R -

REt B R FERBEMNASREBR

STATEMENT No other feature of the options granted was incorporated N

OF FINANCIAL into the measurement of fair value. W2 Bt R o
POSITION

ISR &
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FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
EPHHE

180

The 1,560,000 share options exercised during the year
resulted in the issue of 1,560,000 ordinary shares of the
Company and new share capital of HK$156,000 (equivalent
to RMB124,000) and share premium of HK$6,131,000
(equivalent to RMB4,867,000) (before issue expense), as
further detailed in Note 28 to the financial statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
6,240,000 (2012: 8,300,000) share options outstanding
under the Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding
share options would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in the issue of 6,240,000 (2012:
8,300,000) additional ordinary shares of the Company
and additional share capital of HK$624,000 (2012:
HK$830,000) and share premium of HK$18,345,600 (2012:
HK$24,402,000) (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
shares issuable from the above outstanding share options
represented approximately 0.6% (2012: 0.8%) of the
Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A7)

7 F R 17 £1,560,00017 B8 % #E &
B % 171,560,0000% A8 2 7 & i A%
MEE 4 156,000/ T (HHERARE
124,0007T) 2 ¥ 8% 7K 16,131,000
BT (FHE N A R #4,867,0007T)
ZBmEE (Rt k¥ETHY) - H
B E N B SR K28 -

B3R E B R ARQFEZE
2| T ¥ H6,240,00015 (20124 :
8,300,00013 ) & 7K 17 {5 BE A% #% o
EARARBZHITRAZRET - 2@
TEMARTEBEREBSHET
6,240,0000% (20124 : 8,300,000
) A RREBRREE
624,000/ 7T (20124 : 830,000/%
JC) Z REHMNIR AN K2 18,345,600/% JT
(20124 : 24,402,000/ 7T) 2 A%
DB CRETEITHASA) °

PILEZSEMBHRERZE - KA M
EHRRITEBREZATEHTRG
B BARAEEITRM40.6%
(20124 : 0.8%) °



30. Reserves

(a) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents: 1) the difference
between the total consideration of the shares issued
and the issued share capital; 2) additional contribution
made by the shareholders of the Company’s
subsidiaries; 3) in the case of an acquisition of an
additional equity interest in a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary, the difference between the cost of
acquisition and the non-controlling interests acquired;
and 4) in case of a settlement of a shareholder’s loans,
the difference between the carrying amount of loans
and the consideration.

Statutory reserve

Subsidiaries of the Company established in the
PRC are required to make appropriations to certain
statutory reserves, namely the reserve funds, from
their statutory profit for the year after offsetting
accumulated losses as determined under the PRC
accounting regulations from prior years and before
profit distribution to equity holders. The percentage
to be appropriated to such statutory reserve funds is
determined according to the relevant regulations in
the PRC at 10% or at the discretion of the boards of
directors of the respective companies.

Notes to Financial Statements

30. f&

(a)

31 December 2013
2013128318

PR AR M

]

AEE
758 B A B A 2
HEBERRERDERGA
HEEBEST -

B

BARBHAR  NEBETRN
RRERCETRAZER
)ERRAMEBE AR ZRRMEL
ZEINER )EWREBIHEEE
BEMBLARNEIIIENE
T o YRR AN B B W BB SRR

% 18 &= 2%% K 4)5h B B R
RERME  EREREERT
@Z%@o
HEERE

$ AP R R A i K S Y B

RIZBEEFRETEFE (K
%mﬁ$laﬁﬁﬁﬁxmL
FFERFEER RABRARE
ﬁA%ﬁﬂﬂ R AT MET
EERE (BREES) B - 15
miiimﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁm%m
L IR 15 A B AR BEE FR LA10%
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CONSOLIDATED 30. Reserves (continued) 30. 45 (88)
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (b) Company (b) Z'Kﬂ\ﬁj

FAREMER

Employee
share-based  Exchange
Share compensation  fluctuation Retained

premium reserve reserve profits Total
WA %1 B
RIAEE EEMERE I BEAE &5t
STATEMENT Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Do - M ARMTR  ARMTI ARMTI ARBTR ARTR
BIEIR & At 1 January 2012 1201261A18 1,522,349 392 (84,350 133 1,438,524
Profit for the year ERFAE 11 = = = 64,443 64,443
Issue of shares BIRG 28 730,958 = = = 730,958
Share issue expenses R EBTHRX 28 (8,721) - - - (8,721)
Equity-settled share EnitE
option arrangements BRETY 29 = 1,955 = = 1,955
Exchange differenceson ~ [E}ZEE
NOTES TO translation - - (2,504) - (2,504)
CTATEMENTS 2012 interim dvidend 20125 R R 12 - - - (B0 (36%)
b e Proposed 2012 final dividend #8k2012F K ik 8 12 - = = (28,884) (28,884)
At 31 December 2012 120126128318 2,244 586 2,347 (86,854) 2 2,160,081
Profit for the year ERFIH 11 - - - 86,888 86,888
Issue of shares BIRG 28 4,867 (1,234) - - 3,633
Equity-settled share Bkt
option arrangements Bz 29 = 1726 = = 1726
Exchange differenceson ~ E} =%
e translation s - (51459) - (51459)
SUMMARY Transfer of share option PR AR R
DEHBHE reserve upon the forfeiture BB IRIEEE
of share options - (228) - 228 -
2013 interim dividend 20135 RS 12 - - - (42,828) (42,828)
Proposed 2013 final dividend k2013 KRR 2 12 S S S (34,915) (34,915)
At 31 December 2013 20135 12A31H 2,249,453 2,611 (138,309) 9,375 2,123,130
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31. Business combinations

Business combinations for the year ended 31 December 2013

On 18 February 2013, COFCO (BVI) No.34 Limited (“BVI
34”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a share purchase agreement with Mr. Huang
Weibo (the “Vendor”), pursuant to which BVI 34 had agreed
to purchase the entire issued share capital of Victoria
Industrial Limited (“Victoria Industrial”) from the Vendor
for a cash consideration of RMB294,411,439 (subject to
adjustment with a maximum consideration in the amount
of RMB375,000,000). Victoria Industrial holds 86.67% of
the equity interest in Zhongshan Huanya. Victoria Industrial
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Victoria Industrial
Group”) are engaged in the production and sale of plastic
packaging.

As part of the share purchase agreement in respect of
the acquisition of equity interest in Victoria Industrial, a
contingent consideration is payable, which is principally
dependent on the consolidated adjusted data from the
audited financial statements of Zhongshan Huanya, a
Zhongshan Huanya’s wholly-owned subsidiary and an
investee of Zhongshan Huanya (together, the “Huanya
Group”) for the financial years ended/ending 2012, 2013
and 2014 and the performance target to be achieved by
such companies as agreed between the Vendor and BVI
34. The fair values of the total contingent consideration
recognised as at the acquisition date and 31 December
2013 were RMB269,250,000 and RMB269,250,000,
respectively. The consideration is due for payment to
the Vendor on the date of approval of the consolidated
adjusted data of the Huanya Group for each of the financial
years ended/ending 2012, 2013 and 2014 provided that the
batches of measurement as agreed in the share purchase
agreement can be met. At the date of approval of these
financial statements, no further significant changes to the
consideration are expected.

On 18 February 2013, Hangzhou CPMC, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
a share purchase agreement with Zhongshan Huihong
Assets Operating Management Co., Ltd.* (“Zhongshan
Huihong”), pursuant to which Hangzhou CPMC had agreed
to purchase 13.33% of the equity interest of Zhongshan
Huanya from Zhongshan Huihong for a cash consideration
of RMB37,000,000.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2013 E\ji%i&%l}ﬁ%}
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31. ¥%E6t

BZ2013F12A31 AL EE 2 %7
a6t

R2013%F2H18H - KR A Z HE
2ENBARYRE (RBER A
5) F3MBFRAR ([ABER B
834]) BEFEKELEETER]D 77
T—HERGE B REBER
FHEMAENREREBEARE
294,411,4397C (A FHAE - Zem
& A& A R #375,000,0007T) A &
FTBARBEXERAR (HEE
¥ 2e2BPEBTREA - EEE
AR ILIRGE 2 86.67%AXIE o 45
BEENHEMBAR (KBIHEBE
X¥EE]) URBLEERHEEBRE

At
I< °

EABBREBEESEXERENER
WEN—ID  KAREETENR
FTHRINRE AILIRENE2EN
BRARIAKRFPILIRGFAEENA
Al (B IIREEE]) NE=E2012
F . 2013F F2014F I EE R
KEZVEREROE A EAZEEE
LARE T BEEBARRBES34FT1%
EAHRAEBEAREKMNEKIFBZEMm
AT o PULEE B HEA KX 2013 12 431
HREZNIARERELATFED
A A R #269,250,0007T & A R &
269,250,0007T c KB EZ N IR &1
% B & 2201249 - 20134F K&2014
FIFRMBFENGEA EHABRYSIE
BHEZAINTES  AiREN
HERBERBEHENSIHTE -
RZEVBRREMEZ B - TBH
REVEEMERES -

R2013F2H18H » ANQ A 2 [ #
ZEMNBRRTINF IR EA |
MEEEEREEEARAT  ([H
WWEEMR D) SIS — D ERIHE - &
I MNP EERRENREESRE
A R #37,000,0007T [A & L [E % B8
A LRI H)13.33% AL o
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T 31. Business combinations (continued) 31. ¥BE06t (8)
STATEMENT OF
GASH FLOWS Business combinations for the year ended 31 December BZE2013F12A31H L FEZ £

FAREMER

2013 (continued)

After the completion of the above acquisitions (the
“Acquisitions”), Victoria Industrial and its subsidiaries
became the indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company. The Acquisitions were made as part of the
Group’s strategy to expand its market share in the plastic
packaging market. Further details of the Acquisitions were
set out in the announcement of the Company dated 18
February 2013.

&0t ()

R g ([WEEEI1E]) 5EKIE -
WAEEEREMBRARIKAARRT
NEEZEE2ENBEAR - WEEEA
AEBRBREEBBEEMSNM
SRR —3Hn BREWES
EHRNEMEFBSHIREARRHEAE
2013F2 A 18HMIARE -

STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL

POSITION * The English name of the above company is a direct Y BRERAAZCEXEEIEFELEN
B R BrRl AL -

transliteration of its Chinese registered name.

A summary of the fair values of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the Victoria Industrial Group as at the date of
the Acquisitions is as follows:

BABEEEFEABREERE
BERWEEIE R 2 AT EM
T

Fair value
recoghised
NOTES TO on acquisition
FINANCIAL PUEB R
STATEMENTS AT
SABRaR MR Notes RMB'000
Htat AREFT
Available-for-sale investments AMEHERE 7,592
Property, plant and equipment W - B K& 14 137,067
Prepaid land lease payments TEft T E R 15 5,611
Other intangible assets HEthmEE 17 36,647
Deferred tax assets RIETIEE E 36
Inventories B8 44,919
FIVE-YEAR Trade and bills receivables m%ﬁ”& &ﬁ”&ﬂ??ﬁé 71,279
FINANCIAL Prepayments, deposits and TARR - e RE AL EYGR
SUM’Q/'ARY . other receivables 140,292
SR L Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEY 64,402
Trade and bills payables Z S EMNFRENRE (22,336)
Other payables and accruals HAEN R R ERTIE R (108,962)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings ETRIRITER (155,855)
Tax payable JESBRIA (1,448)
Deferred tax liabilities BIEFIEAE 27 (10,886)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value AIE#AFEE RN T ELE 208,358
Goodwill on acquisition I Ry PR 16 97,892
Satisfied by cash* AR & F A F > 306,250
*  Cash consideration of RMB216,411,000 was paid by the * AR #216411,000r H1E 2 L 1B

Group during the year ended 31 December 2013, and the /K EERE 22013 12H31H
remaining consideration of RMB89,839,000 was included in IEFEESZNT - T HEARE
the Group’s other payables and accruals as at 31 December 89,839,0007t i1 A 7K % [ 12013
2013. F12H31HBJE M fE 5 R EATTE
g -
None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be TEEEL R E MR e B I R AT 1S A
deductible for income tax purposes.

‘I 84 CPMC Holdings Limited 65 #efs A R 2 7]




31. Business combinations (continued)

Business combinations for the year ended 31 December
2013 (continued)

The fair values of the trade receivables and other
receivables as at the date of acquisition amounted to
RMB71,279,000 and RMB108,807,000, respectively. The
gross contractual amounts of trade receivables and other
receivables were RMB71,279,000 and RMB108,807,000,
respectively, of which trade receivables of RMB4,000 are
expected to be uncollectible.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB584,000
for the Acquisitions. These transaction costs have been
expensed and are included in administrative expenses in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the Acquisitions

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2013 E\ji%i&%l}ﬁ%}

2013%12H31H

31. B E6t (&)

BZ2013F12A31 AL EE 2 %7
&6t (&)

Z 5 EK KR EMmERZKR
WEBHMNAFEDRAA
R #71,279,000t & A R #&
108,807,000t ° B 5 B W 3 &
HihEWZHBRENSEI R A
A R #71279,000t & A B ¥
108,807,000t * E A R#4,000
TR E 5 EUGRTER A U E -

AEBERKBEBEELERHHA
A R #584,0007T ° 2 X 5 KA
EXHEIAAGRAEERNITHRE
AR -

BB EENRSRIFED T

is as follows: N

RMB’000
AR®T R
Cash consideration paid BEREeRE (216,411)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired  BEARE RRSZEY 64,402

Net outflow of cash and cash PREREEHHRERNA SR

equivalents included in cash flows ReFEBYRLFHE

from investing activities (152,009)

Since the Acquisitions, the Victoria Industrial Group
contributed RMB269,144,000 to the Group’s revenue and
RMB29,330,000 to the Group’s consolidated profit for the
year ended 31 December 2013.

Had the combinations taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group and the profit of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2013 would have been no
material difference.

Business combination for the year ended 31 December 2012

On 6 July 2012, BVI 34 entered into a share purchase
agreement with Huang Weibo, pursuant to which BVI 34
agreed to purchase all issued share capital of Paulian
Investment Holding Limited, which holds a 65.25% equity
interest in Tianjin Huanya, for a cash consideration of
approximately USD1,878,000 (approximately equivalent to
RMB11,948,000) (the “Paulian Acquisition”). The Paulian
Acquisition was made as part of the Group’s strategy to
expand its market share in the plastic packaging market.

BREBEENR #EEXEE
B A AREEE =2013F12A31H
FFEZRARKEFNBESRE
Bt A R #269,144,0007T K A B
29,330,0007T °

A GRENETT  REE20134F
12A318 L FE 2 AREBKARK
EEFELIAEEAD R -

BZ2012F12A31 AL EE 2 %7
a6t

R2012F7H6H - ABEBRREES
4B EFEF T BB - RIFE
Mg RBHEBRRFES34RE
/e REL1,878,000% 7Tt (HBER
4 AN R #11,048,0007T) Y iz E
KREERER AR BFERERD
65.25% % #E) 2EEBITRA ([&F
BUEEE]) - ERWEEEALR
EEAREGCEBEEMSENTIS
D FBRISREE — 21D ©
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31. Business combinations (continued) 31.

Business combination for the year ended 31 December

2012 (continued)

A summary of the fair values of the related identifiable
assets and liabilities acquired as at the date of the Paulian

Acquisition is as follows:

EBaot (8)

BZE2012F12A31A L FE 2 ¥7%
&0t ()
REFWREBHEWE 2 HBETE
BRHEERBEBEZ AT EM MM
T -

Fair value
recoghised
on acquisition
MUBEER 2
NEE
Notes RMB’000
Htat ARBTFT
Property, plant and equipment e 14 36,870
Prepaid land lease payments A L E R 15 12,320
Inventories FE 6,027
Trade and bills receivables Z SRR R RIE 13,491
Prepayments, deposits and ERAR - Zek
other receivables H A & IR 22,650
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEY 917
Trade and bills payables Z S REMNFRERNRE (1,629)
Other payables and accruals HEAb SRR ERTIAR (70,777)
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEEE 27 (177)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value FI & AIFEE X TELAR 19,692
Non-controlling interests FEPERR (6,842)
12,850
Gain on bargain purchase recognised M4RE 1B & ERA
in other income and gains in the HAWA R st E
consolidated statement of profit or loss W e &) (902)
11,948
Satisfied by cash* R EHAZR 11,948

* A cash consideration of RMB8,364,000 was paid by the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2012 and the
remaining consideration of RMB3,5684,000 was paid by the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2013.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the Paulian

Acquisition is as follows:

* K B2 R E F2012F12531
Bt FEAZNHEE L EARK
8,364,0007T » figh T H1BEANRKE
3,684,0007T Al d X & B R E =
2013%F 12H31HIFFRASNT °

FHAERKBEFENRES RO TN
T

RMB’000
AR%T R
Cash consideration paid ERRERE (8,364)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired  BEARSRIFRSEEY 917
Net outflow of cash and cash BREREESHRSRNRS
equivalents included in cash flows RBRSEBYRL F5E
from investing activities (7,447)

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A7)



31.

32.

33.

34.

Business combinations (continued)
Business combination for the year ended 31 December 2010

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group
acquired all issued share capital of International United
Group Limited from a third party at a cash consideration
of approximately RMB146,606,000. Cash consideration of
RMB106,606,000 was paid by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2010 and the remaining consideration
of RMB40,000,000 was paid by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2012.

Contingent liabilities

At the end of the reporting period, except for the contingent
consideration payable which is required to be measured
at fair value (Note 31), neither the Group nor the Company
had any other significant contingent liabilities.

Pledge of assets

Details of the Group’s letters of credit, bills payable and
bank loans, which are secured by the assets of the Group,
are included in Notes 22, 24 and 26, respectively, to the
financial statements.

Operating lease arrangements

As lessee

The Group leases certain of its office properties, factories
and warehouses under operating lease arrangements.
Leases for office properties, factories and warehouses are
negotiated for terms ranging from one to five years.

At 31 December 2013, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
falling due as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
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31. ¥ E6t (&)

HZ2010F12A31 AL EE 2 %7
a6t

H EZ2010F12A31H IEE E - K
EERN—ZFE=ZHFKBEERT
BEEBMAEEBEERAFANEZHE
BORA BERENBEARE
146,606,000 - ARE B EREE
2010F12A31H IEFEASZ RS
R EFH AR #106,606,0007T °
mer TR E A R%40,000,0007T 8
RAEBREZ20129412A318 1t
FERNZ -

32. FREE

RS PERE - BRAKKRQFE
AEZENHAREIN (HiE31)
AREBELARALEEMEREKX

33. KEAEE

AEBUEEEEBEHRZEAK - &
NEBRBITERZFHBS IER
PSRRI 5E22 « 24526 ©

34. FEHMERH

ERFEBAA
AEEREEEMOLEARET
MRAEME BMEMER -HTEW
REYE BERESHEMAN T —
EhfFo

KEBENR2013F12A31BIRET 7
BRI R H 2 A A] U A e F 4 B
NZRREERESEBMOT

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FAESRER

2013 2012

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R AREFIT

Within one year —F R 18,535 10,761
In the second to fifth years, inclusive FEZEFERF

(BIEERWE) 16,226 20,279

After five years HF1% - 9,691

34,761 40,731

STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
FBRRR

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
B ERME

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
HEPHHE

Annual Report 2013 2013 £ [E 4

187



Notes to Financial Statements
B F& SR F B 5F 31 December 2013

2013%12H31H

— ] . vy
D 35. Commitments 35. &
STATEMENT OF
Eﬁjg%&gi Capital commitments BERAGE
WA P i RNEN [ T N
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed R £ ST RES4FT il 2 48 & M & 2
in Note 34 above, the Group had the following capital N RBEHEREAEE &
commitments at the end of the reporting period: AGEIAT
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARBTFT
STATEMENT Capital commitments in respect of B@YE  HWE
OF FINANCIAL . . s e
POSITION property, plant and equipment: REHEAFEGE
BBHRE Contracted, but not provided for ERTAEREL B 172,890 377,152
Authorised, but not contracted for BEHLEERETL 539,862 486,668
712,752 863,820
The Company did not have any significant commitments as ARNAIRRERERF I EEME
at the end of the reporting period (2012: Nil). KA (20124 « &) -
I Other commitments Hfth A& 74
FINANCIAL
;T;gggﬁgs Commitments under foreign currency forward contracts: EHIINE S HIA T 2 G
Group
AEE
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTFT
Sales of United States dollars etrET 117,044 -
FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
R BHE
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Notes to Financial Statements
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36. Related party transactions 36. AEX S T

STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
FAESRER

PRz TR M R A 05 P
2RI AEBRFRER

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere (a)
in these financial statements, the Group had the

A certain portion of these related party transactions
constituted connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions discloseable in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

Related companies are companies under significant
influence of the Group’s ultimate holding company.

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The sales to the fellow subsidiaries and related
companies were made according to the published
prices and conditions offered to the major customers of
the Group.

The rental expenses were determined with reference to
the prevailing market rental.

The interest income arising from the deposits to
COFCO Finance was determined in accordance with
the prevailing RMB deposit rates promulgated by the
People’s Bank of China.

The interest expense arising from the loans from
COFCO Finance was charged with reference to the
prevailing RMB lending rates promulgated by the
People’s Bank of China and the prevailing market
conditions.

RIFLTHER - WEFEALRS
HYE T BN BN E T R BRI BER
BEIFERERS -

BB L 7] B R B R AEFER 2 A]
EAFERLF]

Bia -

(1)

(1)

(iii)

(iv)

18] 5] R 1 /8 2 7] R B4 2 /]
H2H B TR R E T BT8R
R TFAEET BEEF 415
FimETT »

HEHL IR ZHTHSH

E LB IR 7 A8
WA T3 255 BIA R AR T7T AT
MBI aY B 7T A W17 5 &
TEE °

EL AT BB 78
HLZ 2T FEANRRT
BB ) B 7T A R BB T
R FITI TR
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following material transactions with related parties EATETERRZAT :
during the year:
Group
REE
2013 2012
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 STATEMENT
Wi ARMTR  ARETR 0F IO
Transaction with the ultimate Bl fx AR A% BERE
holding company: NSRS
Rental expense HeMx (ii) 744 744
Transactions with EARFE AT
related companies:* RS *
Sale of products* HES M (i) 11,489 10,827
Rental expense e (i) 239 391
NOTES TO
Transactions with fellow ER A BB A A ST,F\IT':E‘,\WNE[;:IT‘;
subsidiaries: x5 RS HRME
Sale of products* HES M (i) 145,133 78,306
Rental expense e (i) 1,446 1,476
Interest income (Note 5) FLBWA (HI5E5) (iii) 2,217 1,765
Interest expense (Note 7) FEAZ (MF7) (iv) 10,816 6,217
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T 36. Connected transactions (continued) 36. BEXRS (&)
STATEMENT OF
CASHFLOWS (b) Outstanding balances with related parties: (b) EERAE A+ RIMK B

FAREMER

2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTFT
Trade receivables (Note 20): B 5 UG (5E20) -
Fellow subsidiaries EEINIEZEVNG 7477 20,553
Related companies FAE N A 3,075 6,295
STATEMENT A non-controlling shareholder of —E BB A BAY
POSTON- a subsidiary — IR AR - 3,159
BIEIR &
Prepayments, deposits and AR Ee Rk
other receivables (Note 21): Hab ek (fisE21) -
A fellow subsidiary —FHRRMB A A 75 52
Trade payables (Note 24): B SR (HiiE24) -
A fellow subsidiary CIGE NG 380 386
NOTES TO Other payables and accruals (Note 25): Efth fE {7k K fE5HE A
FINANCIAL (|31-JL§I25) .
STATEMENTS
B RRMEE Fellow subsidiaries EEX =G 42 56
The ultimate holding company b ST NG - 701
Deposits placed: REFRR
A fellow subsidiary —HRZMEAF 83,811 252,541
Interest-bearing borrowings (Note 26): £t & f&3% (HiE126) :
A fellow subsidiary —HRRMMBAF] 100,000 259,000
FIVE-YEAR
E'm’:ﬁ\'é# Except for the borrowings from a fellow subsidiary, BRARBRAMBARTRYBKNE
AFHHHE COFCO Finance, which are unsecured, interest- RAEEER  FERAR—FAE
bearing and repayable within one year and the B URTFHRRRME QAR
deposits placed to fellow subsidiaries which are L AR NREREREZIN Ll
interest-bearing and repayable on demand, the above EeATEIR . R AV ERT
balances are unsecured, interest-free and have no EBEHE

fixed terms of repayment.
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36. BEXRS (&)

36. Connected transactions (continued)

(c)

Transactions and balances with other state-owned
entities

The Group operates in an economic environment
predominated by enterprises directly or indirectly
owned or controlled by the PRC government
through its numerous authorities, affiliates or other
organisations (collectively “State-owned Enterprises”).
During the year, the Group enters into extensive
transactions, mainly covering purchases of tinplates

(c) REARAERCHNXZR

BREE

AEEELNKERREFHDE
EXZRTERFABEBER
SR BERBIE MDA
ERUHEREAREHNEE
(RBTBEBRE]D - KEEX
SHEEREUINNBEARERE
TRERS  TESRKRES

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FAESRER

STATEMENT
with State-owned Enterprises, other than the M B S GHREE I OF FINANCIAL
COFCO, at terms comparable to those with other HE BRI EHEE - EJB@T}&N

K TAnN L

non-state-owned entities.

The directors consider that transactions with other
State-owned Enterprises are activities in the ordinary
course of its business, and that dealings of the Group
have not been significantly or unduly affected by the
fact that the Group and those State-owned Enterprises
are ultimately controlled or owned by the PRC
government. The Group has also established pricing
policies for products and services, and such policies
do not depend on whether or not the customers
are State-owned Enterprises. Having due regard to
the substance of the relationships, the directors of
the Company are of the opinion that none of these
transactions constitutes a related party transaction
that requires separate disclosure.

EERA BEMBBEAREN
RHP/EEBEERBERETHE
THRE) - AAKEEAPLH
BRAREEFEENEA
TENEZHAREIINERK
TEXE A5EEFTER
MARF R EEBER - MiE LR
RITBRREPREREA
X KEFEREBALE
MEBRMNEEZR  ARAES
RRELRXHIIFE AR S
RHMBRITTARE °

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
B ERME

(d) Compensation of key management personnel of (d) ZEEFEEEASNME : A
the Group: FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
hERBHE
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
Short term employee benefits REEBR 7,108 6,867
Post-employment benefits BEBR 12 B A 449 399
Equity-settled share option expense EREERBIRERS 436 494
Total compensation paid to YNTFEEER
key management personnel A ERENE 7,993 7,760

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included
in Note 8 to the financial statements.

BEHESHENE—SFBINY
B MR EEBA
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37. RERIETNEMTA
SEMTABBREREBROEE

CONSOLIDATED 37. Financial instruments by category

STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

& e The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
GAHSRER

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as (EV RN
follows:
Financial assets THEE
Group
Loans and receivables
STATEMENT NEE
OF FINANCIAL B R EWRIE
POSITION
BBtz 2013 A9
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBT T
Trade and bills receivables B SRR MR EE 775,795 698,258
Financial assets included in prepayments, 5t ATER 3 « & &
deposits and other receivables HEihEW R emEE 126,441 32,263
Pledged deposits [REEEIVER /N 15,938 31,647
Cash and cash equivalents RWENIBESEEY 987,382 1,677,297
NOTES TO 1,905,556 2,439,465
FINANGIAL
A E
SRR Group TEE
2013 20134
Financial liabilities THEERE
Financial
liabilities
at fair value
through profi
FIVE-YEAR gh proft
FINANCIAL or loss
SUMMARY ROYHE
FEHKHE EC -0
SREE
Designated Financial
as such liabilities at
upon initial amortised
recognition cost Total
RIE REBEEARTE
BRREE HemeE #at
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®TT AR¥®TR
Trade and bills payables EHRNF R ENFR - 633,203 633,203
Financial liabilities included in STAE MR R
other payables and accruals B EANESHAE 89,839 148,079 237,918
Other liabilities HitafE - 12,880 12,880
Interest-bearing bank and FTRIRITREME R
other borrowings - 2,091,852 2,091,852
89,839 2,886,014 2,975,853
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37. Financial instruments by category (continued) 7. REHESHWEMIE (H) CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
2012 20125 Z?Ci\fsﬁggis
Financial liabilities LHEE "
Financial

liabilities at fair
value through
profit or loss

BAFE
SIAIBEEH STATEMENT
TERAE OF FINANCIAL
Designated Financial HUSI
- B &
as such liabilities at
upon initial amortised
recognition cost Total
R
i big KA E
REFETE ZeHmAaR mEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETT ARETT
Trade and bills payables B S e RERENEE - 496,939 496,939 FINANCIAL
Financial liabilities included in ST AR ER TN STATEMENTS
other payables and accruals BAERNESREE 3,563 250,582 254,145 M RRME
Interest-bearing bank and SHESRITREMMER
other borrowings - 2,420,924 2,420,924
3,563 3,168,445 3,172,008
Financial assets TREE
Company FIVE-YEAR
Loans and receivables gmm&
chMﬂt REHBHE
BERRERTE
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETIT
Non-current receivables from subsidiaries REN B A RRIIEREE R FIE 445,714 109,637
Due from subsidiaries JE WP B A Bk 3E 1,797,369 874,519
Financial assets included in prepayments, SPATERF - e REM
deposits and other receivables EURZHCREE 715 7,629
Cash and cash equivalents B NIHEEEY 569,693 756,732
2,813,491 1,748,517
Company
FIN/NE|
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET T ARBT T
Financial liabilities TRAE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost RBHEKATTEZESREAR
Financial liabilities included in ST A M RER TR &
other payables and accruals EirERNSRERE 21,920 30,078
Interest-bearing bank borrowings sHERITIER 1,975,504 2,005,680
1,997,424 2,035,758
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CONSOLDATED 38. Fair value and fair value hierarchy of financial . ERMTANAFERATE

STATEMENT OF instruments E&/

CASH FLOWS

GAHSRER . — _

B The carrying amounts of the above financial assets and RBEBRR UEemEERSRE
financial liabilities approximate to their respective fair BEMNREES FIEEATERE -

values as at the end of the reporting period.

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s rEBESRMIANEEERATE
financial instruments are as follows: NN
STATEMENT Group REM
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION § :
B YRR Carrying amounts Fair values
BREE AFE
2013 2012 2013 2012

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT AR®TR ARETRT

Financial liabilities cRaE
Financial liabilities included I A E fh fE 5 %
in other payables and FEETFIEHY
rFJI?ITAENs L[\JL accruals =L 89,839 3,563 89,839 3,563
STATE,?"ENTS Interest-bearing bank and FTRIRTT REABIER
BB RR M other borrowings 2,091,852 2,420,924 2,091,852 2,420,924
Other liabilities HihBE 12,880 = 12,880 -
2,194,571 2,424,487 2,194,571 2,424,487
Company YN
Carrying amounts Fair values
FIVE-YEAR REE AFE
?LTI\A/I,I:I/I(XQJ; 2013 2012 2013 2012
R HE RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARETRT ARETR ARETT
Financial liabilities cRaE
Interest-bearing bank FTERITER
borrowings 1,975,504 2,005,680 1,975,504 2,005,680
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38. Fair value and fair value hierarchy of financial

instruments (continued)

Management has assessed that the fair values of financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals and other
liabilities approximate to their carrying amounts largely due
to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged
in a current transaction between willing parties, other than
in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings have been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities. The Group’s own non-performance risk for
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as at 31
December 2013 was assessed to be insignificant.

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:
Group

As at 31 December 2013

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2013 ,E\Zl'i%ﬁilzﬁi

2013%12H31H

. ETHMITANAFERQFE

& (&)

REBRENE  sFARMENRRE
EAtHEEAREMBENERAE
MRFEREEREERS  £2R
HRZEFTARNEHARH -

ERMABNAFENDKREBRRXS S
ERAORS GFRExBFRHE)
PRGZTANSEAR - ATH
A RBRRAEEFTAFE

ATERITREMERNAFEETS
BFAEEAMER - EERR
MHTEMPEEN T AT EEL
RBHPARBEREAESH - R
2013%F12A318 » KEBAGHE
BIRTT R H A 508 49 R B 1 5T
BTERK °

DNFEER

TREAASESH T ANRFE

AEER
ERELFEHERE
AEE

Ro2013F12H31H

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
FAESRER

Fair value measurement using

ERANTRRETAVERE

Quoted
prices  Significant Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
WER EATBR EATITHE
TISNRE WARE WAYE
(8—) (B=4) (B=H) #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTR AR¥TR AR%®TR AR%TR
Financial liabilities included in SIAE A FEAT 2 R T
other payables and accruals FHEMCREE - - 89,839 89,839
Interest-bearing bank and ERITREMER
other borrowings - - 2,091,852 2,091,852
Other liabilities HitgE - - 12,880 12,880
- - 2,194,571 2,194,571
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CONSOLDATED 38. Fair value and fair value hierarchy of financial 3. EMTANAFERAFE

STATEMENT OF instruments (continued) E4% (&)

CASH FLOWS

BARARER . ) . _
Fair value hierarchy (continued) ATEER (F)
Group (continued) AEE ()
As at 31 December 2012 R2012F12H31H

Fair value measurement using

STATEMENT FRNTSIEETATEME
e Qoes
RS R prices  Significant  Significant
inactive  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

WER  EBEAUEE BEATAUEE
iR HR{E BARE BAE

(B—&) (F=&) (B=4) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
NOTES TO AREBTT ARETT AR%®TT ARETR
CTATEMENTS Financial liabilities included in 51 AL BEAT X R s
PHISRR R other payables and accruals DENEREE - - 3,563 89,839
Interest-bearing bank and SHERITREMER
other borrowings - - 2,420,924 2,420,924
- - 2424487 2424487
Company AAT
FVEVEAR As at 31 December 2013 R2013F 12H31H
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY ) :
AR RS Fair value measurement using
ERUTSEETATEE
Quoted
prices  Significant  Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RER EATHRE EATATHE
TIHHNHRE BABE WAYE
(8—4) (B=4) (B=%) #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR¥BTRT AR%TR AR%Tx
Interest-bearing bank borrowings & EETTREMER - - 1,975,504 1,975,504
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38.

39.

Fair value and fair value hierarchy of financial
instruments (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Company (continued)

As at 31 December 2012

Notes to Financial Statements
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2013%12H31H

. ETHMITANAFERQFE

F& (&)
DEEER (&)
ESNCNE )

Ro012F12H31H

Fair value measurement using
ERAATSBETAVENE

Quoted
prices

in active
markets
(Level 1)
B
T5MRE
(E—8)
RMB'000

Significant Significant
observable unobservable

inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BAAHE BEATAHE
BAZUR WABE
(B=R) (B=#) st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARETR

ARETFT
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 5T B IRITRE MG -

- 2,005,680 2,005,680

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, price risk,
and cash flow and fair value interest rate risks), credit risk,
and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management
program focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign currency risk

The Company and most of its subsidiaries’
functional currency is RMB since the majority of
the revenues of the subsidiaries are derived from
operations in Mainland China. Foreign exchange
risk arises from future commercial transactions of
limited purchases from overseas and recognised
assets or liabilities, such as cash and cash
equivalents (Note 22) and bank borrowings (Note
26), which are denominated in USD and HKD.

9. I EMEEBRFERBEK

E I SES
AEENEHEAEEEETE
MR misRR (BENER
% ERRER RERERAFE
MERER)  FERRIERSHEZE
R ARENERRAREEFEE
RREETISE A TRRNE - W
RE KR E R ES AR B ER
BMEBEETNEE

(a) WAL
(i) HNERBE

KA REZEHEB QA
MINEEEBEARYE - B
BZEWBRARZKS
AR B AR 5
%o INERBIKEBRE
RIEINRIB R R ER
FREERHNEEXE
& - AR T KRB TEHE
MIAeRIASEFEY (W
F122) RIRITE K (KT 5E
26) °
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39. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2013, if RMB had
strengthened/weakened by 5% against USD
with all other variables held constant, the profit
for the year for each of the years would have
changed mainly as a result of foreign exchange
gains/losses on the translation of cash and cash
equivalents and borrowings denominated in USD
and HKD. Details of the changes are as follows:

V.V BEBEEERERBE

(&)

MBEBEE (&)
(a) THER (&)

(i)

shE R ()
20135124318 » fis i
BHMEBHRIFTE
ARMBEEETAE, T
{E5% * BHFEE S FEN
MESSAMNE &
EHRRBENETRET
FENBRESRREEEY
RiEROER Ws/E
18- BEHBNT

2013 2012

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBFT

Profit for the year increase/(decrease) 4FEREEMN,CF)

— Strengthened by 5% — FHBE5% (14,673) (9,967)

— Weakened by 5% — 87 1B5% 14,673 9,967

Price risk (i) EREE

Tinplate and aluminium are the major raw EOEME S AERESE

materials of the Group. The price for tinplate
and aluminium may be affected by market
demand and supply, domestic government
policy and other economic conditions. In order
to maintain a continued production cycle, the
Group has a policy of maintaining a certain
level of tinplate and aluminium inventories. The
level of the Group’s tinplate and aluminium
inventories will depend on orders on hand, the
price of tinplate and aluminium in the market and
the perceived future trend of the tinplate and
aluminium price. To partially minimise the Group’s
market price risk exposure, the Group enters
into commodity futures contracts of aluminium.
In selecting suppliers, the Group usually takes
into consideration the price and quality of the
tinplate and aluminium. The directors believe it
is not necessary for the Group to enter into any
long-term supply contracts with its suppliers to
ensure stable material prices as there are various
sources of tinplate and aluminium and the Group
has not experienced any difficulties in securing
a steady source of high quality tinplate and
aluminium.

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A7)
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BAHNEHE  AEEHT
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39. Financial risk management objectives and 0. ¥ KEREEEBREREE
policies (continued) (%)
Financial risk factors (continued) MEEBEE (F)
(a) Market risk (continued) (a) THER (; fﬁ)
(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks (i) HEeEmERQFEF =
[E\B&

Except for bank deposits with stable interest
rates, the Group has no other significant
interest-bearing assets. The Group’s income
and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s interest-rate risk mainly arises from
borrowings. Borrowings obtained at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk.
Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest-rate risk. The Group
has not hedged its cash flow and fair value
interest rate risks. The interest rates and terms of
repayments of bank borrowings are disclosed in
Note 26.

Management does not anticipate significant
impact on interest-bearing assets resulting
from the changes in interest rates, because the
interest rates of bank deposits are not expected
to change significantly.

As at 31 December 2013, if interest rates on bank
borrowings had been 25 basis points higher/
lower with all other variable held constant, the
profit for the year for each of the years would
have changed mainly as a result of higher/lower
interest expenses on floating rate borrowings.
Details of the changes are as follows:

fREBREMEMNIRITE
I - ANEE W EE AT
MEKRFEEE - A&H
ZWARBREREREE
BR b0 AR5 A R

=2

AEENNERABREER
QfElT)\ /;_1 RLARE
BEZREESRENNER
% o BB R AL B R
XATFEMERR - K&
BUERERESRENLA
B ) 2 3 B o 1T (AT
oo RITERFERER
HAPABH S 264K B o

AR T B FI K T 3
TEAEED  TEEE
BFEN BB TR S
BEEABAVE -

20135 12A318 » i T
BHMESREFTEMIR
TEEMEEFA TR
O5EIE R, - RN EE BfE
A F B R 1R
%ﬁ%ﬁiﬁﬂiﬂﬂﬂj
CHLEEH BEFFES
s

Increase/
(decrease)
in basis
points
EEgm,/
ORt)

Group
REH
Increase/
(decrease) Increase/
in profit  (decrease)
after tax in equity”
R 12 F1 8 T

m,/CRd) #m,/ Cad)

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETRT

Year ended 31 December EHZ=2013%F

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
ATRSRER

2013 12A31HILFE 25 (1,910) -
Year ended 31 December [ E20124F

2012 128318 ILFE 25 (1,911) =
Year ended 31 December  #ZE20134F

2013 12A31HIEFE (25) 1,910 -
Year ended 31 December EHZz=2012%

2012 12A31HILFE (25) 1,911 -
*  Excluding retained profits * NEERENHE
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39. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk
Except for the sales to the five largest customers
of the Group as detailed in Note 4 to the financial
statements, the Group has no other significant
concentrations of credit risk. The carrying amounts of
pledged bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents,
trade and bills receivables and other receivables
included in the consolidated financial statements
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk in relation to its financial assets.

(i)

Deposits with banks

As at 31 December 2013 and 2012, all pledged
bank deposits and bank balances were
deposited with licensed financial institutions
without significant credit risk. Management does
not expect any losses from non-performance of
these counterparties.

Trade receivables

Management assesses the credit risk of
customers by taking into account their financial
position and past experience. The Group has put
in place policies to ensure that sales of products
are made to customers with an appropriate credit
history and the Group performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers.

For those key customers with a long-term
relationship, on some occasions the Group
offered credit terms up to 90 days. The granting
or extension of any credit period must be
approved by senior management of the Group.

An allowance has been made for estimated
irrecoverable amounts from the sales of goods,
which has been determined by reference to past
default experience and objective evidence of
impairment such as an analysis of the particular
customers and their financial condition and the
ages of the trade receivables.

The carrying amount of trade and other
receivables included in the statement of financial
position represents the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets. The directors are of the opinion that
adequate provision for uncollectible trade and
other receivables has been made in the financial
statements.
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39. Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management includes
maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents, the
availability of funds through adequate amounts of
committed credit facilities and the ability to close out
market positions.

Except for non-current interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and other liabilities, all the Group’s and
the Company'’s other financial liabilities will be settled
within one year or on demand based on the remaining
contractual maturity date at the end of the reporting
period and their contractual undiscounted payment
amounts are disclosed in Note 37 to the financial
statements.

The maturity profile of the Group’s non-current bank
borrowings as at the end of the reporting period,
based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is
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PgEBEERE ()

(c) nEEZER
BRENRBESRREEBRE
HBERHANBESNEESE
Y BRETRBARMHCARKE
EREBEENRFAPRES
KERETIZHET ZEN

BIEmEET B RTT R EME R
FEMEBEN  BEBEREHR
M TR HEOHRAE K
EBRARBEMAEMBEE
BEER—FRARIZEREE -
mABAE % RN ZENRE
TERARMIFEI7TIHEE ©

RIFEHARBBNRE A&
50 ¥ 5 B R B SRR B IR TT (5
REBEBERAT -

as follows:
6 to
Less than less than 1to5
6 months 12 months years Total
DR 6EA = 168
6/@A SM2MEA 5% Gl
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTFT AREBTT ARETT ARETET
2013 20135
Group REE
Interest-bearing bank ETEERTT
borrowings B 2,625 2,625 7,920 13,170
Other liabilities Hta s 1,727 - 11,153 12,880
4,352 2,625 19,073 26,050
2012 20124
Group ERE
Interest-bearing bank T EERTT
borrowings &K 5,467 5,467 822,381 833,315
Capital management EARERE

The Group’s objectives for managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt. The Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2013 and 31 December 2012.

AEBEEREANBHRREARE
HOERAR S EMERRTE AR
Mk W EERFREENGER IR

BHEESAEEANEE  KEET
AEEBELMREHEEE - [k
HBEBEEAR BIFRHILEE
ENRVEE - AEETRZET
A 9NRE AR EBR #l| - B Z=20134F
12A318 &20129F 128318 Ik &£
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CONSOLIDATED 39. Financial risk management objectives and 0. HKEREEEREREE

STATEMENT OF policies (continued) (&)

CASH FLOWS

BARSRER _ _ e (g
Capital management (continued) EXER (F)
Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors HMERNHEMAT K AEEIRE
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is BARBELEEZEHER - ZHE
calculated as net borrowings divided by total equity TR ERFRERURNRARIRAEE
attributable to equity holders of the Company, in which the ANELERERE - HPERFE
net borrowings are calculated as total borrowings less cash RIEFRBERERSHRSEEY -

and cash equivalents.

STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL The Group’s strategy is to maintain a healthy gearing ratio. AEBvRBAKEEAGBHL R4
postTion The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods FREEKT - RIERRCEE
BIEIR &
were as follows: BELENT :
2013 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREFT
Total interest-bearing bank and other STEIRIT R EAM
borrowings (Note 26) e 4esE (M15126) 2,091,852 2,420,924
NOTES T0 Less: Cash and cash equivalents B BeRRSEEY
gmﬁé\ﬁrs (Note 22) (MI3E22) (987,382) (1,677,297)
S RRME Net borrowings fBEFEE 1,104,470 743,627
Total equity attributable to equity RATRAFFE A
holders of the Company JE(G Rz 3,870,362 3,550,396
Gearing ratio EEBELE 29% 21%
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40.

41.

42,

Events After the Reporting Period

With effect from 17 March 2014, Mr. Shi Wanpeng resigned
as an independent non-executive Director and Mr. Andrew
Y. Yan was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on the same day.

Comparative Amounts

As further explained in note 2.2 to the financial statements,
due to the adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs during
the current year, the presentation of certain items and
balances in the financial statements have been revised to
comply with the new requirements. In addition, the directors
of the Company have adjusted business classification on
the operating segment information in note 4. Accordingly,
the corresponding comparative amounts have been
restated to conform with the current year’s presentation.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
reclassification resulted in a more appropriate presentation
of the Group’s operating results.

Approval of the financial statements

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2014,
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FAEERER

Five-Year Financial Summary
LFEHBHE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the published audited consolidated
financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is

AEBEBERTBAYRFREZEERE
E BEAFTEEEEMENEZAE
Tz 2 EEREEMBRRLLES
EFOBR(MER) BFEARHERNT

as below: Xt
Year ended 31 December
HEZ12A31ALLEE
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
STATEMENT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
A Revenue WA 5257482 5045962 4342277 3416691 3,066,145
YHSRRE Cost of sales SHE AR (4,314,924) (4,202,510) (3,647,944) (2,890,984) (2,601,081)
Gross profit ER 942,558 843452 694,333 525707 465,064
Other income and gain H b Y A K g
- net — 38 96,558 86,759 90,835 81,100 12,145
Selling and marketing expenses  $4% K44 E (231,061)  (204,694) (181,191)  (140,959) (117,832)
Administrative expenses THE A (264,334) (241,854) (209,812)  (162,115)  (143,533)
Finance costs HBER (43,454)  (45973)  (31,150)  (17,532)  (34,593)
NOTEST) Profit before income tax BR FiT 1S 8¢ 50 78 500,267 437,690 363015 286201 181,251
FINANCIAL Income tax expense FTERA> (108,355)  (105,131)  (77,222)  (67,882)  (27,410)
STATEMENTS
SEREN T Profit for the year FEFB 391,912 332559 285793 218319 153,841
Attributable to: FE1h
Equity holders of the Company ~ ZRAFIIRAEE A 386,121 322,681 280,298 212,273 146,873
Non-controlling interests R 5,791 9,878 5,495 6,046 6,968
391,912 332559 285793 218,319 153,841
Assets, liabilities and EE 2N
non-controlling interests FEERER
FIVE-YEAR Total assets BEE 7133,595 6,919,048 6,022,585 3,952,266 3,669,156
gmmx Total liabilities BAE (3,163,777) (3,267,376) (3,384,220) (1,551,116) (1,436,065)
EEHBHE Non-controlling interests ks (99,456) (101,276)  (84,052)  (78,557)  (72,511)
3,870,362 3,550,396 2,554,313 2,322,593 2,160,580
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